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Software AG is the global technology leader in business process excellence. Our 40 years of innovation 
include the invention of the first high-performance transactional database, Adabas; the first business 
process analysis platform, ARIS; and the first B2B server and SOA-based integration platform, webMethods.

We are unique in offering the world’s only end-to-end—and easiest to use—business process manage-
ment (BPM) solutions, with the lowest total-cost-of-ownership. Our industry-leading brands, ARIS, 
webMethods, Adabas, Natural and IDS Scheer Consulting, represent a unique portfolio for: process 
strategy, design, integration and control; SOA-based integration and data management; process-driven 
SAP implementation; and strategic process consulting and services.

MISSION

AChIeveMeNtS

1
number 1 in  
business process excellence

€ 847.4 mn.
total revenue

6,013
employees worldwide

€ 2.19 bn.
market value of software aG

25.8 %
eBiT margin

10,000
customers in a variety of sectors all 
over the world rely on software aG 
technology
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Year-end closing price (Xetra) in €

Year high in €

Year low in €

Number of shares at year end

Market capitalization at year end in € million

Dividend per share in €

Earnings per share in €

Price/earnings ratio at year end

Operating cash flow per share at year end in €

 

2009 

IFrS

76.40

77.77

34.78

28,708,410

2,193.3

1.15

4.92

15.5

6.98

 

2006 

IFrS

59.74

59.89

37.43

28,112,715

1,679.5

0.90

2.60

23.0

2.18

2007 

IFrS

60.57

77.20

50.12

28,539,455

1,728.6

1.00

3.11

19.5

3.29

2008 

IFrS

40.00

60.37

29.50

28,638,842

1,145.6

1.10

4.05

9.9

4.89

Key FIgureS on December 31, 2009 
IFrS, unaudited

€ million 

(unless otherwise stated)

revenue

 Product revenue 

  of which

  Licenses

  Maintenance

 Professional Services

 Other

eBIt

 as % of revenue

Net income

 as % of revenue

Earnings per share (€ basic)

Earnings per share (€ diluted)

total assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Shareholders‘ equity

 as % of total assets

employees *

 of which in Germany

 

Q4 2009 

292.1

181.1

98.7

82.4

109.0

2.0

79.4

27.2

48.1

16.0

1.65

1.65

 

2009 

847.4

580.5

269.9

310.6

262.5

4.4

218.2

25.8

140.8

17.0

4.92

4.91

1,652.5

218.1

647.5

39.0

6,013

2,149

 

change 

in %

38
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130

44.6

36.6

34
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change 

in %

18

8

– 1

16

48

20.9

21.5

21
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Q4 2008 

212.4

163.2

87.5

75.7

47.3

1.9

54.9

25.8

35.2

17.0

1.23

1.23

2008 

720.6

539.1

272.0

267.1

177.8

3.7

180.5

25.1

115.9

16.0

4.05

4.04

1,060.0

96.9

549.1

52.0

3,526

772

Key FIGuReS 2009

Frankfurt (Prime Standard/tecDAX), ISIN De 0003304002
* Full-time equivalents



Business Process excellence

  BuSINeSS lINeS     ReveNue SeGMeNtS     PRODuCtS

enterprise Transaction systems enterprise Process innovationwebMethods

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 &
 L

ic
en

se
s

se
rv

ic
es

BuSINeSS MODel

 Adabas 
 Adabas SQl Gateway
 Adabas SOA Gateway
 event Replicator
 Adabas Manager
 Natural
 Natural for Ajax
 Natural Business Services
 Natural SQl Gateway
 Natural for eclipse
 Natural engineer

Modules of aris Platform
 ARIS Strategy Platform
 ARIS Design Platform
 ARIS Implementation Platform
 ARIS Controlling Platform

webMethods suite
 Application Modernization
  Business Activity Monitoring (BAM)
  Business Process  
Management (BPM)

  Business-to-Business Integration
 Composite Applications
 enterprise Service Bus (eSB)
  Service-Oriented  
Architecture (SOA)

  XMl Data Management (tamino)
  entireX

centrasite
  Service and Process Governance
 ActiveSOA

Global consulting services Global consulting services iDs scheer consulting
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letteR tO ShARehOlDeRS

2009 was a successful and very eventful fiscal year for Software AG. 
We laid the foundation for our future. Above all, I’m referring to our 
acquisition of IDS Scheer AG, which has added a whole new dimension 
to our value chain, market reach, and company size. Joining forces 
with IDS Scheer has created a vendor-neutral, global market leader in 
business process excellence with over one billion euros in expected 
annual revenues and a staff comprised of more than 6,000 employees. 

recorD resuLTs aGain in 2009
Despite a challenging economic climate, we achieved 18 percent 
growth in Group revenue, totaling €847 million, while operating 
earnings (eBIt) improved 21 percent to hit €218 million. this record-
breaking result confirms that we are growing profitably. 

Our success benefits all those involved in our business: employees, 
customers, and investors. We secured jobs. We invested in research 
and development to expand our leading technology portfolio. And,  
we became more profitable. 

recoGniTion For our innovaTive ProDucTs
As a leading software company worldwide, Software AG considers in- 
novation to be of pivotal importance to our growth strategy. We there- 
fore maintained a stable level of investments in 2009. this paid off. It 
analysts again recognized our existing products as leaders. We also 
launched new products in 2009, further expanding our portfolios in 
the etS and webMethods business divisions. In addition to our take- 
over of IDS Scheer AG, we also increased our technological strength 
with the acquisitions of itCampus of leipzig and Swiss software com-
pany teconomic. 
 
acquisiTion oF iDs scheer aG
Our takeover of IDS Scheer AG in 2009 marked a further large-scale 
acquisition for us. Customers and market observers alike deemed the 
merger a strategic match for both companies, which are top-class in 
their respective markets. 

the merger was welcomed in the financial world as well. Our positive 
fourth-quarter and full-year financial results for 2009 had a convincing 
impact. We proved that we are capable of achieving a good eBIt margin 
even after integration of IDS Scheer.

IDS Scheer AG is a perfect fit for our company. Software AG’s strong 
points—technological leadership in middleware products, financial 
strength, and a global presence—are complemented by those of IDS 
Scheer. In particular I’d like to emphasize IDS Scheer’s impressive 
consulting presence with 7,500 customers, its extensive industry 
expertise, and its strong position in SAP consulting. you can read 
more about the reasons for our takeover, IDS Scheer AG, and our 
plans for working together in the future on pages 14–17 of this  
annual report. 

GraTeFuL To eMPLoyees
I would like to express my gratitude to our dedicated, qualified, and 
highly motivated employees. thanks to them, Software AG was 
successful in an extremely challenging period. Our last annual report 
was dedicated to the subject of Corporate Social Responsibility. It 
documented the following: We believe in success by doing business 
in a sustainable way. For this reason, we continued investing in the 
qualification of our employees in spite of a rigid savings plan imple-
mented early in 2009.

conTinueD ProFiTaBLe GrowTh
We will continue doing everything in our power to keep Software AG 
on a profitable growth path. We expect to achieve the revenue target 
of one billion euros we had set for 2011 in the current 2010 fiscal 
year. Now we must continue increasing company value in a sustainable 
manner. Our primary focus this year will be successfully completing 
integration of IDS Scheer. With our track record of successful integration 
of acquired companies, for example, webMethods and others, we con- 
sider ourselves to be well prepared. 

We are an internationally leading software company, a technology 
leader with solid growth. We are at the top of the list in our industry  
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when it comes to how customers rank us and how existing and new 
employees value us as an employer. 

the combination of IDS Scheer’s and Software AG’s two successful 
business models should lead to an increase in operating earnings  
per share as early as 2010.

recorD share Price 
Capital markets also gave their seal of approval on our efforts and 
recognized the significance of our strategic focus through the acqui- 
sition of IDS Scheer AG. Our share price almost doubled last year, 
reaching a five-year high in December 2009. 

esteemed shareholders, despite our large investment in securing the 
future of our Company, we also want you to be a participant in the 
development of Software AG. the executive and Supervisory Boards 
will therefore propose a dividend of €1.15 per share at the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting. 

thank you for your trust. 

yours sincerely, 

Karl-heinz Streibich
Chief executive Officer
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the eXeCutIve BOARD

Karl-heinz streibich chief executive officer (ceo)
Member of the executive Board since 2003
Born in 1952; Karl-heinz Streibich is responsible for Global  
Marketing, human Resources, legal, Internal Audit, Processes,  
Corporate  Communicatons and Partners.

arnd Zinnhardt chief Financial officer (cFo)
Member of the executive Board since 2002
Born in 1962; Arnd Zinnhardt is responsible for Finance and treasury, 
Controlling, Business Operations, taxes, Global Purchasing,  
Investor Relations, Mergers and Acquisitions, Global It, Support  
and Administration. 

David Broadbent chief operating officer (coo) 
region east
Member of the executive Board since 2007
Born in 1960; David Broadbent is Chief Operating Officer and 
 responsible for both business divisions, etS and webMethods,  
Region east (Asia/Pacific, Nordic, Central europe, South Africa).
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Mark edwards chief operating officer (coo) 
region west 
Member of the executive Board since 2003
Born in 1956; Mark edwards is Chief Operating Officer and 
responsible for both business divisions, etS and webMethods, 
Region West (North America, latin America, Northern/Wes-
tern/Southern europe).

ivo Totev chief services officer (cso)
Member of the executive Board since 2009
Born in 1967; Ivo totev is responsible for the Global  
Consulting Services business unit worldwide with a focus  
on It transformation.

Dr. Peter Kürpick chief Product officer (cPo)
Member of the executive Board since 2005
Born in 1966; Dr. Peter Kürpick is responsible for Research & 
Development in both business divisions, etS and webMethods.
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in € million

2006 2007 2008 2009

cash flow

56 82

+46%

188

+41%

133

+62%

+236%

revenue

483 621

+29%

721

+16%

847

+18% +75%

net income

141

+22%

116

+32%

+93%

73

+21%

88

ProFiTaBLe GrowTh
even during a global financial and economic recession, Software AG was  
able to maintain its profitable growth. In 2009 revenue grew 18 percent, 
net income 22 percent, and cash flow 41 percent year on year. 

ThrouGh The crisis wiTh ProFiTaBLe GrowTh

the foundation of this unique success is a long-term corporate strategy, 
whose consistent implementation and further development progressed 
significantly in the year under review. A result of the strategy was our 
robust business model that allowed Software AG to grow profitably 
in a global recession as was the case in 2009. 
 
roBusT Business MoDeL

   Our business-oriented software solutions control the core pro-
cesses of our enterprise customers, thereby safeguarding their 
business operations.

   As long as these business processes exist, our software will be 
needed—even if a company is taken over by another. 

   Maintenance and a large percentage of service and license fees 
represent continuous sources of income and account for a large 
portion of our earnings. 

   From a customer standpoint, these fees are recurring operating 
costs and therefore less vulnerable to economic conditions than 
investment spending, which is typically reduced in times of crisis. 

In 2009 a further milestone toward the long-term securing of our 
Company was met. In the past Software AG had been a specialized 
provider of infrastructure software for business processes worldwide. 
this included modernization, automation, and optimization of enter-
prise customers’ existing It systems and processes. the acquisition of 
IDS Scheer expanded our strategic focus during the course of the year: 
from provider of infrastructure to provider of software solutions for 
business process excellence.

the acquisition of IDS Scheer takes Software AG to a new dimension 
with respect to value chain, market access, company size, and market 

StRAteGy

Software AG wrote yet another chapter in its story of success in the same year it celebrated its 
40th anniversary. Our record-breaking financial results join an impressive lineup. In the past four 
years, revenue has increased at a rate of 75 percent; net income has risen by 93 percent; cash 
flow has improved by 236 percent to total €188 million; and, the number of employees has more 
than doubled to total 6,013. 
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position. By joining forces with IDS Scheer, we became global tech-
nology leader in business process excellence, with over one billion 
euros in expected annual revenue and more than 6,000 employees. 

Mission
It is our long-term goal to become one of the leading providers of 
enterprise software in the world, whose technologies and expertise 
drive efficient processes in industry and society.

Our vision is that our technologies and expertise contribute to solving 
central problems in society. For example: 

  Improved standard of living and productivity through innovation 
based on enterprise software 

  Improved security in banking and financial sector enabled by 
software-driven transparency and controllability through digital 
processes 

  Improved healthcare enabled by secure, efficient connectivity 
between medical care facilities 

  Reduced CO2 emissions with software-driven, intelligent energy 
grids and resource optimization based on digital processes

  Modernized state-run offices with efficient services for citizens and 
companies with intelligent internal administrative processes 

vision
In order to achieve this, we want to become market and technology 
leader in multiple enterprise software market segments. At present 
we are the technology leader in process optimization and It-based 
process implementation. here we aim to become the market leader 
in various segments by increasing our market share through a dedi-
cated growth strategy. 

Secondly, we want to expand our role as an innovation partner to 
customers. Our customers are companies and public institutions that 
want to realize efficiency boosts and benefits through digitization of 
their business models or organizational structures and optimization of 
their processes. 

We are convinced that process innovation will become equally as 
important to our customers as product innovation. vendors in many 

sectors do not differentiate themselves by their products. But rather 
process excellence plays the decisive role in gaining a competitive 
edge in all industries. 

We estimate that the process innovation market will be larger than the 
eRP (enterprise resource planning) market is today. Repositioning 
ourselves in the process optimization space opens up great growth 
potential and thus excellent prospects for the future. Our role will reach 
from that of project partner to strategic process innovation partner. 
Optimization of core processes is not a product, but rather a system, 
which requiers a systems partner like Software AG. 

thirdly, we want to focus our software solutions and consulting on 
the realization of process innovation. this means that our It solutions 
make companies and public institutions flexible enough to react to 
changing requirements. We are specialized in bridging existing It silos 
and creating end-to-end processes on agile It systems. Our technology 
will thus remain platform-independent, easy to use and fast to imple- 
ment (ease of use). Innovation must be cost-effective. For this reason, 
we develop software solutions that significantly improve our customers’ 
operational business and provide them with these improvements as 
inexpensively as possible. to achieve this, low implementation and 
operating costs are essential. 

We apply our experience with customers and the market to all new 
software developments (customer-centric innovation). Our goal is to 
be ranked at the top by industry analysts for each one of our products, 
because this type of reference distinguishes us as an innovation 
partner for our customers. 

We intend to keep the strategic focus of our product portfolio 
on horizontal, cross-industry software. We rely on the assistance of 
systems integrators and technology and sales partners to transform 
our products into vertical (industry-specific) software solutions. With 
respect to consulting, we are establishing new and expanding exis-
ting industry expertise which has become significantly stronger with 
the addition of the IDS Scheer consulting business. 
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customer Loyality

Phase 1  
Turnaround

Margin improvement

strategy & Portfolio

Develop hr & Processes

customer-centric innovation

Process excellence

Partner-Driven Growth

M&a Portfolio expansion

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

€ 411 mn

> € 1 bn

image-Driven Growth

Mergers & acquisitions

strategic Partners

Geographic expansion

Phase 2  
Growth

Phase 3  
Market Leadership

We stand out from the competition because of our technologically 
leading process optimization product offering and the technologi-
cal independence of our solutions, which means freedom for our 
customers. the ease and speed with which we develop new concepts 
and implement It solutions, our 40-plus years of experience with 
business-oriented software, and our financial stability due to our anchor 
investor, Software AG Foundation, make us a strong, trustworthy 
partner for our customers.

GrowTh PaTh 
Our Company is following a path of sustainable growth. Success is the 
prerequisite for growth. Furthermore, customers demand a successful 
 technology partner. Growing, stable companies are attractive to cus- 
tomers, partners, employees, and investors. One look at the market 
shows that the trend in the software market is one of consolidation. 
Software AG therefore believes that successful software companies 
must realize size advantages through organic growth and acquisitions.

Our sustainable corporate growth consists of customer orientation, 
in-house research and development, close cooperation with partners, 
personal development for employees, and social responsibility. We 
want to become bigger and better all the time. 

oPeraTionaL iMPLeMenTaTion
Software AG has been implementing a clear and long-term strategy 
since 2003. this strategy has led the Company from a difficult economic 
position to growth. the period between 2009 and 2011 is our “market 
leadership” phase, which will culminate in the achievement of our 
revenue target of one billion euros combined with dynamic earnings 
growth. the following four growth-driving concepts will enable this: 

1. Customer-centric innovation 
2. Process excellence
3. Partner-driven growth
4. M&A portfolio expansion 

soFTware aG has a cLear coMPany sTraTeGy To achieve €1 BiLLion in revenue (Ten-year PLan excerPT)
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these growth engines represent the four pillars of our growth strate-
gy. each of them generates additional revenue from a different area. 
they complement each other’s strengths and compensate for each 
other’s risks. the result is a sound, innovative, and successful company 
whose organic growth is supplemented with external growth at the 
same time. All four growth engines were expanded and contributed to 
overall growth in 2009. 

1. cusToMer-cenTric innovaTion
Innovation is our core business and includes ongoing development 
of our portfolio. As a highly customer-oriented innovation leader, 
ongoing enhancement and expansion of our offering is essential. up 
to now Software AG has always been known as a product provider 
that has developed its own software products and solutions for more 
than 40 years. this approach continuously provides customers with 
the market’s best technology and direct service. Customers are thus 
eager to invest in new projects and maintenance agreements. Our 
Company generates stable income and margins, thereby safeguard-
ing its long-term future. Customers’ It investments are protected. 

the year 2009 showed how important maintenance business is to 
software companies. Customers look for two critical factors before 
signing maintenance agreements: optimal support and ongoing pro-
duct innovation (new products). We accomplished this in 2009 with 
webMethods 8, and in etS, with our new Discovery edition for Natural 
and Mainframe edition for Optimize for Infrastructure. 

New products, which will drive future growth, were a focal point of 
2009 in addition to further developments.

At CeBIt 2009 we presented our new AlignSpace Community. this 
product creates a bridge between social communities and business 
process management (BPM). AlignSpace is the first social network 
for BPM experts. It links public, collaborative software platforms with 
company-internal development platforms. We integrated this product 
with ARIS and introduced it at Cebit 2010 as ARISalign.

various new products in 2009 were ranked number-one among  
the competition by top industry analysts. Software AG customers  
continue to receive one of the best offerings in the market, as of  
this year, in business process management, SOA governance, and  
enterprise service bus. 

Our role as an innovation leader naturally had a positive impact on 
our growth. Software AG occupied first place in the SOA governance 
market with a share of about 14 percent, leaving the second-place 
competitor almost three points behind.

Software AG’s two technology acquisitions in 2009 also contributed 
to our innovation potential. the first was research-oriented software 
company itCampus of leipzig, and the second was Swiss software 
firm teconomic, specialist in It solutions and services for the european 
financial sector. 

A further strategic component of customer-centric innovation are 
development partnerships. In the year under review Software AG, SAP, 
and other partners from German industry and academia launched a 
research project entitled the Alliance for the Digital Flow of Goods 
(ADiWa). With the help of BPM and RFID, they will investigate the use 
of intelligent business processes in the Internet of things. 

Because of the strategic importance of innovation to our Company’s 
growth strategy, corporate R&D investment remained a top priority  
despite a stringent savings plan as part of our Crisis Response Pro- 
gram 2009. R&D and training were not targets of our cost-cutting 
efforts. 

2. Process exceLLence 
Our second growth engine, process excellence, encompasses both the 
development of innovative products and solutions for customers, but 
also use of them for our internal processes. We continued to digitize 
Software AG based on our own product portfolio in 2009. Optimized, 
automated processes for central contract approval and personnel 
administration based on SOA, BPM, and webMethods solutions contri-
buted to achieving Software AG 2.0. 
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3. ParTner-Driven GrowTh  
Our partner business—the third growth engine in Software AG’s 
corporate strategy—also evolved positively, contributing to growth 
in 2009. Our network of partners, consisting of systems integrators, 
OeMs, and independent software vendors, sustainably bolstered 
business particularly in the webMethods product line. Our partners 
had a positive effect on Software AG’s revenue from webMethods 
licenses in 2009 contributing more than 30 percent. this represents a 
24 percent increase over 2008. Ninety percent of webMethods license 
revenue through partners were new projects with new or existing 
customers. vertical-industry expertise plays an important role in our 
successful partner business. Our partners’ industry-specific know-
how is directed at the following four sectors: public sector, financial, 
telecommunications, and manufacturing. 

4. M&a PorTFoLio exPansion
Our takeover bid for software company IDS Scheer AG of Saarbrücken, 
Germany was the focal point of our Company’s strategic development 
and future-securing activities in 2009. Merging with IDS Scheer created 
a global player in business process excellence. (Refer to the Special 
Section on IDS Scheer AG takeover, p.14.) 

From a strategic perspective the acquisition means an extended value 
chain and a broader market reach. 

(1) extended value chain 
through the acquisition of IDS Scheer, Software AG has gained new 
expertise in the analysis, design, and monitoring of business proces-
ses. In the past, Software AG’s strengths lay in the implementation 
of digital business processes. Now our offering has been enriched to 
encompass prior modeling of optimal processes. For example, the IDS 
Scheer ARIS product line enables existing business processes to be 
analyzed and modeled to subsequently be translated into It-driven 
processes. With ARIS process flows can be developed and modeled. 
the webMethods Suite translates and implements them. In other 
words, ARIS and webMethods are perfect complements to each other. 

Software AG’s existing product portfolio has been expanded to cover 
the entire value chain: a one-of-a-kind product portfolio in the global 
market. For the first time, Software AG provides a comprehensive 
business process optimization offering: analysis, modeling, design, 
and implementation of It-driven business processes as well as 
real-time control and monitoring. Further confirmation of this ideal 
combination is the fact that industry analysts have described the IDS 
Scheer portfolio as “leading” for market segments in which Software 
AG previously was not active. thanks to IDS Scheer, Software AG will 
win new market segments such as business process analysis (BPA) 
and enterprise architecture tools (eA).

(2) Broader market reach
Software AG’s broadened market reach is a result of IDS Scheer’s con-
sulting business. IDS Scheer is known for both products and consulting 
company, while It consulting is its primary focus. their consulting 
business employs some 1,700 It specialists and generates about 70  
percent of their revenue. the consulting operation is comprised of  
independent It experts, who carry out process optimization at manage- 
ment level, and SAP consultants, who are specialized in the process-
oriented implementation of SAP applications. IDS consultants think 
and speak the language of business, catering to managers as users 
of It. 

Software AG has thus gained an additional market entry point in that It  
assumes a supporting role to management. this reflects current market 
trends. Business and It are becoming more and more enmeshed every 
day. Digitization produces new business models and process innovations  
that are not limited to just the It department, but become a foundation 
for all levels of management. 

Our company will market the following brands in the future: Adabas,  
Natural, ARIS, webMethods, and IDS Scheer Consulting. these products, 
solutions, and services enable our customers to design and optimize 
their processes as well as automate (BPM), integrate (SOA), monitor (PI),  
and manage them. Furthermore, this is combined with our unique 
consulting expertise in process-oriented SAP implementation and 
strategic process consulting and services. 
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In addition, the merged company will be able to leverage a broader 
spectrum of go-to-market approaches starting in 2010: customer base 
(particularly etS) support and maintenance , projects with existing and  
new customers with our webMethods offering, service management 
for Global Consulting business, SAP consulting, and strategic process 
consulting for ARIS and BPM customers. 

Aside from Software AG’s award-winning software products, we also 
strengthened our international consulting expertise by encompassing 
SAP and vendor-neutral strategy consulting. Customers around the 
world thus now have one-stop access to one-of-a-kind know-how, 
innovative products, and qualified industry-specific consulting. 

ouTLooK
Software AG is a globally leading software company—with respect  
to our technology, how customers value us, our growth, and our 
image as an attractive employer to new and existing employees. 

we wanT To
  Become one of the leading providers of business process excel-

lence in the countries in which we are represented
  Become one of the economically most successful software  

companies in the world 
  Retain our independence, with the help of our anchor investor, 

Software AG Foundation
  Realize large-scale acquisitions on a regular basis in order to  

combine organic with external growth 
  Double revenue at least every five to six years

hitting our target of one billion euros in revenue will mark the 
beginning of a new phase of profitable growth for Software AG. 
Qualitative growth and a sustainable increase in company value  
will be our focal points. 
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oFFer PerioD PreParaTion For inTeGraTion conTinues

august 17, 2009 october 8, 2009 november 5, 2009

75 %
september 23
Publication of  
takeover bid

90 %
october 23
end of offer period Publication of 3rd quarter 

results (consolidated results  
as of Aug. 20, 2009)

IDS SCheeR AG tAKeOveR
teChNOlOGy leADeRShIP IN BuSINeSS  
PROCeSS eXCelleNCe 

TaKeover BiD
A key element of strategic development and securing the future of 
Software AG in 2009 was the takeover bid for German software and 
consulting company IDS Scheer AG, Saarbrücken. the merger with  
IDS Scheer makes us a global player in business process excellence, 
with 6,000 employees and annual revenues of more than €1 billion. 
For further information on the strategic integration and market posi-
tioning, refer to Corporate Strategy, p. 8.

MoTives For The TaKeover
Software AG’s strengths—technological leadership in middleware pro-
ducts and business process automation, financial power, and a global 
presence—are complemented by IDS Scheer’s strengths in modeling, 
analysis, and monitoring of business processes, its strong partner 
network, and a large consulting presence in their approximately 7,500 
customer base. IDS Scheer offers extensive industry expertise, direct 
access to vertical markets, and a strong position in the SAP consulting 
business.

the combination of the two technologically leading product portfolios 
covers all the links in the value-added chain for business process ex-
cellence—from analyzing business processes to modeling, implement-
ing, and monitoring them, as well as measuring performance in real 
time. this depth of products is unique on the world market, thereby 
strengthening Software AG’s competitiveness in the long term.

Achieving critical mass in more key european markets actively 
improves our Company’s position. In addition, IDS Scheer’s consulting 
expertise increases the ability to implement our own products in 
industry-specific and major projects. the merged company will gain 
importance throughout the world in the growth market of business 
process management (BPM/BPA), emerging as a new, more powerful 
provider for integrating SAP solutions into heterogeneous application 
landscapes and giving customers competitive advantages through 
more efficient, Web-based overall systems.

the merger allows IDS Scheer to grow sustainably, secure the long-
term future of ARIS, and expand worldwide the consulting expertise 
and market presence it has built up over many years. Both companies 
have strong brands, an excellent image around the world, and similar 
cultures. It is fitting, therefore, that the strong IDS Scheer brand is re-
tained for consulting services, along with the ARIS software platform. 
the name IDS Scheer will continue as a consulting brand and stand 
for outstanding consulting expertise.

shorT DescriPTion oF iDs scheer 
IDS Scheer was founded by Professor August-Wilhelm Scheer in 1984 
as a spin-off from Saarland university. From May 1975 to February 
2005, Professor Scheer was the Director of Saarland university’s 
Institute for Information Systems (IWi), and focused research on infor-
mation and business process management for industry, services, and 
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DeTaiLeD coMMunicaTion on JoinT oPeraTions iMPLeMenTaTion oF JoinT oPeraTions
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administration. Since March 2005, he has been a consulting professor 
at the German Research Center for Artificial Intelligence (DFKI). 

With Professor Alexander Pocsay as CeO and research staff from the IWi, 
IDS—Integrierte Datenverarbeitungssysteme Gmbh commenced opera-
tions as a consulting company in Saarbrücken. the company’s IPO on the 
Frankfurt stock market took place in 1999 (ISIN De0006257009), followed 
by a listing on the NeMAX and founding membership in the tecDAX start-
ing in 2003. With revenues of €259.4 million as of September 30, 2009, 
2,697 employees, and more than 7,500 customers in over 70 countries, 
IDS Scheer can look back on 25 years of success and innovation. the 
company is considered one of europe’s most successful software startups 
to originate in the world of academia and become an international player. 

leading industry analysts confirm that IDS Scheer AG has the world’s 
best product portfolio for business process analysis (BPA). Since 1997, 
the company has been number one in the market rankings for BPA; in 
recent years, the same has been true for enterprise architecture (eA) 
as well. eA is a method of It governance and standardization aimed 
at setting the right course to make changes to the It landscape that 
provide long-term, flexible, ideal support for corporate strategy.

the key software product for this is the ARIS Platform for Process ex-
cellence, an integrated solution portfolio for business process strategy, 
analysis, design, implementation, and controlling. 

From small and medium enterprises (SMes) to the Global 1000,  
IDS Scheer helps companies optimize their investments in strategic 
business and technology initiatives. through its ARIS value engineering 
(Ave) approach, IDS Scheer offers process-oriented consulting expertise 
and worldwide, industry-specific experience with projects dealing with 
consumer goods/retail, chemicals/pharmaceuticals, manufacturing, and 
public administration. the Managed Services offering supports the 
entire business process lifecycle and helps customers during the 
execution and continuous improvement of business process. 

IDS Scheer’s consulting expertise creates added value for customers in 
the customer-specific implementation of service-oriented architectures 
(SOA) and BPM/BPA solutions, especially in an SAP environment.
 
TaKeover Process on TarGeT
Software AG announced the takeover of IDS Scheer AG, Saarbrücken, on 
July 13, 2009. the period for accepting the takeover bid began for IDS 
Scheer AG shareholders on August 17, 2009, with the publication of the 
bid documents. Software AG’s bid offered IDS Scheer shareholders €15 
in cash for their shares. the purchase price for the entire share capital 
and the settlement costs totaled around €443 million. the takeover bid 
was issued via SAG Beteiligungs Gmbh, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Software AG.
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By the end of the first bid acceptance period, on September 18, 2009, 
Software AG held about 88 percent of IDS Scheer shares. this figure 
included the approximately 48 percent of shares transferred by the 
company’s founders and principal shareholders, Professor Scheer and 
Professor Pocsay.

Subsequently, Professor Scheer (Chairman of the Supervisory Board) 
and Professor Pocsay (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board) 
stepped down as of September 30, 2009. Karl-heinz Streibich and Arnd 
Zinnhardt were appointed to the IDS Scheer AG Supervisory Board. And 
the IDS Scheer AG Supervisory Board elected helmut Mader as its new 
Chairman on November 2, 2009.

After extending the bid acceptance period, Software AG owned 90.002 
percent of IDS Scheer AG shares through its wholly owned subsidiary, 
SAG Beteiligungs Gmbh, as of October 23, 2009. As a result, IDS Scheer 
shares were removed from the Frankfurt Stock exchange index 
because the number of shares in free float fell below the minimum 
level. On December 31, 2009, Software AG held 91 percent of IDS 
Scheer shares. Our goal is complete integration within the framework 
of a merger in the course of fiscal year 2010. 

the next step toward integration was a domination and profit transfer 
agreement concluded between IDS Scheer AG and SAG Beteiligungs 
Gmbh and approved by the IDS Scheer AG extraordinary General 
Meeting on January 8, 2010. this agreement takes effect when regis-
tered in the Commercial Register and allows the two organizations to 
integrate their operational business and take advantage of cost and 
sales synergies. Cost synergies on the order of 25 to 30 million euros 
are expected as a result.

FinancinG ProceeDeD sMooThLy 
to finance the purchase price of approximately €443 million,  
Software AG is employing outside capital raised on favorable terms in 
the amount of €329 million in the form of bank loans and promissory 
notes (€284 million) and a subordinated loan from the majority share-
holder, Software AG Foundation (€45 million). Software AG’s own 
resources amounted to €218 million at the end of 2009. the liabilities 
to banks will be repaid from operating cash flow by 2012 and the 
subordinated liabilities in 2013. 

the common strategy will have a clear focus on growth, with growth 
drivers being increased sales of the expanded product offerings,  
increased market access, and the specialized IDS Scheer consulting 
business. 

It is expected that the combination of the two successful business mod- 
els within Software AG will lead to higher earnings per share as early 
as the first full year of consolidation (2010). 

TechnoLoGicaL asPecTs
On the product side, implementation of the combined ARIS and web-
Methods product offerings leads to definitive competitive advantages 
for customers.

  the integration of ARIS with webMethods BPM allows automated 
model transfer of business processes to It-supported enterprise 
processes with no additional manual programming necessary.
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   the ARIS product Process Performance Monitoring (PPM) enables 
monitoring of business process performance. Integration with 
Software AG’s business activity monitoring (BAM) tool provides custo-
mers with a comprehensive solution for real-time monitoring of pro-
cess flows. With this new product solution, customers can continually 
monitor business processes and determine how successfully the 
defined processes run in reality. Inefficient processes can therefore 
be identified, analyzed, and optimized, resulting in a closed loop.

   Improved modeling and planning of the It landscape is made 
possible by the integration of the IDS Scheer enterprise Architecture 
tool with Software AG product CentraSite. ARIS and CentraSite allow 
business and technical modeling of the It landscape. ARIS helps clear  
up such issues as the following: Which business processes are 
supported by which applications and which system software do  
these applications run on? Can CentraSite help determine on a tech- 
nological level which services are needed to conduct processes and 
which computers the services belong to? this gives rise to integrated 
offerings, from planning at CIO level to detailing of individual services 
that provide customers with competitive advantages.

Despite this integration of the ARIS and webMethods product portfo-
lios, ARIS will remain a neutral, manufacturer-independent product. 
Customers and partners will continue to receive full ARIS support. the 
goal of the planned integration with webMethods is to optimize the 
benefit of ARIS content through common standards and interfaces.  
Customers and partners who use both ARIS and webMethods will 
receive a range of products that sets itself far apart from competitors’ 
products.

eMPLoyees 
the Software AG Group, which now includes IDS Scheer, is poised 
for growth. In the long term, therefore, the number of employees is 
expected to increase. the merger gives IDS Scheer and Software AG 
employees the opportunity to work for an expanded and interesting 
company that is a technology leader for infrastructure software and 
business process management and offers multifaceted, attractive,  
and long-term international career opportunities. 

the two companies are positioned in a complementary way to a great 
extent: in the product and consulting business, in research and devel- 
opment, in the regional sales structure, as well as with industries and 
partners. the complementary structure is to remain in a future organi-
zation. therefore, one goal of the takeover is to maintain and further 
expand employees’ knowledge, experience, motivation, and loyalty. 
there will be representatives from both companies at all management 
levels. For the operational areas, a strong incentive system will be 
established for cross-selling activities that mutually promote the sale 
of Software AG and IDS Scheer products or consulting services through 
both sales teams. 

In addition, the corporate cultures of the two software companies fit 
well together. the IDS Scheer corporate culture is characterized by 
skill and motivation, innovation and integrity, ambition and success—
virtues that correspond to Software AG’s corporate values: innovation,  
trust, responsibility, open communication, and a spirit of success. this 
is an excellent basis for successful future collaboration.
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SOFtWARe AG teChNOlOGy AND CuStOMeRS
BuSINeSS PROCeSS eXCelleNCe

Business process excellence equips organizations for global competition. Only with optimized  
processes is it possible to stake a claim as a long-term competitive enterprise in the global  
market. Companies of tomorrow must therefore prioritize innovative It solutions and process  
management with a view to improving existing processes and developing new business models. 

through our acquisition of IDS Scheer, Software AG now offers two 
complementary soutions which enable enterprises to establish and 
expand process excellence. the technological foundation is provided 
by webMethods, a comprehensive business process management 
system (BPMS) which includes an enterprise service bus for service 
orchestration, business activity monitoring, and robust modeling and 
integration tools.

whaT MaKes Business Process exceLLence unique?
In an ideal scenario, an excellent business process is digitally modeled 
from end to end and is based on agile, adaptable It systems. the ideal 
process needs to be clearly defined, transparent, and measurable every 
step of the way. this is the only way of ensuring fast identification of  
deviations and implementation of the appropriate corrective measures 
or even anticipation of potential errors. excellent processes connect 
management, workers, external partners, and customers regardless 
of their location. these processes should also be highly flexible so that 
they can be adapted to changing market or business climate conditions. 
In this way, organizations create a basis for quickly realizing new busi-
ness models and efficiently integrating external suppliers into their own  
value chains. Key performance indicators (KPI) help organizations achieve  
goals such as customer satisfaction, service quality, and profitability. 

inTerPLay BeTween BPM anD iT oFFers new LeveL oF quaLiTy
Business-oriented process management, such as that which is ena-
bled by ARIS, focuses on solely the operational needs of a particular 
department. Its objective is to ascertain what the business benefits 
of a process are. With ongoing business process enhancement, man- 
agement of business processes becomes a process in and of itself, 
which is implemented and executed at the organization. All phases 
of a process are modeled from both a departmental and business point  
of view—from strategy definition and process design to model imple-
mentation and control. In contrast, when business process management 

Business Process exceLLence
lIFeCyCle MODel

(BPM) has a more technical focus, such as that which webMethods sup- 
ports, It solutions automatically execute process models at an It infra- 
structure level. 

sTraTeGiZe DesiGn

iMPLeMenT

coMPoseexecuTe

MoniTor  
& conTroL oPeraTionaL iMPLeMenTaTion

Business

iT
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Building a bridge between the business process and technical process 
points of view within one lifecycle model takes the interplay between 
operative business and It to a new level of quality. 
the tight coupling of business and technical levels makes it necessary  
for business units to discuss in detail their process requirements with  
their internal It department. With a combined product offering Software 
AG and IDS Scheer have exploited a unique opportunity to expand the 

concept of the BPM lifecycle, to encompass phases at the techni-
cal implementation levels. Process-driven development, in which 
technology is automatically adjusted to reflect modeling modifications 
and vice versa, becomes reality. this type of closed loop—referred 
to as round-trip engineering by software developers—is indispensable 
when it comes to enabling continuous BPM as a management and 
control system. 

software aG provides 
Business Process exeLLence (BPe)

enterprise Business 
Process Management

iMProve

Business 
infrastructure

aDaPT

enterprise Data

oPeraTe

  Process transformation
   Process Improvement
  Process Intelligence
  enterprise Architecture  

Management

  Service-Oriented  
enterprise Integration

   B2B Integration
   SOA enablement  

& Governance 

 Application Development
 Database Management
  Mainframe and legacy  

Integration

soLuTions

  ARIS Business Architect
 ARIS It Architect
  ARIS PPM, Mashzone,  

Performance Dashboard
 webMethods BPMS
  webMethods Optimize  

(and friends)
 webMethods CAF

  webMethods eSB
 webMethods B2B
  webMethods Adapters 

& eStandards
  webMethods entireX  

and Applinx
 CentraSite
 ARIS It Architect

 Adabas
 Natural
 NaturalOne
  webMethods entireX  

and Applinx
 ARIS It Architect

ProDucTs
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eXCelleNt ORDeRING PROCeSS PROvIDeS GReAteR CuStOMeR SAtISFACtION AND hIGheR ReveNueS

chaLLenGe
you are the operations manager for a large telecommunications 
company, responsible for small and medium-sized enterprises. 
the current order processing system at your constantly growing 
company no longer meets your needs. In addition, your executive 
board has charged you with expanding into new and innovative 
business areas, in particular IP-based and mobile voice and data 
communications. Developing the company is crucial to its survival 
in a competitive, liberalized market environment.

the ordering process’s insufficient reporting options lead to problems 
such as time-consuming inquiries, complaints, and a lack of proactive 
order monitoring. employees often don’t discover that an order is 
delayed until a customer complains, because there are no reliable, 
traceable figures regarding order receipt, order status, and installed 
contracts. this leads to dissatisfaction, both internally and externally 
with It partners and customers. ultimately, this means a damaged 
image for the affected products, which results in lost revenue.   

soLuTion anD cusToMer BeneFiTs
you brainstorm with your staff and establish the following goals: 
Monitor all relevant processes and generate automated alerts 
when problems arise; establish transparent and trackable reporting; 
measure KPIs such as number of orders; provide employees in dif-
ferent departments with direct access to process data; and shorten 
processing times. the project should also be documented so that 
subsequent projects will require a much shorter learning curve.

you quickly determine that you need a total overview of your pro-
cesses at both technical and business level. you need to see all pro-
cess lifecycle phases—from strategy definition and design, to model 
implementation and monitoring. you have a vision: Based on the 
concept of process-oriented round-trip engineering, all modifications 
to your process models are made automatically at implementation 
level and vice versa.  
 

TechnoLoGy
While evaluating a process monitoring system, you encounter the 
new combined solution by IDS Scheer AG and Software AG: ARIS 
Process Performance Manager (ARIS PPM) and webmethods Busi-
ness Activity Monitoring (BAM). In the context of a preliminary pilot 
project the two integrated solutions are impressive not only because 
of their sophisticated process analysis function, but also due to the 
intelligent link to the source system. thanks to the tight integration 
of technical and business levels, process analysis takes place in real 
time and automated alerts are based on KPIs and predefined limits. 
Within the scope of the project, you build a universally accessible Web 
platform for process management, design, and performance; interface 
documentation; and project procedures. Process documentation is 
generated using ARIS Business Architect and available via an ARIS 
Business Publisher Web export. 

the integrated solution based on PPM and BAM now centrally moni-
tors ordering processes, contracts, interface processes, and source 
system error reporting. Order and contract data, for example the 
purchase of a DSl installation in the phone store through to the 
dispatch of the invoice, is read from the source system and trans-
ferred to a graphic representation that links to data with a click of 
the mouse. With colored bars, speedometers, and line graphs, the 
performance dashboard demonstrates processing times and other 
order-relevant information in a format that is easy for laypeople 
to understand. the investment is paying off: Defined goals were 
achieved, processing times fell by an average of 60 percent and 
ROI can be achieved in as little as 9 to 12 months, rather than the 
planned 18 to 24 months.

inFineon, GeRMANy
SOX Compliance with considerably lower costs: 
Infineon, a leading provider and pioneer in the 
semiconductor industry, ensures SOX compliance 
with the ARIS Solution for Governance, Risk & 
Compliance (GRC) Management.

iT TerMs
Business process optimization through business process 
 monitoring with performance dashboards and KPI measure- 
ment, process transparency 

ProDucTs
webmethods Business Activity Monitoring & ARIS Process 
 Performance Manager (ARIS PPM), ARIS Platform Suite

voDaFone, ICelAND
Seamless integration of disparate systems via 
webMethods enterprise Service Bus (eSB) Platform 
enables 95 percent of customer queries to be re-
solved the first time. vodafone also automates order 
processing and service provisioning with webMethods 
Business Process Management Suite (BPMS).

Software AG Annual Report 200920

01_ thE cOMPaNY  |  SOftwarE aG tEchNOLOGY aND cUStOMErS



chaLLenGe
you are the production manager for an emerging capital goods compa-
ny that designs, installs, and produces solar and wind power systems, 
with subsidiaries on five continents. to strengthen your competitive 
position and growth in global future markets, you and your executive 
committee are determined to generate at least 50 percent of your 
revenue outside Germany and the photovoltaics industry. 

In order to both increase customer satisfaction and reduce costs, you 
plan to analyze, optimize, and realign the international supply chain 
organization (order-to-cash and demand planning). Developing a 
flexible supply chain planning model involves global sales planning 
and standardized order handling. Process and system discontinuities 
between sales and logistics must be eliminated, and nationally-
focused processes must be designed for a new corporate strategy  
and planned global growth.

soLuTion anD cusToMer BeneFiTs
Specific individual goals were established: lower order processing 
times by 30 percent, reduce warehouse inventories by 25 percent, 
decrease error rates, increase item availability, and implement better 
organizational and systematic sales planning.

to generate synergies between locations, you decide in the executive  
committee that your next step is to set up a european buying collective 
for purchasing activities. Because many locations have their own pro-
cesses and eRP applications, there is no overview of current purchas-
ing data and unified supplier and warehouse master data. the goal 
is to have proactive expenditure management including expenditure 
controls, better purchasing conditions, more efficient contract man-
agement, and reliable forecast planning. the expected ROI amounts 
to €2.8 million in less than three years.

SuPPly ChAIN MANAGeMeNt (SCM) StReNGtheNS COMPetItIve POSItION AND GROWth

TechnoLoGy
After thoroughly exploring the market, you find a partner in IDS Scheer: 
It has BPM expertise and years of experience in supply chain optimi-
zation (SAP SCM APO). 

In accordance with the ARIS value engineering (Ave) process model, 
process restructuring begins with a strategy phase and identifying 
processes that could be improved in sales, logistics, planning, and 
order handling. the design phase and the appraisal of actual pro-
cesses result in a flexible supply chain planning model that includes 
future target processes. On this basis, the target organization, target 
KPIs, and future It features can be implemented effectively. 

the ARIS Design Platform products uncover organizational, structural, 
and technological weaknesses in the processes and unlock potential 
for improvement. ARIS Business Designer software is used to model 
and document the actual and target processes and forms a basis for 
process analysis and optimization.

the targeted goals are fully achieved—and in some cases exceeded— 
with the help of the ARIS Platform and ARIS Business Architect as 
well as the expertise of IDS Scheer consultants, reducing the error 
rate from an average of ten percent to one percent. IDS Scheer 
uses process intelligence and performance management (PIPM) to 
establish verifiable quality reporting in the further step of setting  
up a purchasing platform.

iT TerMs
Supply chain management (SCM), supply chain organization 
(order-to-cash and demand planning), process intelligence, quality 
reporting, return on investment (ROI)

ProDucTs
ARIS Platform Suite & 
ARIS Solutions for Business Process excellence

uniqa GrouP, AuStRIA
Faster distribution of up to 7,500 pieces of mail per day; 
webMethods Business Process Management Suite (BPMS) 
helped automate the entire process—from receiving to pro-
cessing paperwork—and has created a viable foundation 
for future process optimization projects.

GeorGia TechnoLoGy auThoriTy, uSA
With the webMethods eSB platform, Georgia 
technology Authority has streamlined the delivery 
of government services to constituents via its 
ww.georgia.gov portal. eSB enables any agency 
to plug into the portal and integrate applications 
and data that needed to flow between otherwise 
disparate systems.
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MORe FReeDOM FOR COMPANIeS tO OPtIMIZe BuSINeSS PROCeSSeS IN A FleXIBle It lANDSCAPe

chaLLenGe
you are the CIO of an internationally active chemicals and pharma-
ceuticals company and are facing the challenge of dealing with high 
double-digit growth over the next four years. In particular, the It 
landscape needs to evolve flexibly and efficiently in proportion with 
growing production capacities. At the same time, your company aims 
to become a global player in its industry through cost leadership 
and growth. But how do you identify and avoid possible bottlenecks 
in business processes—from logistics and technology to human 
resources and finances—at an early stage, without causing unneces-
sary costs? 

An additional challenge: In the past, your company grew through ac-
quisitions, resulting in a heterogeneous It landscape. your headquar-
ters and some country subsidiaries are currently using SAP. Others are 
using various solutions developed in-house and proprietary systems, 
especially in the key Greater China region. 

soLuTion anD cusToMer BeneFiTs
you discuss the course of action with It managers in key countries 
and decide on the following requirements: you want complete control 
over the processes in a dynamic environment, and so decide to stan-
dardize business processes and roll out SAP worldwide in all acquired 
companies. Implementing an internationally valid, unified process 
standard is intended to align process description content. Indeed, 
you need an integrated view of reality in order to optimize business 
processes, SAP usage, and It maintenance. 

A transparent business model that is flexible enough to meet chang-
ing requirements is needed to successfully consolidate companies  
and support further growth

TechnoLoGy
you choose the best of all the offerings for your challenging BPM 
project: ARIS Platform, along with the consulting expertise and 
Ave methodology of IDS Scheer. you work with their consultants to 
develop five project steps based on the Six Sigma approach: using 
IDS Scheer’s SAP reference model, the project team determines the 
project plan and the starting point for process modeling in the Define 
phase. In the Measure phase, more than 50 workshops are conducted 
with the help of ARIS for end users and key SAP users, the perfor-
mance of the modeled actual processes is measured, and the data is 
transferred to ARIS. In the Analyze phase, the project team identifies 
It and process-related obstacles and uses ARIS Simulation to evaluate 
alternative solutions, which are then combined in the Improve phase, 
applied to business cases, and implemented as part of a new process 
flow plan. Finally, in the Change phase, the process models are syn-
chronized with the SAP Solution Manager.

the industry-specific chemical processes are implemented based on 
the developed process model. In the SAP rollout, you pay particular 
attention to the globally standardized usability of the processes and 
international support. this means that best practices from europe 
and the uSA are implemented and supplemented with local Chinese 
features. All processes are documented with ARIS Design Platform 
and linked to transactions from the SAP Solution Manager. 
you save significant amounts of time and improve quality greatly with 
this BPM solution, and ARIS proves to be a success factor for the SAP 
Certified Competence Center (CCC). 

iT TerMs
Consolidating and harmonizing It and processes, business process 
management (BPM), quality management based on Six Sigma, 
global SAP rollout, synchronizing processes with It architecture

ProDucTs
ARIS Platform Suite &
ARIS Solutions for Business Process excellence

oMv, AuStRIA
50 percent reduction in time and cost for individual 
integration projects; webMethods enterprise Service Bus 
(eSB) is used to integrate the two central SAP retail and 
oil and gas industry solutions with other applications as 
well as to implement integration projects independent 
of central eRP systems.

MaPFre, PueRtO RICO
An automated accident management system 
was built using webMethods Business Process 
Management Suite (BPMS). Based on a service-
oriented architecture (SOA), the system replaces 
time-consuming manual processes, enabling the 
company to enjoy higher customer satisfaction 
rates and increased sales.
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PROCeSS eXCelleNCe IN MARItIMe CONtAINeR lOGIStICS

chaLLenGe
A good morning begins with a good breakfast. toast with jam or honey, 
ham, eggs, and orange juice are musts, maybe even a bowl of fresh 
fruit on the side. But have you ever thought about the “guests” who 
have traveled so far to gather at your breakfast table? the bananas 
probably came from sunny ecuador, the flour for the toast was likely 
made from wheat grown in China, the oranges probably flew in from 
Brazil, and the bees who made the honey may have buzzed around 
Australia. the whole world is joining you for breakfast. And how is 
that possible? A highly efficient, complex system of logistics process-
es is behind it all. let’s take your morning coffee, for example: the 
coffee beans perhaps matured in Brazil, and were roasted, packed, 
transported, loaded, and shipped. After traveling across the ocean, 
the beans are unloaded and repackaged. the individual beans have 
passed through many hands, been transported by various means, and 
have gone through several production processes to become the final 
product whose aroma beguiles you.

All these steps require a high degree of technology. Modern logistics 
processes would be unimaginable without the underlying It systems. 
this logistical masterpiece is only possible with the help of finely 
coordinated software and hardware systems. let’s take a look at just 
part of the logistics chain. Maritime container logistics, for instance, 
is the shipping of goods in large, seaworthy containers on container 
ships, and the technological implementation to meet the high de-
mands of the complicated process chain.

soLuTions anD cusToMer BeneFiTs
It’s easy to see the advantages of process automation, and not only for 
logistics. Any customer who relies heavily on smoothly functioning logis-
tics processes enjoy the following benefits:
  Measurable DIFOt (delivered in full on time) 
 Increased revenues
  Faster delivery due to constant ability to monitor delivery status
  Proactive problem solving
  Accurate cost control
  Better control of third-party suppliers

TechnoLoGy
Maritime container logistics are a “meta process,” which means that 
all handling processes are mapped along a transportation chain. the 
individual handling processes are represented by process descriptions 
using Software AG’s webMethods technology. the specified processes 
are first implemented and then optimized. In addition to the physical  
handling process, every handling process contains upstream and down-
stream information processes, which are also mapped by the web-
Methods Suite. Key performance indicators (KPIs) are used to quantify 
processes, for example, the number of transportation processes, 
 handling times, or the frequency of manual intervention needed. 

the scenario can also be expanded to include RFID (radio frequency 
identification) technology. RFID transponders on maritime containers 
offer numerous potential benefits. For example, they enable rapid 
container identification via automated transponder readings, which 
can accelerate the transshipping process and lead to more efficient 
and effective handling in container logistics. today, for instance, the 
11-character number used to identify the container must still be 
manually checked and entered into the It systems; in the future, this 
information could be stored on an RFID transponder and read auto-
matically. this would eliminate the process step of manual identifica-
tion and the container could be transshipped without interruption. 

iT TerMs
Consolidating and harmonizing It and processes, business 
 process management (BPM), business activity monitoring (BAM) 

ProDucTs 
webMethods 8: webMethods CentraSite Active SOA &  
webMethods Mediator & webMethods eSB

nissan, MeXICANA
Approximately 30 percent of the auto maker’s opera-
tions are managed by Software AG tools: Nissan uses 
more than 250 applications—developed using different 
technologies—and Software AG’s products provide one 
of the main underlying enabling technologies. 

carGoLux, luXeMBOuRG
Cargolux, luxembourg, is one of the world’s 
leading air freight companies. In order to 
become more competitive they optimized 
their processes with the help of the ARIS 
Platform. the total cost of the BPM project 
is less than 20 percent of the cost-savings 
potential tapped by the project. 
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PROCeSS eXCelleNCe IN PuBlIC ADMINIStRAtION  
INteGRAteD BPM PlAtFORM eNABleS eFFICIeNt ADMINIStRAtION PROCeSSeS 

chaLLenGe
you are a department head in state government and have been 
charged with making the existing e-government structure more 
cost-effective, more innovative, and more service-oriented, all with 
no additional budget. you are facing some serious business and tech-
nological challenges. the multitude of existing department-specific 
processes and individual applications needs to be more efficiently 
linked and made compatible with one another. And you need to 
create easy-to-use services without overspending. On the one hand, 
citizens and companies should have centralized access to admin-
istrative information that is stored decentrally. On the other hand, 
department-specific and basic services should be available for state 
and local governments to use for their own administrative purposes, 
without having to make additional investment in their It systems. 

you therefore need to harmonize the existing heterogeneous It infra-
structure to create a statewide standardized e-government platform. 
At the same time, you need to create these new services quickly and 
flexibly, all while keeping costs down. the priorities are protecting your 
investment and minimizing risks. It boils down to establishing excellent 
processes in your department.  

soLuTions anD ciTiZen BeneFiTs
you talk with other public administrators about which processes need to 
be implemented universally and which improvements for agencies and 
citizens are achievable. Common services range from the creation of a 
virtual building permit department, to providing a geographic informa-
tion system, and internal “portal servers” for knowledge management, 
e-collaboration, and e-shop solutions. An additional goal is a statewide-
accessible, service-oriented BPM platform for increased efficiency and 
effectiveness, which would ensure ongoing development at business 
and technical level in one continuous process lifecycle. 

the advantages are clear: With cross-organization and cross-system 
processes, administrative tasks are simpler, more secure, and require 
less work. efficiency is increased. Citizens’ inquiries are processed 
more quickly. New services can be added flexibly. Media-break-free 
communication crosses system and office boundaries, thereby enabling 
future-oriented operations. the new system allows you to be ready to 
take on tomorrow’s challenges. 

TechnoLoGy
you and your colleagues write the project plan for an integrated concept, 
which you propose to your manager in a sustainable e-government 
roadmap. you propose basic services, to include a statewide standard-
ized form service, electronic signatures, and a virtual mailroom for 
external communication. 

the new BPM platform must support department-specific processes 
as well as technical implementation. you find the ideal solution as 
the result of a statewide call for bids: the ARIS and webMethods 
combined software portfolio. With ARIS Business Architect you can  
analyze current processes and model and configure your target 
processes. thanks to tight integration with webMethods based on a 
central process architecture, new processes are triggered at It level 
through an integrated feedback feature. this allows modifications 
to models to be  made automatically at implementation level and 
vice versa. this lays the foundation for continuous business process 
improvement—adaptable to ever changing requirements. 

the new BPM platform offers a structured, standards-compliant, and 
modular e-government environment. It makes other basic services 
available centrally to various specialized applications, which can be 
new applications developed on the BPM platform itself or existing 
applications that access the new infrastructure via a service interface. 
the new platform guarantees that all department-specific processes 
will work together cleanly, while efficiently supporting cross-office 
and cross-departmental processes. Benefits will be even more appar-
ent when tackling more ambitious projects such as implementing the 
eu Services Directive or a virtual building authority. 

iT TerMs
Business process improvement; SOA governance;  
lifecycle management 

ProDucTs
webMethods 8: webMethods CentraSite Active SOA &  
ARIS Platform Suite & ARIS Solutions

swisscoM, SWItZeRlAND
ROI in nine to twelve months: ARIS PPM improved 
transparency of the order process. And, immediately 
following implementation of process monitoring, a  
significantly faster process cycle time was calculated. 

TraveL-Ba.sys, GeRMANy
25 percent less travel agent training needed; using 
Natural for AJAX, travel-BA.Sys quickly transitioned 
its reservation-to-back-office and administration 
travel system to a fully Web-enabled platform with 
many new easy-to-use interfaces, menus, and 
enhanced business functionalities.
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ReDuCtION OF CARBON FOOtPRINt thROuGh PROCeSS eXCelleNCe IN POWeR DelIveRy

chaLLenGe
there is one industry that that is undergoing major deregulation and 
simultaneously dealing with demands to lower its carbon emissions, 
and that is the power industry. Competition has opened the market to 
new agile entrants and alternative forms of power generation have 
opened the prospects of a leaner, cleaner industry.

But there is one issue preventing the industry from fully grasping 
these new opportunities and preventing the consumer from fully 
benefiting. the power distribution network in use today still uses a 
system of control and billing that existed fifty years ago. Despite the 
restructuring in the last decades, the distribution and billing infrastruc-
ture has struggled to keep up. For the average consumer it is still an 
annual event, an annual meter reading, an annual surprise: A rebate 
or a demand?

Few of the advances made in business process and communication 
software have filtered through to the power grid, but that is chang-
ing. today we are seeing the introduction of the “smart grid” or the 

“Internet of energy:” a global, fully digitized, measurable, manageable 
and intelligent energy distribution system. the largest green It project 
on the planet? Or the most significant contributor to cutting CO2 emis-
sions currently on offer?

the smart grid is possibly all of these and it starts with smart meter-
ing. the business case is overwhelming. the energy producer can pre-
dict power requirement peaks and smoothen consumption and pro-
duction, can locate power theft and network breakages in real time, 
and can bring alternate energy sources online as and when needed.

soLuTions anD cusToMer BeneFiTs
the consumer gains control of consumption: when, from whom, and 
at what cost. the consumer can automate power usage for when it 
is cheapest, can reduce consumption when it is most expensive, can 
negotiate tariffs suited to their individual needs.

For the planet, the figures are staggering: Smart grids could recover 
the ten percent of power that disappears in europe and the uS 
through theft or network breakages. Smarts grids and smart buildings 
could reduce global CO2 emissions by 15 percent. Smart grids could 
save Germany €1.5 billion annually and reduce CO2 emissions by 5.6 
million tons. 

this will change with a smart meter—an advanced meter that identi-
fies consumption continuously and communicates that information 
via a network back to the utility for monitoring and billing purposes. 
this allows the delivery of electricity from suppliers to consumers 
using two-way digital technology to control appliances at consumers’ 
homes to save energy, reduce cost, and increase reliability and trans-
parency. And it is only possible through It. Software is the interface 
between smart power delivery and intelligent business processes. 

TechnoLoGy
Software is the interface between a static distribution network and 
rapidly changing businesses. Software is the interface between a 
smart supplier and a knowledgeable customer. Software is the dif-
ference between global energy waste and delivery process excel-
lence. And Software AG provides this technology interface, this link, 
and makes the difference. Software AG allows the power utility to 
build intelligent processes linking the smart grid to knowledgeable 
consumers at one end to agile providers at the other. Software AG 
provides the key enabling technology for the most dramatic chal-
lenge that the power industry has ever faced.

iT TerMs
Business process improvement (BPI), business process moni-
toring, performance dashboards, key performance indicators, 
workflow management, Smart Metering

ProDucTs
webMethods 8: webMethods Business Activity Monitoring &  
webMethods CentraSite; ARIS Platform Suite & ARIS Solutions

waTT, GeRMANy
Implementing a new integrated order-to-cash 
solution using the webMethods BPM Suite  
and automated partner data exchanges using 
webMethods trading Networks.

saBic, SAuDI ARABIA
Management of business process bottle necks 
during a high-growth period: the pharmaceuti-
cals company, SABIC europe, is cutting operating 
costs with ARIS Business Architect for SAP and 
achieving estimated time savings between one 
and three years. 
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SOFtWARe AG StOCK

Software AG stock surpassed all benchmark indices with excellent performance in fiscal 2009. the 
share price almost doubled and, with a closing price of €76.40, achieved its highest value since 2001. 
Market capitalization increased to approximately €2.2 billion. 

2009 a TurBuLenT year on The sTocK MarKeT
While 2008 was one of the worst years of all time, 2009 will go down 
in stock-market history as one of the most turbulent. the economic 
and financial crisis meant global stock markets were still suffering at 
the start of the year, but from mid-March we witnessed a gradual 
recovery. In April and July 2009, in particular, share prices rose signifi-
cantly around the world.

the German DAX benchmark index recorded its lowest value of the 
financial crisis—3,666 points—on March 6. It therefore fell by more 
than 50 percent compared to its high of 8,105 points in mid-2007. 
however, by the end of 2009, it again passed the 6,000-point mark,  
an increase of more than 60 percent. For the year as a whole, the 
index reported a rise of 20 percent, closing at 5,957 points on  
December 30, 2009. 

technology stocks also benefited from the upward trend that began  
in fiscal 2009. the technology-focused Nasdaq computer composite 
index increased 40 percent in value. the Nasdaq 100, which tracks 
the largest companies listed on the exchange, rose by 54 percent, 
while the German technology barometer, tecDAX, gained 59 percent 
over the course of the year.
 
soFTware aG sTocK an ouTPerForMer on The TecDax   
At the very start of 2009, during the course of January 15, 2009, the 
Software AG share price hit its low for the year, at €33.61. With the 
announcement of the figures for fiscal 2008 at the end of January, 
however, the price quickly began to recover. this upward trend was 
sustained by further favorable company reports and a strong CeBIt 
presence, a dividend increase to €1.10, and positive forecasts from 
leading analysts. At the end of April, prior to the announcement of 

the results for the first quarter of 2009, there was a slight share price 
adjustment, which reflected the general uncertainty on the markets. 
In the second and third quarters, though, the stock enjoyed solid 
upward development, again bolstered by good company reports. the 
share price continued to rise consistently after the takeover offer for 
IDS Scheer, announced on August 17, 2009. the reaction of financial 
analysts to the proposed takeover was initially cautious, due to uncer-
tainty regarding the possibility of margin dilution. however, the share 
price shot up late in the year as the acquisition process progressed 
and third-quarter results (including the initial consolidation of IDS Scheer) 
were released. these results surpassed market expectations, particu-
larly for the eBIt margin. the high for the year at €80.05 was reached 
on December 10, 2009.

After an opening price at €39.97 on January 2, 2009, the stock closed 
at €76.40 on December 30, 2009. this represents growth of 91 percent 
within the fiscal year. 

Because of the stock’s strong showing, market capitalization rose sig- 
nificantly in the fiscal year. At year end, it was €2.2 billion, compared 
to €1.1 billion at the end of 2008. 

Software AG stock is still one of the 100 strongest-selling market 
values in Germany and therefore fulfills the highest liquidity criteria 
for electronic trading on the Xetra. In 2009, trading volume was around 
50.0 million shares (2008: 55.1 million). In the Deutsche Börse AG’s 
tecDAX ranking, Software AG came in third for free-float market 
capitalization and fifth for stock-market turnover. 
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An appropriate payout to Software AG’s shareholders is planned again 
for 2009. earnings per share and free cash flow rose during the year. 

At the same time, the Company’s need to grow must be also financed 
in the coming year. the executive Board and Supervisory Board will 
therefore again propose a dividend of €1.15 for 2009 for each share 
entitled to dividends at the Annual Shareholder’s Meeting. 

DiviDenD increase in The 2009 FiscaL year
Software AG continued its stable dividend policy geared toward contin- 
uity. earnings per share for the past fiscal year and the free cash flow  
are thus necessary guideline values. At the Annual Shareholders’ Meet- 
ing on April 30, 2009 in Darmstadt, it was decided to increase the 
dividend from €1.00 to €1.10 per share. this is the highest dividend 
since the company went public. Consequently, the total dividend pay- 
out to our shareholders was around €31.5 million. 
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exceLLenT invesTor reLaTions worK conTinues
In accordance with the principle of fair disclosure, we provide the 
capital market with transparent, comprehensive, and detailed infor-
mation about our corporate strategy and current developments. the 
aim of investor relations is to ensure all investors receive the same 
information. the financial calendar published on our website contains 
all investor relations events and activities. We publish our business 
figures extremely promptly and present them to journalists, analysts, 
and investors in telephone conferences or face-to-face events. We 
always publish the latest corporate information such as speeches and 
presentations, financial reports, press releases, and ad hoc reports, 
detailed information on the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and corpor-
ate governance, as well as future and past analyst expectations on 
the Internet for investors to view or download. 

In 2009, we were again rewarded for our IR work. We won the Capital 
Investor Relations Award for the tecDax and also achieved first place 
in the overall rating, which covers all German indices and the euro- 
Stoxx50. the awards are based on assessments conducted by Capital 
magazine and the DvFA (Society of Investment Professionals in Ger-
many) on the quality of IR work based on target-group orientation, 
transparency, track record, and extra financial reporting.

In a ranking published in the WIRtSChAFtSWOChe financial journal and 
conducted by thomson Reuters extel, we also came in first for the 
tecDax for “Best IR.” the result is based on a comprehensive study 
and polling of fund managers and analysts worldwide. Our compre-
hensive online information offering was also rewarded with “Best IR 
Website” from NetFederation. this year, BÖRSe ONlINe again assessed 
how well private investors in the 160 largest listed German corpora-
tions feel they are informed about the companies’ business develop-
ment, strategy, and future outlook. the survey, which took place from 
the end of October to the end of November 2009, focused on the 
credibility and comprehensibility of communications from IR depart-
ments. Investors were asked, for example, about the annual report 
and the quality of company websites. Software AG achieved for the 
second time a very respectable position in the overall ranking (BIRD) 
of all German companies covered in the survey.

PoLicy oF acTive invesTor coMMunicaTion conTinueD
In this fiscal year, we again specifically addressed existing and poten-
tial investors, as well as analysts, and provided them with information 
about our company. For reasons of time and efficiency, the emphasis 

here was on participation in conferences. the executive Board and/or 
Investor Relations took part in 18 capital market conferences, primarily 
in europe and the uSA. We also held one-on-one meetings with in-
vestors over 18 days of roadshows. Overall, we provided more than 
320 analysts and investors with detailed information about our busi-
ness model and strategy. this was particularly welcome following 
publication of our takeover offer for IDS Scheer.

We are active on the board of the German Investor Relations Associa-
tion (DIRK) and we contribute to the definition of fundamental investor 
relations conditions on a national and international level. We also 
state our view on capital market rulings and promote the exchange  
of information between listed companies in Germany, and between 
these companies and the capital market. 

TransParenT sharehoLDer sTrucTure 
the non-profit Software AG Foundation continues to be the largest Soft-
ware AG shareholder, with around 29 percent of outstanding shares. 
Software AG Foundation is currently one of the 10 financially strongest 
foundations in Germany. It supports private entities and initiatives in 
the areas of assistance for the disabled, education, youth and senior 
citizen welfare, nature and environmental protection as well as the 
promotion of organic farming, complementary medicine, and teaching. 

Institutional investors
 Germany

 uK

 North America

 Switzerland

 France

 Rest of world

  Retail investors and  

undisclosed institutional  

investors worldwide

sharehoLDer sTrucTure *

* Source: thomson Reuters, January 2010
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investor name  in %

Software AG Foundation  29.00

Deka Investment Gmbh  6.17

Alken Asset Management llP  4.79

JPMorgan Asset Management u.K. limited  3.03

Fidelity Management & Research  3.02

Allianz Global Investors Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbh  2.95

DWS Investment Gmbh  2.90

Braun, von Wyss & Müller AG  2.60

Baring Asset Management ltd.  1.64

Classic Fund Management Aktiengesellschaft  1.47

ToP 10 invesTors in soFTware aG sTocK *

Key share DaTa
 2009 2008

 iFrs iFrs

Closing price (XetRA) in € 76.40 40.00

year high in € 77.77 60.37

year low in € 34.78 29.50

total number of shares  

at year end 28,708,410 28,638,842

Market capitalization  

at year end in € million 2,193.32 1,145.6

Free float in % 71.0 70.6

Average daily trading volume (XetRA) 198,759 218,517

TicKer syMBoL anD Basic DaTa
ISIN De 0003304002

WKN 330400

Symbol SOW

Reuters SOW Gn.F

Bloomberg SOW Gy

Stock exchange Börse Frankfurt

Market segment Prime Standard

Index tecDAX

IPO April 26, 1999

Offering price €30

With a free float of around 71, we have a broad investor structure 
consisting of private individuals and institutions in Germany and ab-
road. We have identified 70 percent of the free float holders, and the 
remainder is distributed among private individuals and unidentified 
institutional investors. Our reported free float is distributed by region as 
follows: Germany 51 percent, united Kingdom 13 percent, rest of the 
world 6 percent, and North America 6 percent. 

Our shareholder structure described above was ascertained in Decem-
ber 2009. For more information on this, and all other topics, please see 
the Investor Relations section on our homepage www.softwareag.com.

chanGes in share caPiTaL
In the 2009 fiscal year, the number of shares issued was 28,708,410. 
this is 69,568 more than in 2008. the rise is due to the exercising of 
a conditional capital increase as part of a management option plan.

* Source: thomson Reuters, January 2010

inDices
 CDAX Performance Index
 hDAX Performance Index
 l-teCDAX Performance Index
 teCDAX Performance Index
 technology All Share Performance Index
 DAXsector Software 
 DAXsubsector Software 
 Midcap Market Price Index
 Midcap Market Performance Index
 DAX International 100 Performance Index
 Dow Jones 600 Index
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the executive and Supervisory Boards of Software AG consider efficient 
management and control in all areas of the Company to be essential 
to sustainable value creation.

In the past, both corporate bodies have thus conducted ongoing assess- 
ments of the Company’s management structure and the control instru- 
ments and adapted them accordingly to meet new requirements in 
compliance with German legal regulations and the further reaching 
recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

Basic unDersTanDinG
Good corporate governance is a core component of management at  
Software AG. the executive Board and the Supervisory Board are com- 
mitted to it, and all our divisions guide themselves by it. Responsible,  
qualified, and transparent corporate governance focuses on a company’s  
long-term success. It includes both compliance with the law and exten- 
sively following generally accepted standards and recommendations. 
the focus is on values such as sustainability, transparency, and value 
orientation. 

Software AG‘s Corporate Governance Report has been prepared jointly by 
the executive Board and the Supervisory Board pursuant to section 3.10 
of the German Corporate Governance Code. It describes the principles 
of the Company‘s management and control structure and the funda-
mental rights of Software AG shareholders.

coLLaBoraTion BeTween The execuTive BoarD  
anD suPervisory BoarD
the corporate bodies of Software AG are the executive Board, the 
Supervisory Board, and the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting. the duties 
of these corporate bodies are governed by the German Stock Corpo-
ration Act, the Articles of Incorporation, and the Rules of Procedure 
for the executive Board and the Supervisory Board. In the year under 
review, the executive Board and Supervisory Board again collaborated 
closely in an atmosphere of trust. 

the executive Board is solely responsible for the management of 
Software AG. It is committed to acting in the interests of the Company 
and the long-term enhancement of company value. In addition, it 
represents us vis-à-vis third parties. Presently our executive Board 
is comprised of six members. It reports to the Supervisory Board 
regularly, in a timely manner, and comprehensively concerning the 
Company’s recent performance, corporate planning, the risk situation, 
risk management, and compliance.

Our Supervisory Board is also comprised of six members. It advises and 
supervises the executive Board in managing the Company. the two 
bodies jointly decide on corporate strategy and its implementation. 
the Supervisory Board appoints the members of the executive Board  
and is entitled to dismiss them for good cause. In addition, it discusses 
the quarterly reports and reviews and approves our year-end financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements. Key executive Board  
decisions such as important financing measures and acquisitions require 
its consent. 

At Software AG, the election of the Supervisory Board is in compliance 
with the recommendations of the Corporate Governance Code. each 
member of the Supervisory Board is elected individually. Our Rules of 
Procedure stipulate that if a Supervisory Board member leaves the  
Board prior to the expiration of his or her term of office, the successor‘s 
appointment is valid only until the next Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting. 

eFFicienT coMMiTTee worK 
the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Procedure provide for the establishment 
of three committees. they include the Committee for Compensation and  
Succession Issues, the Audit Committee, and the Nominating Committee, 
which is responsible for preparing nominations for election of members 
to the Supervisory Board. In the past fiscal year, the Committee for 
Compensation and Succession Issues met three times, the Audit Com-
mittee once, and the Nominating Committee once. the Supervisory 
Board provides information concerning its responsibilities and work 
executed in the year under review in the Report of the Supervisory 
Board. the executive Board, Supervisory Board, and committees work 
together closely with the objective of enhancing Software AG‘s value 
in the long term. the following change was made to the committees 
in fiscal 2009: Dr. Andreas Bereczky became Software AG’s new Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on  
April 30, 2009. he succeeds Mr. Frank F. Beelitz, who, after ten years 
as Chairman and member of the Superisory Board, withdrew from 
the board. Mr. heinz Otto Geidt was elected to the Supervisory Board 
as the new representative of majority shareholder Software AG 
Foundation. 

We maintain no direct or indirect business relationships with Supervisory 
Board members. In particular, no mutual consulting agreements or other 
contracts for work or services exist. Both employee representatives on 
the Supervisory Board are employees of Software AG.

CORPORAte GOveRNANCe
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sharehoLDers anD annuaL sharehoLDers’ MeeTinG
the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting is one of our core institutions, 
through which shareholders can exercise their rights and their voting 
rights. Software AG invites its shareholders to participate in its Annual 
Shareholders‘ Meeting. Important decisions are made at the meeting, 
including approval of the actions of the executive and Supervisory 
Boards, election of the Supervisory Board and external auditors, 
amendments to the Articles of Incorporation and corporate measures. 
Not least, the shareholders decide on profit distribution. As scheduled  
in the financial calendar, we inform our shareholders of our business  
developments, financial performance, and financial position four times  
per year. We held our most recent Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting on  
April 30, 2009 in Darmstadt. Approximately 66 percent of voting shares 
were present. the next Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting will convene  
on May 21, 2010 in Darmstadt.

Pursuant to the recommendations of the Corporate Governance Code,  
we conduct the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting in an expedient manner, 
preferably within a time frame of four hours. to conduct our Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting efficiently, the chairperson has the option to cut  
short speakers who stray from the topic at hand and to refer to detailed 
information already published on the website. Shareholders who do 
not wish to exercise their voting rights may authorize a member of 
the Company to vote by proxy in accordance with the shareholder’s 
instructions. the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is also broadcast live 
via the Internet. the invitation to the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting 
and related documents and information such as the agenda, financial 
statements, Articles of Incorporation, and explanations of draft resolu-
tions are published on the Software AG website along with the date 
of the Meeting. the resolutions adopted by previous shareholders‘ 
meetings as well as the quarterly reports of the preceding fiscal years 
may also be found there. 

oPen anD TransParenT coMMunicaTion
We communicate openly, transparently, comprehensively, and in a  
timely manner with all market participants. In 2009 we further intensi- 
fied communication, taking part in additional conferences and meetings 
for efficiency and cost-savings purposes.

A globally consistent corporate message is required to earn the trust 
of investors, analysts, and journalists. Regulatory bodies and the 
media review publications and press releases for inconsistencies and 
to ensure that laws and regulations are upheld. Our communications 
guidelines define how we handle corporate communication. 

to read them, please visit http://www.softwareag.com and click  
on Investors. 

the executive Board immediately publishes insider information that 
affects Software AG, unless it is exempt from the publication require- 
ment in specific cases. In accordance with legal stipulations, we main-
tain registries of persons with access to insider information who have 
been instructed to maintain confidentiality. Software AG provides infor- 
mation to investors, analysts, and journalists in accordance with standard 
criteria. this information is transparent for all capital market participants. 
All ad hoc disclosures, press releases, as well as presentations given at  
press and analysts‘ conferences and road shows are published promptly  
on the website of Software AG. the corresponding dates can be found 
in our financial calendar.

Software AG has commissioned independent consulting firm IR Consult  
to carry out an annual study evaluating how investors and financial 
analysts perceive our financial communication. Criticism and suggestions 
provide motivation for further improvement. Our performance in the 
most recent study, conducted in September 2009, was good, with an 
overall rating of 2.07. 

We also publish the purchase or sale of Software AG shares or related 
financial instruments, particularly derivatives, by members of our execu-
tive and Supervisory Boards and certain other related parties. As soon 
as knowledge is acquired of these transactions, they must be posted 
on our website. 

Pursuant to the law to Implement transparency Guidelines (tuG), the 
threshold for issuing a mandatory notification concerning shareholdings 
in listed companies was reduced to three percent of the voting rights, 
effective January 20, 2007. Foreign investment companies in particu-
lar had difficulties with publishing voting rights changes according to 
form and in due time. In close collaboration with Germany’s Federal 
Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin), Software AG supported inves-
tors in improving the notification processes. tuG also stipulates that 
companies must make such notifications available throughout europe. 
We use a suitable service provider for this purpose. In addition, we 
publish all information in German and english. We also fully comply with 
the Act on electronic Commercial Registers, Registers of Cooperatives,  
and Business Registers (ehuG), which came into force on January 1, 
2007, by sending the operator of the electronic version of the Federal  
Gazette all documents requiring publication in electronic form as pre- 
scribed by the Act. 
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Date

October 18, 2007 

(published on february 18, 2009)

October 18, 2007 

(published on february 18, 2009)

October 18, 2007 

(published on March 11, 2009)

January 23, 2008 

(published on May 4, 2009)

January 23, 2008 

(published on May 4, 2009)

January 23, 2008 

(published on May 4, 2009)

January 23, 2008 

(published on May 4, 2009)

January 23, 2008 

(published on May 4, 2009)

april 29, 2008 

(published on february 18, 2009)

June 4, 2008 

(published on february 18, 2009)

June 4, 2008 

(published on March 11, 2009)

January 26, 2009  

(published on february 2, 2009)

february 24, 2009  

(published on March 2, 2009)

february 24, 2009  

(published on March 2, 2009)

September 4, 2009  

(published on September 8, 2009)

September 4, 2009  

(published on September 8, 2009)

September 4, 2009  

(published on September 8, 2009)

September 25, 2009  

(published on September 29, 2009)

October 28, 2009 

(published on October 30, 2009)

December 8, 2009 

(published on December 18, 2009)

See business register at https://www.unternehmensregister.de

Content

withdrawal of the following voting rights disclosure of October 24, 2007: 

the voting share of alken asset Management LLP exceeded the threshold of three percent.

 

the voting share of Virmont S.á.r.l. exceeded the threshold of three percent. 

correction of the voting rights disclosure of October 24, 2007: 

the voting share of alken fund SIcaV exceeded the threshold of three percent.

correction of the voting rights disclosure of January 29, 2008:  

the voting share of Baring asset Management Limited fell below the threshold of three percent.

the voting share of MassMutual holdings (Bermuda) Limited fell below the threshold of three percent. 

the voting share of MassMutual Baring holding LLc fell below the threshold of three percent. 

the voting share of MassMutual holding LLc fell below the threshold of three percent.

correction of the voting rights disclosure of January 29, 2008:  

the voting share of Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance company fell below the threshold of three percent. 

withdrawal of the following voting rights disclosure of June 9, 2008:  

the voting share of alken asset Management LLP exceeded the threshold of five percent.

the voting share of Virmont S.á.r.l. exceeded the threshold of five percent.

correction of the voting rights disclosure of June 20, 2008:  

the voting share of alken fund SIcaV exceeded the threshold of five percent.

the voting share of DwS Investment Gmbh fell below the threshold of five percent.

the voting share of Virmont S.á.r.l.fell below the threshold of five percent.

the voting share of alken fund SIcaV fell below the threshold of five percent.

the voting share of fIL Investments International exceeded the threshold of three percent.

the voting share of fIL Investment Management Limited exceeded the threshold of three percent. 

the voting share of fIL Limited exceeded the threshold of three percent. 

the voting share of DwS Investment Gmbh fell below the threshold of three percent. 

the voting share of DwS Investment Gmbh exceeded the threshold of three percent.

the voting share of DwS Investment Gmbh fell below the threshold of three percent.

chanGinG voTinG shares PursuanT To secTion 26 (1) oF The securiTies TraDinG acT (wPhG):
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Software AG deals with risks and opportunities responsibly, aided by 
an opportunity and risk management process that identifies and mon- 
itors all significant risks and opportunities. It is consistently refined 
and adjusted to correspond to changing conditions.

We present our risk management concept in the Risk and Opportunities 
Report. Opportunities that are strategic to the company are described 
in the Outlook section of the Management Report. Please refer to the 
Notes for information on Group accounting.

DirecTor’s DeaLinGs
No reportable transactions were announced in the 2009 calendar year.

2009 DecLaraTion oF coMPLiance PursuanT To secTion 161  
oF The GerMan sTocK corPoraTion acT (aktG)
On December 17, 2009, the executive and Supervisory Boards of  
Software AG submitted a declaration of compliance pursuant to 
section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). the Company  
follows all recommendations of the government commission’s German  
Corporate Governance Code dated June 6, 2008 and of the revised 
version dated June 18, 2009 with the following exception:
Section 3.8. D&O liability insurance: upon expiration of the existing D&O  
policy, on January 1, 2010, the deductible will be adjusted to ten percent 
of the claim amount or a maximum of one-and-a-half times the fixed 
annual compensation of the member of the executive Board. A similar 
deductible has also been agreed upon for the D&O policy for the Super- 
visory Board and will take effect on January 1, 2010. 
the executive Board and the Supervisory Board intend to comply with 
the Code (as drafted on June 18, 2009) in the future as well. 

Software AG implements the recommendations of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code. Separate preparation of Supervisory Board 
meetings by shareholder or employee representatives does not take 
place in a formal sense. 

Additional details can be found on the Internet at www.softwareag.com 
under Investors. the current version of the German Corporate Governance 
Code published by the Commission of the German Corporate Governance 
Code can be found in english at www.corporate-governance-code.de/
index-e.html.

FinanciaL rePorTinG sTanDarDs anD auDiTinG
the 2009 Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting has again appointed BDO 
Deutsche Warentreuhand Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, as 
Company auditor. 

BDO advises the Company on individual tax matters in connection 
with tax returns and tax audits. No business, financial, personal, or 
other relationships that could cast doubt on the independence of 
the audit firm have existed at any time between BDO, its corporate 
bodies, or audit managers and Software AG or the members of its 
corporate bodies. 

Pursuant to the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting resolution, the Super-
visory Board, represented by the chairman of the Audit Committee, 
has appointed the auditor and agreed on the fee. In connection with 
the awarding of the contract, the chairman of the Audit Committee 
has also agreed with the auditor to comply with the reporting duties 
pursuant to the German Corporate Governance Code. BDO participates 
in meetings of the Supervisory Board‘s Audit Committee concerning 
the financial statements and consolidated financial statements and 
reports on key audit findings.

reMuneraTion rePorT 
the remuneration report is prepared in accordance with the recom-
mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code and contains 
the information required by the German Commercial Code (hGB) and 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). It is a part of 
the audited consolidated financial statements. As in 2008, the remu-
neration report was prepared pursuant to the provisions of the new 
German financial reporting standard No. 17 (DRS 17). 

the remuneration report provides details on remuneration amounts 
and the structure of the remuneration system for the executive and 
Supervisory Boards. Remuneration of board members is reported as 
total amounts, while stating the proportion of the individual remu-
neration components to one another, and the total figure is broken 
down into fixed payments, performance-related components, and 
long-term incentive components.
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in € 

 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent 

 GBP 

 EUr

Mark Edwards 

 GBP 

 EUr

holger friedrich* (until March 13, 2009)

Dr. Peter kürpick

Ivo totev (since March 13, 2009)

arnd Zinnhardt

Other  

remuneration 

components *

34,210.93

31,567.19

35,024.18

45,261.24

50,785.21

1,111,410.18

30,966.51

23,542.84

28,467.45

Variable 

remuneration / 

bonuses

2,348,814.65

489,507.94

558,773.50

926,280.41

1,057,349.45

0.00

917,293.53

424,666.67

1,513,680.55

Fixed  

remuneration 

450,000.00

168,000.00

188,576.62

161,497.45

181,277.76

62,499.99

200,000.04

200,268.78

231,999.96

 

 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

 

granted options 

in 2009

No. of options

0

0

0

remaining term 

of options

years

2.5

2.5

2.5

Fair value of 

stock option at 

grant time

in €

8.63

8.36

8.34

average  

base price

in €

22.43

22.33

21.31

Balance on 

Jan. 1, 2009

No. of options

9,375 

2,808 

2,184

sTocK oPTion awarDs FroM The ManaGeMenT incenTive PLan ii (MiP ii) (TaBLe 1)

variaBLe reMuneraTion / Bonuses
Individual executive Board members are paid a bonus based on the 
Group‘s sales and earnings performance. In addition, a variety of 
quantitative and qualitative targets have been agreed on depending 
on area of responsibility. the bonuses are calculated based on the 
extent to which targets are achieved.

MeDiuM anD LonG-TerM reMuneraTion coMPonenTs
a) Stock option program
the stock option plan (Management Incentive Plan II) has been in 
existence since 2001. No new options have been issued in conjunction 

with this program since January 1, 2005. As of December 31, 2009, 
860 (2008: 14,367) subscription rights had been issued to executive 
Board members. the plan will continue until the end of 2011. the 
conditions for exercising options were again met in fiscal 2009. Net 
revenue rose by more than 10 percent over the previous year, and 
profit from ordinary activities surpassed 10 percent of sales. the 
exercise price averaged €49.37 (2007: €49.64) for all persons eligible  
to exercise options in the year under review.

execuTive BoarD reMuneraTion PursuanT To secTion 314 (1) 
no. 6a GerMan coMMerciaL coDe (hGB) 
Remuneration of active executive Board members for fiscal 2009 is 
composed as follows:

* €1,102 thousand of holger Friedrich’s other remuneration components is compensation associated with the end of his Board service.
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karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

 

Base price

in €

26.47

23.89

0

remaining term 

of options

years

1.8 

2.0 

0

Of which were 

exercisable

No. of options

625

235

0

Balance on 

Jan. 1, 2009

No. of options

625

235

0

sTocK oPTion awarDs FroM The ManaGeMenT incenTive PLan ii (MiP ii) (TaBLe 3)
expenses from 

MIP II stock 

options

in €

8,548.21

2,601.22

1,866.93

 

 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

 

average  

market price on 

day exercised

in €

48.47

52.01

49.86

average  

base price

in €

22.14

22.19

21.31

exercised  

options in 2009 

No. of options

8,750

2,573

2,184

Forfeited  

options in 2009

No. of options

0

0

0

expired  

options in 2009

No. of options

0

0

0

sTocK oPTion awarDs FroM The ManaGeMenT incenTive PLan ii (MiP ii) (TaBLe 2)

b) Phantom share plan
A portion of the variable remuneration is paid as a long-term compo- 
nent on the basis of a phantom share plan. As in the previous year, the 
portion accruing for fiscal year 2009 is converted into virtual (phantom) 
shares on the basis of the average share price of Software AG stock 
at the end of February 2010 less 10 percent. the resulting number of 
shares will become due in three identical tranches with terms of one, 
two, and three years. On the due dates in March 2011 to 2013, the 
number of phantom shares will be multiplied by the then-applicable 
share price for February. this amount is adjusted to reflect the amount 
(measured in percent) by which the shares outperform or underperform 
the tecDAX index and is then paid to the members of the executive 
Board. the adjustment for this out- or underperformance is limited to  
50 percent. the members of the executive Board receive an amount 
per phantom share equal to the dividends paid to Software AG share- 
holders prior to payment of a phantom share tranche. For the phantom  
shares due in 2010, executive Board members could elect to extend  
the shares due for a period of six years, rather than receiving a payment.  
During the extension period, the Board member has an opportunity 
four times per year (each time the Company’s financial results are 
announced) to demand payment of extended shares. the number of 
phantom shares is adjusted over the extended term by the amount 

(measured in percent) by which Software AG shares outperform or  
underperform the tecDAX index. the adjustment for this out- or under- 
performance is limited to 50 percent. At the time of payment, the number  
of shares is multiplied by the average price of Software AG stock on the  
sixth to tenth trading day after publication of the financial results. the 
members of the executive Board receive an amount per phantom share  
equal to the dividends paid to Software AG shareholders prior to pay-
ment of the phantom shares. Personnel expenses of €5,932 thousand 
(2008: €4,851 thousand) were incurred under this plan during fiscal 2009; 
these expenses are reflected under “long-term components“ in the table.

c) Management Incentive Plan III (MIP III)
An incentive program based on the performance of Software AG stock 
was initiated for executive Board members and managers in the third 
quarter of 2007. So far, 1,050,000 ownership rights have been issued 
to executive Board members. If performance targets are reached by  
June 30, 2016, the holders of these ownership rights are entitled to a  
payment of the value by which the Software AG stock surpasses the base 
price of €72.36. the performance target was defined as the attainment 
of Group revenues of €1,000,000 thousand with a simultaneous dou- 
bling of net income after taxes compared to fiscal year 2006 by no 
later than 2011.
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karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

holger friedrich (until March 13, 2009)

Dr. Peter kürpick

Ivo totev (since March 13, 2009)

arnd Zinnhardt

 

granted options 

in 2009

No. of options

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

150,000 

0

Base price

in €

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

72.36

–

remaining term

years

3.4 

3.4

3.4

3.4

3.4

–

3.4

Value of option 

at time of grant

in €

20.41

20.41

20.41

6.22

20.41

–

20.41

Base price

in €

72.36

72.36

72.36

72.36

72.36

– 

72.36

Balance on

Jan. 1, 2009

No. of options

300,000 

150,000 

150,000 

150,000 

150,000 

0 

150,000

sTocK oPTion awarDs (TaBLe 1)

 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

holger friedrich (until March 13, 2009)

Dr. Peter kürpick

Ivo totev (since March 13, 2009)

arnd Zinnhardt

 

expired  

options in 2009

No. of options

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

exercised  

options in 2009

in €

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Base price

in €

–

–

–

72.36

–

–

–

Forfeited  

options in 2009

No. of options

0

0

0

150,000

0

0

0

sTocK oPTion awarDs (TaBLe 2)

 

 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

holger friedrich (until March 13, 2009)

Dr. Peter kürpick

Ivo totev (since March 13, 2009)

arnd Zinnhardt

 

sTocK oPTion awarDs (TaBLe 3)
expenses from 

MIP III stock 

options *

in €

894,827.19

447,413.59

447,413.59

– 996,455.16

447,413.59

411,446.81

447,413.59

remaining term

years

2.4

2.4

2.4

–

2.4

2.4

2.4

Of which were 

exercisable

No. of options

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Balance on  

Dec. 31, 2009

No. of options

300,000

150,000

150,000

0

150,000

150,000

150,000

* these expenses amounting to €2,099 thousand (2008: €3,719 thousand) were reduced by hedging earnings amounting to €2,216 thousand (2008: increased by hedging expenses amounting to €775 thousand).
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karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent 

 GBP 

 EUr

Mark Edwards 

 GBP 

 EUr

holger friedrich** (until March 13, 2009)

Dr. Peter kürpick

Ivo totev*** (since March 13, 2009)

arnd Zinnhardt

 

LonG-TerM reMuneraTion coMPonenTs
expenses from 

performance 

phantom 

shares*

in €

1,475,754.94

657,149.43

1,317,298.27

– 55,555.56

894,705.83

334,814.81

1,307,926.22

Performance 

phantom  

shares

No. of options

14,460

4,935

7,929

– 1,115

7,624

4,030

12,865

Long-term 

remuneration 

components

in €

1,261,989.97

372,279.15

424,803.93

602,627.66

687,602.50

– 988,555.56

652,280.84

1,984,814.81

1,121,400.10

total remuneration for members of the executive Board amounted to 
€14,794 thousand (2008: €9,066 thousand) in the year under review.

the executive Board members received a total of 50,728 (2008: 71,962) 
phantom shares under the phantom share plan. 

Remuneration for former executive Board members totaled €190 
thousand (2008: €291 thousand). 

Pension provisions for former executive Board members amounted to 
€2,143 thousand (2008: €1,765 thousand). 

oTher reMuneraTion coMPonenTs
A member of the executive Board who resigns due to a change of con- 
trol within twelve months of such change and without good cause will 
receive a severance payment equal to three annual salaries based on  
the annual target remuneration most recently agreed and the average  
target performance ratio for the preceding three full fiscal years. In  
case of resignation, the above mentioned regulation is not applicable  
if the position of the executive Board member has only been altered  
marginally with the change of control. 

In the event of illness, five members of the executive Board will receive 
full pay based on the annual target remuneration for a period of six 
months. After six months, the variable remuneration component will 
be reduced by 1/12 for every month that follows. Salary payments will 
cease at the end of the term of the contract in any event. Any health in- 
surance benefits received by the Board member must be credited against 
such payments. In the event of illness, one executive Board member will 
continue to be paid 90 percent of his average after-tax annual remunera-
tion for the preceding three years for a period of six months.

In case of permanent disability, the employment contract of the executive 
Board member concerned will terminate at the end of the month in  
which the permanent disability was determined or at the end of the 
month in which the executive Board member has been incapacitated 
for work for an uninterrupted period of twelve months. In such a case, 
severance pay will be provided for one executive Board member in the  
amount of €158 thousand. Another member will receive severance pay-
ment equal to the member‘s total fixed salary for the remainder of the 
contract period, but not to exceed six months. the remaining executive 
Board members will receive no severance pay in such a case. From the  
time of their departure until completion of their 62nd year of age, the 
German members of the executive Board will receive a disability pension 
of €13 thousand per month, and the CeO will receive €19.5 thousand 

*  the expenses attributable to the fair value at commitment time are included in the long-term remuneration components. the expenses from the phantom share program were reduced by hedging earnings  

amounting to €5,048 thousand (2008: increased by €856 thousand in hedging expenses).

** the negative value of the long-term remuneration components is due to the withdrawal of the options from the MIP III program as well as the withdrawal of the entitlements from the phantom share program.

*** Ivo totev’s long-term compensation components include 150,000 stock options with a fair value of €11.00 each awarded in fiscal year 2009.
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in € 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent 

 GBP 

 EUr

Mark Edwards 

 GBP 

 EUr

holger friedrich

Dr. Peter kürpick

David Mitchell

arnd Zinnhardt

 

Other  

remuneration 

components

28,376.78

30,096.63

38,499.43

32,256.35

40,596.07

6,279.18

31,261.56

273,848.00

34,687.66

Variable 

remuneration / 

bonuses

1,883,018.36

446,692.66

465,838.63

845,262.43

881,491.74

87,500.00

690,578.47

0.00

1,203,694.65

Fixed  

remuneration

450,000.00

168,000.00

211,331.25

161,497.56

203,151.68

62,499.99

200,000.04

76,894.78

231,999.96

per month. the disability pension is increased annually by the percentage 
by which the consumer price index for Germany published by the Federal 
Statistical Office has increased in comparison to the previous year. British 
members of the executive Board are subject to the provisions of the 
Permanent health Insurance Plan applicable in the united Kingdom. 
under this plan, British members of the executive Board will receive 90 
percent of their average annual after-tax remuneration for the preceding 
three years until they reach the pensionable age of 60 years. this entitle- 
ment will be adjusted to reflect inflation in years in which the inflation 
rate is less than five percent. If the inflation rate exceeds five percent, 
the entitlement will be adjusted annually by five percent.
the Company maintains life insurance policies for five executive Board 
members. For four executive Board members, the insured amount 
equals €500 thousand in the event of death and €1,000 thousand in  
the event of disability. For one executive Board member, the insured 
amount equals four times his fixed annual remuneration.

the pension plan for members of the executive Board was revised and 
standardized at the end of 2009. Members of the executive Board will re-
ceive pensions for life after completing their 62nd year of age, regardless 
of their age when they joined the Company. For four members of the 
executive Board, the pension amounts to €13 thousand per month; the 
amount is €11 thousand per month for one member, due to crediting of 
pension benefits earned in england. the CeO‘s pension amounts to €19.5  
thousand per month. the pension is increased annually by the percen-
tage by which the consumer price index for Germany published by the  
Federal Statistical Office has increased in comparison to the previous year.  
this pension commitment also includes a widow‘s annuity of 60 percent  
of the executive Board member’s pension. In the event an executive  
Board member leaves the Company prior to the age of 62, and before  

reaching the 15th year as a member of the Company’s executive Board,  
such executive Board member will still be entitled to pension benefits,  
but they will be reduced on a pro rated basis. In the event an executive  
Board member leaves the Company prior to the age of 62, but after  
reaching the 15th year as a member of the Company’s executive Board, 
such executive Board member will still be entitled to full pension benefits. 
In addition, executive Board members who have served on the board for  
more than three years can, at the discretion of the Company, be given  
the opportunity to waive portions of their future variable target remu- 
neration to finance additional supplementary benefits. In such a case, 
the Company pays an annual amount corresponding to the amount 
waived, raised to the percentage of the average target performance 
ratio for the preceding three full fiscal years before the respective waiver, 
into a pension plan negotiated by the Company for the benefit of the 
executive Board member. this option has thus far not been granted to 
any executive Board member. In addition, all members of the executive 
Board are entitled to be provided with a suitable company car.

No additional commitments have been made regarding severance pay  
in the event an employment contract is not extended or a shareholder 
change occurs, nor regarding supplementary state benefit paid to un- 
employed people who enter self-employment or found a new business, 
continuation of salary payments in the event of early termination of 
employment, or interest on severance payments. there are also no 
entitlements to payments based on customary practice. 

Remuneration of executive Board members for fiscal 2008 is composed  
as follows. Due to the changes to the Corporate Governance Code made  
in fiscal year 2009, the previous year’s data was adapted according to 
the new regulations. 
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karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

arnd Zinnhardt

 

granted options 

in 2008

No. of options

0

0

0

0

remaining term 

of options

years

3.5

3.5

3.5

2.0

Fair value of 

stock option at 

time of award

in €

8.44

7.80

7.30

4.40

Base price

in €

20.38

10.82

13.58

9.73

Balance on  

Jan. 1, 2008 

No. of options

16,875

6,558

10,152

1,250

sTocK oPTion awarDs FroM The ManaGeMenT incenTive PLan ii (MiP ii) (TaBLe 1)

 

 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

arnd Zinnhardt

 

average  

market price on 

day exercised

in €

52.98

45.11

48.10

52.98

expired  

options in 2008

No. of options

0

0

0

0

average  

exercise price

in €

21.00

18.92

17.30

9.73

exercised  

options in 2008

No. of options

7,500

3,750

7,968

1,250

Forfeited stock 

options in 2008

No. of options

0

0

0

0

sTocK oPTion awarDs FroM The ManaGeMenT incenTive PLan ii (MiP ii) (TaBLe 2)

 

 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

arnd Zinnhardt

 

expenses from 

MIP II stock 

options

in €

10,551.99

4,100.74

6,348.07

781.63

Base price 

range

in €

15.72—26.47

16.47—23.89

16.47—22.93

–

remaining term

years

2.5

2.5

2.5

–

Of which were 

exercisable

No. of options

9,375

2,574

2,184

0

Balance on  

Dec. 31, 2008

No. of options

9,375

2,808

2,184

0

sTocK oPTion awarDs FroM The ManaGeMenT incenTive PLan ii (MiP ii) (TaBLe 3)
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karl-heinz Streibich 

(chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

holger friedrich

Dr. Peter kürpick

David Mitchell

arnd Zinnhardt

 

expired  

options in 2008

No. of options

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0

exercised  

options in 2008

No. of options

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0

Forfeited  

options in 2008

No. of options

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

125,000 

0

Value of option 

at time of award

in €

20.41 

20.41 

20.41 

6.22 

20.41 

20.41 

20.41

granted  

options in 2008

No. of options

0 

0 

0 

150,000 

0 

0 

0

Base price

in €

72.36 

72.36 

72.36 

72.36 

72.36 

72.36 

72.36

Balance on  

Jan. 1, 2008

No. of options

300,000 

150,000 

150,000 

0 

150,000 

125,000 

150,000

sTocK oPTion awarDs FroM The ManaGeMenT incenTive PLan iii (MiP iii) (TaBLe 1)

 

 

 

karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent

Mark Edwards

holger friedrich

Dr. Peter kürpick

David Mitchell

arnd Zinnhardt

 

sTocK oPTion awarDs FroM The ManaGeMenT incenTive PLan iii (MiP iii) (TaBLe 2)
expenses from 

MIP III stock 

options*

in €

1,236,806.65

618,403.83

618,403.83

63,455.16

618,403.83

– 54,568.23

618,403.83

remaining term

years

3.4

3.4

3.4

3.4

3.4

3.4

3.4

Of which were 

exercisable

No. of options

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0

Balance on  

Dec. 31, 2008

No. of options

300,000

150,000

150,000

150,000

150,000

0

150,000

* the figures from 2008 included hedging expenses.
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karl-heinz Streibich (chief Executive Officer)

David Broadbent 

 GBP 

 EUr

Mark Edwards 

 GBP 

 EUr

holger friedrich*

Dr. Peter kürpick

David Mitchell

arnd Zinnhardt

 

LonG-TerM reMuneraTion coMPonenTs
expenses from 

performance 

phantom  

shares **

in €

1,364,477.69

542,284.43

1,035,704.65

55,555.56

669,010.03

0.00

1,183,411.93

Performance 

phantom  

shares

No. of options

20,589

8,658

14,125

1,115

9,620

0

17,855

Long-term 

remuneration 

components

in €

1,055,191.13

388,291.42

438,582.59

642,305.59

726,678.41

988,555.56

494,429.48

– 2,654,334.80

915,103.01

* the value presented above of holger Friedrich’s MIP III options at commitment time is included in the long-term compensation components.

**  the expenses attributable to the fair value of the phantom shares at commitment time, amounting to €49.82 per performance phantom share,  

are included in the long-term compensation components. the figures from last year included hedging expenses.
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suPervisory BoarD reMuneraTion
Remuneration for Supervisory Board members is made up of fixed and 
performance-related components. Members receive additional remuner- 
ation for their work on the Committee for Compensation and Succession  
Issues, the Audit Committee, as well as the Nominating Committee. 
In addition to reimbursement of their expenses, members of the Super- 
visory Board receive a fixed annual remuneration in the amount of 
€25 thousand as well as annual performance-related remuneration of  
€2 thousand for each percentage point or fraction thereof in excess of  
five percent by which the growth of currency-adjusted net income has 
exceeded the previous year‘s figure (variable Remuneration I).
the figures reported in the consolidated financial statements in accord- 
ance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for the 
relevant fiscal year or fiscal years are utilized for calculating performance-
related remuneration. 

Furthermore, Supervisory Board members receive annual compensation  
based on long-term corporate profits in the amount of €200 for each 
percentage point or fraction thereof by which the growth in value of 
Software AG stock exceeds the growth of value of the tecDAX index 
for the same period (variable Remuneration II). Starting in fiscal year 
2008, the growth in value of the stock is assessed on the basis of a 
three-year comparison of the XetRA closing rates, and the growth 
in value of the tecDAX will be assessed on the basis of a three-year 
comparison of the index. 

reMuneraTion oF The chairMan/DePuTy chairMan
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives twice the remuneration 
stated, and the Deputy Chairman one-and-a-half times such amount. 

oTher arranGeMenTs
In addition, members of the Supervisory Board receive an attendance 
fee of €1,500 each time they participate in person in a meeting of one  
of their committees. Attendance fees are paid only once for multiple 
committee sessions occurring on the same day or for a session that 
takes place on consecutive days. the attendance fee is €2,500 for the 
committee chairmen. 

Remuneration is payable one week after approval of the financial state- 
ments for the year by the Supervisory Board or, if applicable, the Annual  
Shareholders‘ Meeting. Members of the Supervisory Board who were 
on the Board for only a part of the fiscal year will receive remuneration 
for each day during the first month of activity and one-twelfth of the 
annual remuneration for each additional month. 
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reMuneraTion oF suPervisory BoarD MeMBers For FiscaL year 2009 is coMPoseD as FoLLows:
in € 

 

frank f. Beelitz (chairman until april 30, 2009)

Dr. andreas Bereczky (Deputy chairman until april 30, 2009) (chairman since april 30, 2009)

willi Berchtold

rainer Burckhardt

heinz Otto Geidt (since april 30, 2009)

Monika Neumann

alf henryk wulf (Deputy chairman since april 30, 2009)

 

remuneration 

for committee 

work

5,000.00

6,500.00

4,500.00

1,500.00

0.00

4,500.00

3,000.00

Variable  

remuneration II

6,312.33

17,674.52

9,600.00

9,600.00

6,470.14

9,600.00

12,861.37

Variable  

remuneration I

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

Fixed  

remuneration 

16,438.36

46,027.40

25,000.00

25,000.00

16,849.32

25,000.00

33,493.15

in € 

 

frank f. Beelitz (chairman)

willi Berchtold (since april 29, 2008)

Dr. andreas Bereczky (Deputy chairman)

rainer Burckhardt

Justus Mische (until april 29, 2008)

Monika Neumann

alf henryk wulf

 

remuneration 

for committee 

work

7,500.00

1,500.00

5,500.00

1,500.00

3,000.00

4,500.00

3,000.00

Variable  

remuneration II

17,200.00

5,780.33

12,900.00

8,600.00

2,819.67

8,600.00

8,600.00

Variable  

remuneration I

64,000.00

21,508.20

48,000.00

32,000.00

10,491.80

32,000.00

32,000.00

Fixed  

remuneration 

50,000.00

16,803.28

37,500.00

25,000.00

8,196.72

25,000.00

25,000.00

reMuneraTion oF suPervisory BoarD MeMBers For FiscaL year 2008 is coMPoseD as FoLLows:

total remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board amounted to €285 thousand (2008: €519 thousand) in the year under review.
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Fiscal year 2009 at Software AG was dominated by the acquisition of 
 IDS Scheer AG. Because of this acquisition, Software AG will not only 
exceed €1 billion in revenues, but it will also become the largest 
provider of comprehensive, integrated business process management 
offerings, thanks to the resulting expansion of the product and service 
lines. the acquisition of IDS Scheer AG is therefore a major step toward 
securing Software AG’s future. At the same time, the financial crisis 
required Software AG to be extremely aware of costs and make rapid, 
flexible decisions about measures needed to minimize the effects of 
the recession. Despite the financial crisis, Software AG succeeded in  
increasing revenues as expected in 2009 and reported results excee-
ding expectations.

coLLaBoraTion BeTween The execuTive BoarD  
anD suPervisory BoarD
In fiscal year 2009, the Supervisory Board fulfilled all duties required 
of it by law and the Company‘s Articles of Incorporation. It advised the 
executive Board in running the company and supervised its manage-
ment. In doing so, the Supervisory Board was directly involved in all 
key decisions about Software AG. via oral and written reports, the 
executive Board informed the Supervisory Board regularly, compre- 
hensively, and promptly about all important aspects of planning, 
business development, the risk situation, and risk management, as 
well as compliance and was available to the Supervisory Board in 
meetings for questions and discussions. Deviations from planned 
business developments were explained in detail. 

the Supervisory Board Chairman was in regular contact with the CeO  
and consulted with him about Software AG’s strategy, business 
development, and risk management. the CeO informed him imme-
diately of important occurrences. the close cooperation between the 
executive Board and Supervisory Board is based on trust and an  
open, constructive dialog.

these deliberations addressed the Company’s strategic direction and 
measures for the implementation of strategies and risk management. 

the Supervisory Board analyzed ongoing business development in 
detail with the executive Board. Any transactions requiring Supervisory 
Board approval in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation or 
applicable legislation were reviewed and approved, where appropri-
ate. Relevant documents for decision-makers were forwarded to the 
Supervisory Board in due time before the meeting.

suPervisory BoarD MeeTinGs
the Supervisory Board held six ordinary and five extraordinary meet-
ings during the year under review. At least one session took place 
each quarter. three times, the Supervisory Board took advantage of 
the option permitted by the Articles of Incorporation to hold meetings 
by telephone. All members of the Supervisory Board attended all ses- 
sions, with one exception, in which case the ballot was cast in writing.

At the meeting on January 23, 2009, the Supervisory Board decided 
to extend David Broadbent’s executive Board membership for an 
additional five years, from January 8, 2010 to January 7, 2015. the 
Supervisory Board further decided to change the remuneration sys-
tem for members of the executive Board to allow an executive Board 
member whose phantom shares are due to elect to extend them for  
a maximum of six additional years, rather than being paid out.

the extraordinary meeting of February 25, 2009, which took place by  
telephone, dealt with taking over a majority share in itCampus 
Software- und Systemhaus Gmbh. After exhaustive debate about the 
benefits of purchasing the shares in itCampus, the Supervisory Board 
agreed to acquire the shares.

At the accounts meeting on March 13, 2009, in the presence of 
auditors, the 2008 annual financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements were discussed and approved on the recommen- 
dation of the Audit Committee after it performed an audit. the Super- 
visory Board approved the proposals for the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting agenda. In this regard, the Supervisory Board agreed to the 
Nomination Committee’s proposal to nominate heinz Otto Geidt for 

RePORt OF the SuPeRvISORy BOARD
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DR. ANDReAS BeReCZKy 
Chairman of the  
Supervisory Board

election as the successor to Frank F. Beelitz, who stepped down at the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
presented the results of the survey distributed in January 2009 to the 
members of the Supervisory Board regarding the efficiency of the 
Supervisory Board’s work. the crisis response program was introduced 
to the Supervisory Board. this program enables the Company to monitor 
cost trends in real time and introduce any necessary measures in a 
prompt and focused manner. Subsequently, the Supervisory Board 
decided to appoint Ivo totev, SvP of Global Marketing and Product 
Marketing, as a member of the executive Board for a period of three 
years, until March 12, 2012 to replace retiring member holger Friedrich.

On April 30, 2009, a meeting was held before and after the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting. Prior to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the 
results of the first quater of 2009 were presented. After the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting, at the end of which the Chairman of the Super- 
visory Board left the Company’s Supervisory Board, the Supervisory 
Board constituted itself and elected a new Chairman, his Deputy 
Chairman, and the Committee members. 

the extraordinary meeting on June 27, 2009 focused on preparations 
leading to the submission of a takeover bid for IDS Scheer AG. the 
Supervisory Board discussed the effects of acquiring IDS Scheer AG on 
Software AG’s strategy, details of the deal and the target company’s 
finances, transaction financing, aspects of the integration, and indivi-
dual steps for the acquisition. the Supervisory Board was convinced 
of this acquisition’s great strategic significance to Software AG and 
approved—subject to satisfactory due diligence results—the presenta-
tion of a takeover bid to IDS Scheer AG shareholders for all shares at 
a purchase price of €15 per share. At this meeting, the Supervisory 
Board approved the acquisition of teconomic AG as well.

In an extraordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board on July 9, 2009, 
the results of the due diligence conducted on IDS Scheer AG were 
presented, along with the details of the transaction’s financing. 

Following extensive debate, the Supervisory Board confirmed its 
decision of June 27 to present a takeover bid to IDS Scheer AG 
shareholders.

At the ordinary meeting on July 31, 2009, the Supervisory board was 
presented with and approved of the bid documents for the takeover  
bid to acquire all shares of IDS Scheer AG at a purchase price of 
€15 per share, along with the financing structure and conditions. In 
addition, the Supervisory Board discussed the financial results for the 
second quarter of 2009 and Software AG’s risk control system. the 
Supervisory Board was satisfied with the effectiveness of Software 
AG’s risk control system. 

A potential cooperation was discussed at the extraordinary meeting 
on October 2, 2009.

At the meeting on October 27, 2009, the Supervisory Board conducted 
an extensive audit of the remuneration system for the members of 
the Software AG executive Board. the Supervisory Board examined 
the entire system consisting of the system to establish annual remu-
neration, the stock option plan geared toward long-term company 
development, and the pension plan for executive Board members, 
as well as the individual components. It assured itself by conducting 
external and internal comparisons and examining the development 
of the rates of executive Board remuneration that Software AG’s 
executive Board remuneration system conforms to the requirements 
set by the German Act on the Appropriateness of Management Board 
Remuneration (vorstAG). the Supervisory Board is convinced that 
the executive Board remuneration at Software AG is commensurate 
with the role and work of the executive Board members and the 
Company’s situation and does not exceed the prevailing remuneration. 
the executive Board remuneration system decided by the whole board 
in late 2003 is geared in an exemplary fashion toward long-term 
company development. the system includes, along with fixed and 
variable remuneration components, commensurate long-term and 
short-term incentives, as well as an upper limit, and responds to both 

Software AG Annual Report 2009 45

1 |01_ thE cOMPaNY  |  rEPOrt Of thE SUPErVISOrY BOarD



positive and negative developments at the Company. In light of the 
significance of the available data, the Supervisory Board decided not 
to consult an external consultant to review the appropriateness of 
executive Board remuneration. the executive Board and Supervisory 
Board of Software AG will present the executive Board remuneration 
system to the 2010 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for approval.

At the meeting on November 6, 2009, third quarter financial results 
were discussed. 

At the last meeting of 2009, on December 17, 2009, the Supervisory 
Board approved the 2010 financial plan, which contains consolidated 
figures for Software AG and IDS Scheer AG.

coMMiTTees
to fulfill its duties efficiently, the Supervisory Board established three 
committees to prepare the Supervisory Board’s resolutions and the 
topics to be discussed by the plenum. Decision-making powers were 
transferred to the committees to the extent allowable. the committee 
chairmen reported to the plenum about the results of the committee 
meetings.

the Committee for Compensation and Succession Issues prepares 
human resources decisions made by the Supervisory Board, to the 
extent that they affect the appointment, reappointment, or dismissal 
of executive Board members. It has four members and was chaired  
by Frank F. Beelitz until April 30, 2009. Dr. Andreas Bereczky has been 
chairman of the Committee since April 30, 2009. the Committee for 
Compensation and Succession Issues met three times in fiscal year 
2009. It dealt with human resources issues for the executive Board 
and actively consulted on the remuneration system for members of 
the executive Board in its entirety, as well as individual components 
of it. the proposals developed by the Committee regarding the remu- 
neration system were reviewed and decided on before the German 
Act on the Appropriateness of Management Board Remuneration took 
effect.

the Auditing Committee dealt with issures related to financial reporting 
standards, auditing, risk management, and strategy. the Committee has 
four members. Dr. Andreas Bereczky was chairman of the Committee 
until April 30, 2009. Willi Berchtold took the chair on April 30, 2009. 
the Auditing Committee met once in fiscal year 2009 and, in the pre- 
sence of auditors, dealt with the annual financial statements and the 
management report, the consolidated financial statements and Group 
management report, Software AG’s risk management system, and the 
executive Board’s proposal on the appropriation of profits.

the Nominating Committee consists of the four representatives of the 
capital shareholders. It was chaired by Frank F. Beelitz until April 30, 
2009. Dr. Andreas Bereczky took the chair on April 30, 2009. the Com-
mittee met once in fiscal year 2009 to consult on a possible successor 
for Frank F. Beelitz, who resigned as a member of the Supervisory Board 
at the 2009 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

annuaL auDiTinG
In accordance with a resolution adopted at the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Supervisory Board appointed BDO Deutsche Warentreu-
hand Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, to audit the financial 
statements and the consolidated financial statements of Software AG 
for fiscal year 2009. 

BDO Deutsche Warentreuhand Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, 
examined the financial statements, consolidated financial statements, 
and management report for the year ended December 31, 2009, 
including the accounting books and records. the auditors issued an 
unqualified audit option. 

the audit reports were presented to the Supervisory Board, and the head  
of the audit team explained the results in person to the Audit Committee. 
the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board thoroughly reviewed 
the audit results in their meeting of March 13, 2009. the Supervisory 
Board concurs with the results of the audit and approves the financial 
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statements and consolidated financial statements. this constitutes 
formal approval and acceptance of the annual financial statements. 
We, the Supervisory Board, concur with the recommendation of the 
executive Board with respect to the appropriation of profits.

GerMan corPoraTe Governance coDe
the Supervisory Board continuously held detailed deliberations on the 
subject of corporate governance and the German Corporate Governance 
Code in the course of several meetings during fiscal year 2009. the 
Supervisory Board and executive Board took the necessary steps to 
comply with the recommendations of the Code during the year under 
review, with one exception. Remuneration of executive and Supervisory  
Board members is again reported individually for fiscal year 2009.  
(For further information, refer to the Remuneration Report, p. 33.) 
Conflicts of interest on the part of members of the Supervisory Board 
did not arise. No agreements were concluded with members of the 
Supervisory Board.

Detailed reports from the executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
about the implementation of the German Corporate Governance Code  
can be found in the Corporate Governance Report (refer to p. 30). this  
declaration of compliance has been made public on the Company’s 
website.

chanGes To The execuTive BoarD anD suPervisory BoarD
the following personnel changes took place on the executive Board 
and Supervisory Board of Software AG in 2009: 

holger Friedrich left the Company by mutual agreement on March 13, 
2009. effective March 13, 2009, Ivo totev was appointed as a member 
of the executive Board and took on global responsibility for the Global 
Consulting Services unit.

the term of office of Frank F. Beelitz ended at the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting on April 30, 2009. Mr. Beelitz had been a member of the 
Supervisory Board since January 1, 2000. upon the recommendation 
of the Supervisory Board, the shareholders elected heinz Otto Geidt 
as successor to Frank F. Beelitz. Mr. Geidt is the Director of Asset 
Management at Software AG Foundation in Darmstadt. 

the Supervisory Board would like to thank the outgoing members for 
their dedication and reliable cooperation.

the Supervisory Board would also like to thank the executive Board 
and all employees for their great dedication and their achievements 
during fiscal year 2009.

Darmstadt, March 2010

the Supervisory Board
Dr. Andreas Bereczky
Chairman

Please refer to page 120 of the Notes for more information about the 
members of the Supervisory Board.
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1 The soFTware aG GrouP

1.1 Business acTiviTies
Software AG is the world’s leader in business process excellence. For  
more than 40 years we have been providing innovations, starting with 
Adabas—the first high-performance transactional database—later 
webMethods—the SOA-based integration platform, including the first 
B2B server—and most reecently ARIS, the business process analysis 
platform. With the combination of ARIS and the webMethods platform, 
we are the first to offer completely integrated BPM (business process 
management) solutions covering the value chain from beginning to end.

Our industry-leading ARIS, webMethods, Adabas, Natural, and IDS Scheer 
brands comprise a unique portfolio which meets all the needs for pro-
cess management in modern enterprises today: Strategy, design, 
implementation, visibility, and monitoring of processes, SOA-based 
integration and data management, process-oriented SAP implemen-
tation and strategic consulting and services. 

With more than 6,000 employees and 10,000 customers in 70 coun-
tries around the world, we expect more than one billion euros in 
revenue. Our broad offering of software and services enables our 
customers to achieve their business processes faster. 

Software AG generates its revenues from the licensing of enterprise 
software and from maintenance and services in the etS, webMethods, 
and enterprise Process Innovation business divisions.
 

1.2 orGaniZaTion
the Software AG Group consists of three strategic business divisions: 
enterprise transaction Systems (etS), webMethods, and enterprise 
Process Innovation. the etS and webMethods divisions are supported 
by the Global Consulting Services (GCS) business unit.

eTs, webMethods, and enterprise Process innovation  
business divisions
With our data management (etS) business division we have played a 
vital role in the It landscapes of companies and government agencies 
around the world for many years. Software AG provides software solu- 
tions for mainframes and modernizes mainframe-based It systems. In 
this way, we ensure the long-term protection of customers’ investments. 
Adabas offers our customers a high-performance database that is able 

to process 320,000 calls or 80,000 transactions per second. For dec - 
ades, the Natural development environment has been the foundation 
of hundreds of thousands of software applications that make up the 
technical backbone of business-critical processes at large companies 
and government agencies. today, customers modernize their business 
systems with our help by optimizing their performance and opening 
up these business-critical systems to new environments such as the 
Internet and e-business. the etS business division includes technolo-
gies such as database management, application development, and 
application modernization. 

Our comprehensive webMethods offering enables customers to develop 
and run automated, flexible, and efficient business processes (business 
process management, BPM) by integrating data from existing systems. 
these processes can be used by internal staff and external business 
partners alike. this is achieved through Web-based programs that, as 
Web services, can be easily controlled and managed within a service-
oriented architecture (SOA). the rapid creation of new processes through 
the reuse of programs or parts of programs in these Web services, the 
control of these services, and the monitoring of all created services and 
applications in real time are equally important. In this way, It provides 
optimum support for the business development of an organization. 
the technologies in the webMethods business division include control 
software for service-oriented architectures (SOA governance), business 
process management (BPM), business activity monitoring (BAM), enter-
prise service bus (eSB), and B2B integration technology.

Our third and newest business division is enterprise Process Innovation. 
It is comprised of operations belonging to IDS Scheer which was acquired  
in the third quarter of 2009. According to market analysts, IDS Scheer 
is the global leader in business process management (BPM). Its software 
products and It solutions and services provide companies and govern-
ment agencies with one of the world’s most innovative and compre-
hensive BPM offerings. this division’s key software product is the ARIS 
Platform for Process excellence, an integrated solution portfolio for 
business process strategy, analysis, design, implementation, and con- 
trol. IDS Scheer also offers consulting expertise, which enables 
organizations to optimize their investment in strategic business and 
technological initiatives. Furthermore, it creates added value for cus- 
tomers in the implementation of service-oriented architectures (SOA) 
and BPM/BPA solutions, especially in an SAP environment. (For 
further information, refer to the Special Section on IDS Scheer AG 
takeover, p. 14.)

SOFtWARe AG GROuP MANAGeMeNt RePORt

the Software AG Group is managed globally by the parent company, Software AG, acting as an 
operating holding company. the financial position of the parent company is shaped by the financial 
position of the Group. For this reason, the executive Board of Software AG combines the management 
reports of the Group and the parent company into one report.
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Softtware AG Ländergesellschaften

our suBsiDiaries

Global consulting services (Gcs) business unit
In addition to our three business divisions —etS, webMethods, and enter- 
prise Process Innovation—Software AG also has the Global Consulting 
Services (GCS) business unit (formerly Professional Services). this unit 
implements customized It solutions based on our own products and 
thereby provides customers with further operational benefits for their 
business. GCS offers consulting on service-oriented architectures (SOA), 
business process management (BPM) and modernization as well as 
product-specific solutions. GCS is a Software AG-internal group. As 
such, it differentiates itself from other It service providers by having 
the best product expertise in the market thanks to close cooperation 
with development departments and proximity to customers. 

changed responsibilities
Ivo totev (formerly Chief Marketing Officer) was appointed to the 
executive Board on March 13, 2009, at which time he assumed 
worldwide responsibility for the Global Consulting Services unit. 

Group structure
Since the acquisition of IDS Scheer AG, the corporate structure of the 
Software AG Group consists of 118 subsidiaries worldwide. (For further 
information, refer to the Financial Statements, pp. 84–87.) Our largest 
subsidiaries are in the uSA, Spain, Germany, and the united Kingdom. 
Brazil is also becoming one of the most important sales markets for 
Software AG.

the Group’s structure underwent the following changes as a result of 
the acquisition of IDS Scheer: A third and new division, enterprise 
Process Innovation, was added to the Group’s two existing business 
divisions, etS and webMethods. It comprises operations belonging to 
the acquired company IDS Scheer AG. (For further information, refer 
to 1.2 Organization, p. 50.)

Major locations
Software AG has more than 70 locations worldwide. Based on number 
of employees, our largest locations include Darmstadt and Saarbrücken 
(Germany), Reston (uSA), Madrid (Spain), Bracknell (uK), Sydney 
(Australia), and Sao Paulo (Brazil).

1.3 MarKeT PosiTion
Software AG is the world’s leading provider of infrastructure software 
for business processes. Our merger with IDS Scheer created a global 
player in business process excellence solutions. the combination of  
the two technologically leading, complementary product port folios 
covers the entire business process excellence value chain. It is a unique 
mix in the global market that will ensure a sustainably strengthened 
position in an increasingly consolidated software market. (For further 
information, refer to Strategy, p. 8 and the Special Section on IDS Scheer 
AG takeover, p. 14.)
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As in the previous year, truffle Capital, a leading private equity firm, 
rated Software AG in the truffle 100 Ranking 2009 fourth among soft-
ware companies in europe. Among providers of enterprise Software AG 
in Germany, we ranked second only to SAP.

leading It and market research firm Gartner categorized us as a “leader” 
in SOA governance technologies. With our new versions of CentraSite 
ActiveSOA and webMethods Insight we further strengthened our leader- 
ship role in this space. Another survey conducted by Gartner accredited 
us with approximately 14 percent of this market, which is almost three 
points ahead of the company in second place. Software AG is thus the 
world’s leading provider of SOA governance technologies. We are also 
a global leader in the second component of infrastructure software, 
business process management (BPM). here, as well, numerous indus- 
try analysts have ranked our products in the “leader” quadrant.
this puts us among the top three largest providers worldwide in the 
market space for business process infrastructure, while at the same 
time being the largest independent vendor. In addition, ARIS by IDS 
Scheer is positioned as a vendor-neutral platform which supports the 
analysis, optimization, communication, and implementation of business 
process models. Organizations employ it to define strategic corporate 
goals, identify potential areas of improvement in their enterprise 
processes, and, if necessary, efficiently introduce, control, and monitor 
change processes.

1.4 corPoraTe sTraTeGy anD oBJecTives
Software AG’s success is based on a clear, long-term strategy and its 
consistent implementation and development. Our long-term vision is 
to become a global technology and market leader in infrastructure 
software. Because the trend in the mature software market is heavily 
leaning toward consolidation, we believe that successful software 
companies must realize size advantages by growing organically and 
through acquisitions. Software AG is committed to sustainable corporate 
growth through customer orientation, in-house research and develop-
ment, close cooperation with partners, staff development, and social 
responsibility. Our goal is to double our revenues every five to six years. 

In the wake of our strategic realignment from 2003 to 2006, the period 
until 2009 can be described as our “growth” phase. During that time, 
we were able to significantly accelerate our newly achieved profitable 
growth. Our growth was driven by organic growth through innovation, 
geographic expansion, new customer groups via partners, and growth 
through acquisitions. the phase from 2009 to 2011 is entitled “market 
leadership.” It will culminate in the achievement of our goal to reach 
one billion euros with dynamic earnings growth. Our growth drivers 
during this phase are customer-centric innovation, process excellence, 
partner-driven growth, and M&A portfolio expansion. the four compo-
nents of our corporate strategy enable us to achieve additional 
revenue in various areas. they complement and strengthen each other 
as well as compensate for each other’s risks. All four growth drivers 
were further developed in 2009 and contributed to Software AG’s 
overall growth. 

1.  Customer-centric innovation 
Customer-centric innovation is Software AG’s core business and  
is the ongoing development of our portfolio in a market-driven 
manner. As a highly customer-oriented leader of innovation, we 
continually improve and expand our customer offering. In 2009 we 
extended our portfolios in both the etS and webMethods divisions. 
We were ranked as a “leader“ on multiple occasions from top 
industry analysts. Collaborative development is a further compo-
nent of our strategic approach. (For further information, refer to 
Research and Development, p. 62.)

2.  Process excellence  
At the heart of our second growth engine is not just the develop-
ment of innovative products and solutions for customers, but also 
the continuous enhancement of internal processes. In 2009 we 
further digitized Software AG based on our own product portfolio. 
Optimized, automated processes for centralized contract approval 
and personnel administration based on SOA, BPM, and webMethods 
solutions contributed to the creation of a digital Software AG 2.0. 

3.  Partner-driven growth 
Our partner business also contributed to corporate growth in fiscal 
2009. Our network of partners, consisting of systems integrators, 
OeMs, resellers, and independent software vendors, bolstered 
business particularly in the webMethods and ARIS product lines. 
Our partners enable us to reach a broader and deeper market with 
our webMethods and ARIS products via their customer base. As a 
technology leader, Software AG is attractive to new partners and 
can therefore lay the foundation for sustainable growth. (For fur-
ther information, refer to Partners, p. 65.)

4. M&A portfolio expansion   
the focal point of our strategic development and future-securing 
activities in 2009 was our takeover bid for German software com-
pany IDS Scheer AG of Saarbrücken. the merger created a global 
player in business process excellence solutions with approximately 
one billion euros in expected annual revenues and more than 
6,000 employees. From a strategic point of view, this acquisition 
extends the value chain for Software AG and broadens our market 
reach. 

Please refer to the Forecast section starting on page 73 for our com-
plete 2010 financial targets, strategic opportunities, and the general 
outlook on further development of the Group. 

acquisition of iDs scheer aG
Software AG announced the takeover of market leader in business 
process management, IDS Scheer AG of Saarbrücken, Germany on 
July 13, 2009. the period for accepting the takeover bid began for 
IDS Scheer AG shareholders on August 17, 2009, with the publication  
of the bid documents. On December 31, 2009, Software AG held  
91 percent of IDS Scheer shares. A domination and profit transfer 
agreement was approved by the IDS Scheer AG extraordinary share-
holders’ meeting on January 8, 2010. Our goal is complete integration 
within the scope of a merger in the course of fiscal year 2010. We 
expect resulting cost synergies between 25 and 30 million euros  
after integration activities have been concluded.
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FINaNCIaL INDICatOrS
in € million

revenue

Licensing revenue

Maintenance revenue

consulting & service revenue

EBIt

EBIt margin in %

Earnings per share (diluted) in €

Operating cash flow

2009

847.4

269.9

310.6

262.5

218.2

25.8

4.91

200.5

2008

720.6

272.0

267.1

177.8

180.5

25.1

4.04

140.1

Change in %

18

– 1

16

48

21

+ 70 pts.

22

43

Our motives for the takeover can be summarized as follows: Software 
AG’s strong points—technological leadership in middleware products, 
financial strength, and global presence—complement those of IDS Scheer 
in modeling, implementation, and monitoring of business processes, 
its solid partnerhips, and a large consulting presence with approxi-
mately 7,500 customers. IDS Scheer offers extensive industry exper-
tise, direct access to vertical markets, and a strong position in the SAP 
consulting business.

the combination of the two technologically leading product portfolios 
covers all the links in the value chain for business process excellence: 
from analyzing business processes to modeling, implementing, and 
monitoring them, as well as measuring their performance. this end-
to-end coverage is unique in the global market, thereby sustainably 
strengthening Software AG’s competitiveness. Achieving critical mass 
in more key european markets actively improves our market reach. 
Furthermore, IDS Scheer’s consulting expertise increases our ability 
to implement our own products in industry-specific and large-scale 
projects. the merged company will gain importance throughout the 
world in the growth market of business process management (BPM/
BPA), emerging as a new, more powerful provider for integrating SAP 
solutions into heterogeneous application landscapes and giving cus-
tomers competitive advantages through more efficient, Web-based 
systems.

the merger will allow Software AG and IDS Scheer to achieve stronger 
growth. It will also globally expand and sustainably secure their market 
presence and the product and consulting expertise they have built up 
over many years. Both companies have strong brands, an excellent 
image around the world, and similar cultures. Because of IDS Scheer’s 
first-rate image as a consulting specialist and for the ARIS software 
platform, the name IDS Scheer will continue to be used as a consulting 
brand and to represent outstanding consulting expertise.

1.5 vaLue-orienTeD conTroL
We aim to achieve a sustained increase in enterprise value. to do this, 
we must continue growing profitably and increasing the financial 
strength of our Group. We use an internal information system in order 
to control these strategic goals. It provides us with relevant key indi-
cators, such as revenue, operating result (eBIt), eBIt margin, earnings 
per share, and cash flow based on IFRS reporting. value-oriented 
financial indicators relating to employment of capital play a minor role 
for us, as our commitment of capital is low and personnel expenses 
make up the largest expense block. As with most other companies in 
the software industry, eBIt is therefore the most important financial 
indicator for Software AG.

revenue and earnings monitoring—important basis 
We perform ongoing sales and cost monitoring as well as forecasting 
for the revenue areas of licenses, maintenance, and services. license 
revenue is the key growth driver of maintenance and services revenue. 
For this reason, we intensively monitor at all levels of management 
the development of license revenues from the initial customer contact 
to the signing of the license agreement. We also employ a multidi-
mensional matrix structure to continuously monitor the development 

of our eBIt margin. the matrix structure is divided according business 
divisions, revenue types, and regional structures within the business 
divisions. Furthermore, we constantly observe the operating margins 
of our service business with respect to specific projects, from the 
time a quote is prepared through to project conclusion. 
One of our most important goals is the ongoing improvement of sales 
efficiency, which we achieve through more highly qualified employees 
and larger projects. Our interregional sales and service structure offers 
significant additional potential for sales efficiency.

consistent cost-management optimization
All cost items in the Group are subject to stringent budget control. 
On a monthly basis we determine whether budgets were adhered 
to and ascertain how forecast costs have evolved. We use a dynamic 
budget model, ensuring that the cost budget remains flexible in 
relation to sales growth for all key components. We adjust the cost 
budget dynamically throughout the year in order to achieve or surpass 
our profit targets. 

customer-centric r&D management
Our long-term business success as a product enterprise in the soft-
ware industry is based on research and development (R&D). We 
therefore continuously adapt and develop our portfolio to meet the 
needs of our customers and to reflect business demands. to this end, 
we calculate the profit contribution of our products on an ongoing 
basis. We optimize our use of resources by combining purchases of 
technology and in-house development and by maintaining a balanced 
mix of high-wage and low-wage product development centers. (For 
further information, refer to Research and Development, p. 62.) 

cash flow management—an essential instrument
Receivables management has a significant effect on cash flow. At 
Software AG, receivables management is conducted locally and is 
subject to a variety of internal control processes based on stringent 
rules associated with bad debt allowances. In order to improve our 
receivables structure, we selectively sell certain accounts receivable. 
Software AG’s cash management, in contrast, is a centralized function, 
for which we use a global, standardized cash management system. 
this enables us to optimize our investment strategy and minimize 
investment risk. 

Our key financial indicators performed as follows in the year under 
review:
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CLOSINg rate (€1)
 

 

 

U.S. dollar

Brazilian real

Pound sterling

Japanese yen

Source: commerzbank

Dec. 31,  

2009 

 

1.4405

2.5097

0.8900

133.06

Dec. 31,  

2008 

 

1.3976

3.2574

0.9589

126.40

Change in %

– 3.1

23.0

7.2

– 5.3

aVerage rate (€1)
 

 

 

U.S. dollar

Brazilian real

Pound sterling

Japanese yen

Source: commerzbank

Dec. 31,  

2009 

 

1.3931

2.7705

0.8914

130.19

Dec. 31,  

2008 

 

1.4705

2.6714

0.7967

152.28

Change in %

5.3

– 3.7

– 11.9

14.5

2 unDerLyinG econoMic conDiTions

2.1 overaLL econoMic siTuaTion
General economic trend
In 2009 the global economy suffered the worst recession since 
World War II. In the wake of the massive collapse during the winter 
half-year of 2008/09, governments around the world implemented 
comprehensive measures to deter the global financial and economic 
crisis. Monetary policy was loosened to a great extent, including 
central banks’ drastic interest cuts. Colossal economic stimulus pack-
ages were designed to counteract the quickly collapsing economy. 
As a result, the first signs of recovery emerged in the second quarter. 
By the end of September 2009, the recession was on its way out, 
according to the International Monetary Fund (IMF). Nevertheless, 
because private households and companies were concentrating on 
consolidating their finances and reducing debt, an upswing was not 
immediately apparent in many countries. 

According to the Kiel Institute for the World economy (ifw), the 
global economy as measured by the real gross domestic product 
(GDP) shrank 1.0 percent year on year. the strongest national 
economies were, however, able to expand in the last few months  
of 2009 and did not end up losing as much as had been forecast  
at the beginning of the year. 

Performance of major currencies
the foreign currencies of greatest importance to Software AG are the 
u.S. dollar, the pound sterling, the Brazilian real, and the Japanese yen. 
On average the u.S. dollar was more stable compared to the previous 
year. Due to economic turmoil in venezuela, the venezuelan govern-
ment devalued its national currency, the bolivar, at the beginning of 
2010. the official exchange rate was adjusted from 2.15 bolivars per 
u.S. dollar to 4.30 bolivars per u.S. dollar. At the end of 2009 the 
exchange rate had been 5.97 bolivars per u.S. dollar in the parallel 
market. Due to the negative outlook for venezuela, we will use the 
exchange rate from the parallel market in the future. As a result of 
this conversion, the revenue and earnings contribution from our subsi- 
diary in venezuela will be considerably lower. In addition, it will be 
classified as a nation with hyperinflation. the resulting impact on the 
 Software AG Group is nevertheless of minimal consequence.

the following table shows the exchange rates of the currencies 
against the euro year on year:

usa
the u.S. economy shrank by a rate of 2.5 percent in the year under 
review. this indicates that the u.S. was less scathed by the financial 
and economic crisis than the euro zone (4.0 percent). this is remark-
able when considering that the recession originated in the u.S. the 
slowdown became evident in the first half of 2009. But by the third 
quarter of 2009, the GDP started to grow again, primarily a result  
of private consumption. the American economy found itself on its 
way out of the slump thanks to a bold economic stimulus package, 
recovery in the financial and real-estate markets, and an upswing in 
foreign demand.

europe
the financial and economic recession took a serious toll on the euro-
pean economy. the first quarter of 2009 was hit particularly hard. 
the european economy bottomed out in the spring and gradually 
started to emerge from the crisis mid-year. Growing exports and the 
implemented stimulus programs contributed to the upturn. In total, 
the euro-zone economy shrank by 4.0 percent. Due to its strong 
dependency on exports, Germany’s economy suffered extremely 
negative effects. thanks to the improved situation in foreign econo-
mies, growth rebounded as of the third quarter albeit from a very low 
starting point. As a result, Germany’s GDP fell by a rate of 5.0 percent.

asia
the Asian economy was also not able to entirely avoid the negative 
impact of the global economic climate. Most countries did manage to 
recover quickly however after the temporary collapse of exports. Bold 
monetary-policy measures and major stimulus packages had a posi-
tive effect on domestic demand here as well. Japan suffered deep-
ly from the crisis particularly because of the country’s export depen-
dency. Despite ongoing improvement in the Japanese economy since 
the spring, the country’s GDP declined by 5.6 for the full year 2009. In 
contrast, China was less seriously hit, and, thanks to a comprehensive 
stimulus package, achieved GDP growth of 8.6 percent in spite of the 
global recession. 

Latin america
latin America was slightly less affected by the global recession than 
industrialized nations. the region’s GDP fell 2.7 percent in 2009. But a 
positive growth rate for the current fiscal year is expected. Measures 
implemented by most countries even before the recession aided the 
situation. Financial systems were subjected to stricter monitoring and 
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national debt was reduced. Brazil’s economy, which grew by 5.1 per- 
cent in 2008 and shrank by 0.2 percent in 2009, is of great importance 
to the political and economic development of latin America. the 
Brazilian market was not hit as hard by the global recession as more 
established markets. the slump in industrial production at the begin- 
ning of the year has already signaled an upturn in the past few months. 

2.2 secTor TrenD
the ICt market in Germany (market for information technology, 
telecommunications, and consumer electronics) includes the It and 
telecommunications sector. the It market includes It accessories 
(hardware), software, and It services. the telecommunications sector 
consists of network infrastructure, telecommunications equipment for 
consumers, and telecommunications services. Software AG pertains 
to the software and It services market segments of the ICt industry. 

icT market
According to calculations by the european Information technology 
Observatory (eItO), the ICt market in the european union shrank  
2.2 percent to €718 billion in the fiscal year under review. the global 
recession had a less drastic impact on the ICt sector than other indus-
tries. In Germany, the ICt market decreased by 2.5 percent to €142 
billion in 2009, which was better than the overall economy. 

iT market
Gartner market analyst firm expects a five-percent decline in the global 
It market’s revenues in 2009. According to BItKOM, the It market in 
the european union shrank by 2.6 percent to €299 billion in 2009. 
Companies that were struck particularly hard by the recession, for 
example, auto makers and mechanical engineering firms, postponed 
It projects. Revenue from outsourcing services in the eu performed 
against the trend, growing 4 percent to €66 billion. the German It 
market decreased 2.6 percent to €65.4 billion. the It services market 
fell just 0.2 percent to €33 billion euros.

software market
the software sector is, according to the truffle 100 europe ranking 
from November 2009, an important growth engine for modern 
national economies. the importance of a high-performing software 
sector to the economy increases every year. the european software 
industry weathered the recession better than other sectors in the 
european market. the German software market fell to €14.6 billion 
euros, which was a contraction of 3.2 percent. Comparatively, the 
total German economy shrank by 4.9 percent. 

2.3 chanGes in LeGaL requireMenTs
there were no changes in legal requirements that would have had  
a significant impact on our business in 2009.

3  Business TrenD anD econoMic siTuaTion

3.1 suMMary oF Business TrenDs
Software AG’s business performance was successful despite a global 
financial and economic crisis and the worst recession since World War 
II. We once again reported the best fiscal year in the Company’s history, 
hitting new highs with all our major key indicators. We were once 
again able to achieve this through the systematic implementation of our 
growth-oriented corporate strategy. With the acquisition of IDS Scheer AG 
and the combining of the two product portfolios, we cover the entire 
value chain for business process management solutions and have 
broader access to the market as well as a stronger market position and 
a larger enterprise. the merger produced the global market leader for 
business process excellence with expected annual revenue of approxi-
mately one billion euros and more than 6,000 employees. (For further 
information, refer to the Strategy Section, p. 8 and the Special Section 
on IDS Scheer AG takeover, p. 14.)

In fiscal 2009, we also celebrated the Company’s 40th anniversary. 
Software AG was the first software company to be founded in europe 
—on May 30, 1969—and has become a leading international software 
company. the Adabas database we developed then is still the fastest 
database in the world. Dr. Peter Schnell, one of the Company’s found-
ers and long-time CeO of Software AG, established Software AG Foun-
dation in 1992. Software AG Foundation holds around 29 percent of 
Software AG’s shares.

Measures to counteract the global financial and economic crisis 
In the past year, Software AG proved that is well equipped for times 
of crisis, such as the continuing global economic crisis. We achieved 
this thanks to our robust business model with three different business 
divisions, our large base of existing customers with long-term mainte-
nance agreements in all industries, and our broad global presence. 
We also have a world-leading, innovative product portfolio that helps 
customers to reduce costs by making their It systems more efficient. 
Our global corporate structure is on the one hand scalable, and on the 
other, flexible enough to take account of regional differences. (For 
further information, refer to Revenue and earnings Monitoring–Important 
Basis, p. 53.)

At the start of 2009, we defined proactive measures in a 10-point plan 
to mitigate the effects of the global financial and economic crisis as 
effectively as possible and even emerge from the crisis stronger. 
Priorities here were an accurate situation analysis and committed action 
on the basis of this. We safeguarded cash flow and liquidity—among 
other things through stringent cost management—and focused on 
what was really important to our business. Operational management 
was based on our reliable management information systems. We 
also drew up plans for a range of crisis situations and their effects.

acquisition of three companies
Alongside organic growth, our Company strategy is based on external 
growth through mergers and acquisitions (M&A). In 2009, we strength- 
ened our business through three takeovers: German company  
IDS Scheer AG, German company itCampus Software- und System-
haus Gmbh (“itCampus”) and Swiss company teconomic AG. 
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We announced the takeover of German software company IDS Scheer AG, 
Saarbrücken, on July 13, 2009. At the end of December 2009, we held 
over 90 percent of the shares in IDS Scheer AG through SAG Beteili-
gungs Gmbh. An extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of IDS Scheer AG 
in January 2010 accepted a domination and profit transfer agreement 
within the scope of the integration. the agreement was entered into 
the commercial register on February 11, 2010. this enabled the opera-
tional business of the two companies to be integrated and revenue, 
cost, and sales synergies to be exploited. the merger has resulted in a 
global player for business process excellence with annual revenue of 
approximately one billion euros and 6,000 employees. (For further 
information, refer to the Strategy Section, p. 8 and the Special Section 
on IDS Scheer AG takeover, p. 14.)

We strengthened the area of Research and Development with a major-
ity interest of 51 percent in leipzig-based itCampus. We are thus 
increasing our capacities in the area of process automation in Germany. 
itCampus is a vendor of software and communication solutions for call 
centers, energy, medicine, and the public sector with approximately 
120 employees and high innovation potential.

On July 1, 2009 we acquired another company, Swiss teconomic AG. 
teconomic offers extensive It consulting services and solutions for the 
european financial sector. With this acquisition, we want to strengthen 
our position in the global market for the international exchange of 
financial data (SWIFt) and further expand our business activities in 
Switzerland. Financial institutes are currently facing significant chal-
lenges, which can be overcome with a flexible It infrastructure that 
puts them in an excellent position to cope with the sector’s forth-
coming re-regulation around the world. 

eTs
In our etS business division, we performed well: We developed new 
products that were well received by the market, acquired renowned 
customers and large projects, and achieved good results in licensing 
and maintenance revenues in a difficult market environment. Our 
business strategy focuses in particular on ensuring the further techno-
logical development of the traditional etS business division for exist-
ing customers with mainframes and on all platforms. this extends 
the lifecycle of successfully running systems, which are business-
critical in the financial sector, logistics, or the telecommunications 
industry, for example. In turn, Software AG is able to secure part of 
its client base, and thus safeguard maintenance revenue. to under-
line this strategy, we decided that the Natural project will continue 
to be developed and marketed autonomously by the etS business 
division. 

webMethods
In the past fiscal year, the webMethods business division developed 
particularly well. Over the year as a whole, it reported growth in 
revenue of three percent, despite the economic crisis and a market 
environment more problematic than that for etS. It was an excellent 
result in a crisis-stricken year such as 2009 compared to the industry 
as a whole. the improved contribution to consolidated earnings was 
due to continuously improved sales efficiency and the conclusion of 
more licensing agreements. 

the main new development in the webMethods business division 
on the product side was the market launch of webMethods 8.0. web-
Methods 8.0 offers new functions for all areas covered by the suite, i.e. 
for enterprise-wide integration, B2B, business process management, 
BAM, and SOA governance (CentraSite). Since Software AG’s acquisi-
tion of IDS Scheer, customers have also been able to combine web-
Methods 8.0 and ARIS thanks to compatible process models. 

A further innovation was the webMethods transfer product for secure 
data transfer within service-oriented architectures. At the CeBIt 2009 
trade fair, we showcased the new Community AlignSpace, a product for 
social communities on the Web. the product will belong to the busi-
ness process management (BPM) space. (For further information, refer 
to Research and Development, p. 62.)

Our partner business also made up a considerable proportion of rev-
enue growth in the webMethods business division: Our global and 
regional partners made an important contribution to the success of 
the Company in 2009, particularly in the webMethods business divi-
sion. (For further information, refer to Partners, p. 65.)

In 2009, our products were once again rated as leaders in their market 
segments by top industry analysts. (For further information, refer to 
Market Position, p. 51.) Our role as innovation leader also had a positive 
impact of the market share of the Software AG Group, for example in 
the area of SOA governance.

enterprise Process innovation
Since the third quarter of 2009, our new and third business division, 
enterprise Process Innovation, has comprised business of acquired 
company IDS Scheer AG. In the fourth quarter of 2009, the first full 
quarter with this structure, ARIS revenue posted the best result of 
2009. Maintenance revenue showed healthy growth at operating 
level. this positive development also applied to the business divi-
sion’s earning power.
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exChaNge rate VarIatIONS
 

 

 

U.S. dollar (USD)

Pound sterling (GBP)

South african rand (Zar)

canadian dollar (caD)

Japanese yen ( JPY)

Brazilian real (BrL)

revenue share  

in foreign  

currency in 2009  

in € million

201.3 

44.5

30.7

20.7

20.0

63.8

revenue share  

in foreign  

currency in 2009 

in %

24

5

4

2

2

8

SegMeNt rePOrt Q4 / Fy 2009 – eNterPrISe PrOCeSS INNOVatION (IDS SCheer ag)
in € million 

arIS product revenue

 Licenses

 Maintenance

External product revenue

consulting, services & other

total revenue

cost of sales

Gross profit

Sales & marketing

Segment contribution

* IFRS 

** Consolidation as of August 20, 2009

Fy 2009 **

as stated *

23.9

16.1

7.8

9.0

93.6

126.5

Q4 2009

as stated *

16.9

11.5

5.4

5.6

65.4

87.9

 

PPa

4.1

–

4.1

0.6

–

4.7

 

PPa 

2.6

–

2.6

0.6

–

3.2

 

Fy 2009 **

operating 

28.0

16.1

11.9

9.6

93.6

131.2

-83.3

47.9

– 22.4

25.5

 

Q4 2009 

operating

19.5

11.5

8.0

6.2

65.4

91.1

– 57.2

33.9

– 15.7

18.2

 

Global consulting services
During fiscal 2009, the It services of the Software AG Group were 
realigned under the leadership of executive Board member Ivo totev. 
the business unit is now called Global Consulting Services (formerly 
Professional Services) and has a new personnel structure and revised 
strategy. In the third quarter of 2009, new global service offerings with 
international contact partners were introduced, as was a new Web 
portal. this will help to achieve more efficient communication and 
more intensive knowledge exchange around the world.

the management of digital business processes involves the imple-
mentation of a process-oriented and flexible It structure that opti-
mizes business solutions and helps to achieve a rapid return on It 
investment. Alongside pure product innovations, process innovations 
are playing an increasingly important role in enterprises. For this 
reason, we restructured and strengthened the Global Consulting 
Services business unit in recent years and want to expand it into a 
further pillar of our Company.

3.2 overaLL sTaTeMenT on FinanciaL PosiTion
In 2009, Software AG continued its success and was able to report 
record annual figures for the third consecutive year. Compared to the 
previous year, Group revenue increased by 18 percent to €847.4 mil-
lion. Our operating result rose by 21 percent to €218.2 million, which 
represents an eBIt margin of 25.8 percent. the 16-percent higher 
maintenance revenue and 48-percent higher revenue in service and 
consulting resulting from the acquisition of IDS Scheer AG made a 
particular contribution here. As a result, we again generated profitable 
growth in a difficult global economic environment. 

the Software AG Group is on a firm footing thanks to the continuous 
increases in revenue and earnings in recent years. Ongoing process 
optimization improves profitability and ensures a constantly growing 
cash flow. We are investing some of this in new technologies and 
the expansion of our business. Our cost reduction plan, which we 
introduced at the start of 2009, also contributed to the renewed 
increase in earnings. Its full impact had already been felt by the third 
quarter of 2009. 

4 FinanciaL PerForMance 

4.1 revenue TrenDs
Group revenue rose by 18 percent to €847.4 million in fiscal year 2009 
(2008: €720.6 million). this includes the revenues of IDS Scheer AG, 
which were consolidated as of August 20, 2009. they will also be 
included in the annual report for the first time as the third business 
division.

In 2009, currency effects on revenue diminished further. this was 
partially the result of consolidating IDS Scheer AG, as most of its 
revenue is generated in the euro zone. Over the year as a whole, 
39 percent of revenue was attributable to the euro, 24 percent to the 
u.S. dollar. the total currency effect on revenue was 0.3 percent,  
or €2.5 million (2008: €28.2 million).

the share of revenue generated in foreign currency in fiscal 2009 
was as follows: 
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SaLeS By reVeNue tyPe
in € million  

 

 

Product

 Licenses

 Maintenance

consulting & services

Other

total

2009 

 

 

580.5

269.9

310.6

262.5

4.4

847.4 

 

2008 

 

 

539.1

272.0

267.1

177.8

3.7

720.6

 

Change 

in % 

 

8

– 1

16

48

19 

18

sales by revenue type
Product revenue, which consists of licenses and maintenance, is ex-
tremely important for a software company and boosts profit margin. 
Product revenue rose by 8 percent in 2009 to €580.5 million (2008: 
€539.1 million). Once again, the revenue driver was maintenance, 
which grew by 16 percent from €267.1 million to €310.6 million. 
license revenue amounted to €269.9 million (2008: €272.0 million), 
and thus reflected the difficult market environment and clients’ sub-
sequent caution in embarking on new projects. 

Revenue for services and consulting rose 48 percent to €262.5 million 
(2008: €177.8 million). Consequently, Global Consulting Services 
contributed 31 percent (2008: 25 percent) to Group revenue. this  
increase was primarily due to the contribution of IDS Scheer. 

revenue by business division
the webMethods business division is a clear growth driver for  
Software AG’s revenue. While the global recession persisted, the  
division’s total revenue increased by 3 percent to €324.9 million (2008: 
€315.7 million). Product revenue even improved by 5 percent to €219.9 
million (2008: €208.5 million)—an excellent level compared to the in-
dustry as a whole for this year marked by crisis. license revenue fell 
slightly from €115.3 million to €110.2 million, a drop of 4 percent. In 
the fourth quarter of 2009 we were able to double license revenue 
compared to the third quarter of 2009, in a period in which the global 
economy slowly started to recover. Maintenance revenue saw growth 
of 18 percent with a figure of €109.7 million, compared to €93.2 mil-
lion in the previous year. Service revenue fell by just 3 percent to 
€101.8 million (2008: €105.0 million). the greater contribution of web-
Methods to the consolidated earnings result was particularly welcome. 
thanks to an improved sales mix and greater sales efficiency, its seg-
ment contribution to consolidated earnings grew by 10 percent to 
€118.0 million (2008: €107.1 million). As a result, webMethods made 
its largest-ever contribution to Group earnings.

Revenue in the etS business division fell from €404.9 to €396.0 mil-
lion. the postponement of some license orders in Japan took its toll 
here. however, we are optimistic that we will be able to compensate 
for this revenue in the second half of 2010 or the first half of 2011. 
In contrast to this, Brazil developed well again and made a significant 
contribution to revenue. etS product revenue amounted to €327.7 
million and was therefore only marginally below the previous year‘s 
€330.6 million (–1 percent). the eight- percent increase in maintenance 
revenue to €187.9 million (2008: €173.8 million) compensated for the 
11-percent fall in license revenue of €139.8 million (2008: €156.8 mil-
lion). Service revenue fell eight percent from €72.8 million to €67.6 
million. In the fiscal year, the etS business division’s segment contri-
bution fell by one percent to €243.7 million (2008: €245.7 million).

the new enterprise Process Innovation (IDS) business division contri- 
buted €126.5 million to consolidated earnings in the consolidation 
period as of August 20, 2009. Of this, €23.9 million were attributable 
to ARIS product revenue. this comprised license revenues of €16.1 
million and maintenance revenue of €7.8 million. A further €9.0 mil-
lion in revenue was generated with external products, €93.1 million 
in the service and consulting business.

4.2 earninGs PerForMance
We were able to significantly increase our earnings again in 2009, 
particularly as a result of the two-digit growth in maintenance and 
the high degree of cost discipline. Both companies, Software AG and 
IDS Scheer AG, initiated cost reduction measures at an early stage 
and were thereby able to improve their margins during the crisis. 
Gross earnings rose by six percent to €547.1 million (2008: €515.5 
million). the gross profit margin fell from 71.5 percent to 64.6 percent. 
this was connected to the 46-percent higher cost of sales of €300.3 
million (2008: €205.1 million). Because we now have higher service 
revenue through IDS Scheer, our directly apportionable costs as well 
as revenues from external products are greater. 

Operating result (eBIt) for the year as a whole increased by 21 per-
cent from €180.5 million to €218.2 million. With a rise in revenue  
of 18 percent and an only moderate increase in costs, we were able 
to increase our efficiency further. thus eBIt margin saw a renewed 
improvement from 25.1 percent to 25.8 percent, which surpassed 
our forecasts for 2009. We were able to achieve this despite the 
following extraordinary items, whose balance reduced operating 
result by €2.9 million:

  Price earnings of €34.7 million from the repayment of long-term, 
Group-internal financing 

  Costs of €11.2 million from initiated restructuring measures with 
regard to, among other things, the forthcoming integration of the 
IDS Scheer Group 

  €10.6 million reduction in webMethods goodwill as a result of 
higher-than-planned use of tax-related loss carryforward from the 
period prior to acquisition by Software AG 

  Foreign currency losses of €6.8 million as a result of the devalua-
tion of the venezuelan bolivar 

  extraordinary effects caused by purchase price allocation in accor-
dance with the IRFS 3 accounting standards, which led to a re-
duction of €4.7 million in maintenance revenue and amortization 
of €8.6 million on the margin of purchased service agreements 

  earnings balance of €4.3 million in other one-time effects 

Net income improved by 22 percent to €140.8 million (2008: €115.9 
million). this was primarily the result of a higher operating result and 
another reduction in the Company’s tax rate, which fell in 2009 from 
34.0 percent to 32.7 percent for the consolidated Company. Because 
of credit financing for the acquisitions, net financial income fell from 
– €5.1 million to – €8.9 million. earnings before tax improved by 19 per-
cent to €209.3 million (2008: €175.4 million).
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Key earNINgS INDICatOrS
in € million 

EBIt

EBIta

Net financial income/expense

Net income

Earnings per share in € (basic)

2009  

as a whole

218.2

245.9

– 8.9

140.8

4.92

 

Q4  

2009

79.4

91.7

– 7.0

48.1

1.65

 

2008  

as a whole

180.5

195.0

– 5.1

115.9

4.05

Q4 

2008

54.9

58.2

– 0.6

35.2

1.23

Change  

in %

20.9

26

22

21

Change  

in %

44.6

58

37

34

COSt StruCture
in € million 

total revenue

cost of sales

Gross profit

 margin in %

research & development

Sales & marketing

Management & administration

Other 

EBIt

 margin in %

2009  

as a whole

847.4

– 300.3

547.1

64.6

– 82.2

– 192.4

– 70.7

 16.3

218.2

25.8

 

Q4  

2009

292.1

– 117.0

175.1

60.0

– 23.2

– 62.7

– 22.1

12.3

79.4

27.2

 

2008  

as a whole

720.6

– 205.1

515.5

71.5

– 76.2

– 177.1

– 65.1

– 16.5

180.5

25.1

Q4 

2008

212.4

– 57.8

154.6

72.8

19.5

– 49.2

– 17.3

– 13.7

54.9

25.8

Change  

in %

18

46

6

 

8

9

9

 

21

Change  

in %

38

102

13

19

28

28

45

4.3 cosT sTrucTure
At the start of 2009, Software AG launched a crisis response program, 
in which 10 points were developed and implemented. Cost savings 
totaling €20 million were largely restricted to administrative, sales, and 
marketing costs. In contrast, expenditure for research and development 
increased, and employee costs remained stable. As a result, we were 
highly profitable even in this year of crisis, and at the same time, laid 
the groundwork for the upturn. In the 2009 fiscal year, depreciation on 
intangible assets caused by acquisitions was, for the first time, not 
posted separately and was instead included in the function costs. 
the figures for the previous year were adjusted accordingly. As a result, 
the structures of the function costs changed slightly.

In the reporting year, the cost of sales increased by 46 percent from 
€205.1 million to €300.3 million. this was primarily connected with 
the acquisition of IDS Scheer AG and the resulting higher proportion of 
service revenue and subsequently higher directly apportionable costs 
and increased revenues from third-party products. In the webMethods 
business division, the cost of sales increased slightly from €115.0 mil-
lion to €116.4, and thus at a lower rate than revenue growth. In etS, 
the cost of sales fell from €83.2 million to €81.7 million, and thus in 
proportion to revenue. the enterprise Process Innovation business 
division reported cost of sales totaling €83.3 million.

In 2009, research and development expenses rose by 8 percent, 
from €76.2 million to €82.2 million. As a result of the integration of 
webMethods, which was concluded in 2009, the share of R&D ex-
penses in product revenue was practically unchanged at 14.2 percent 
(2008: 14.1 percent). 

Marketing and sales expenses increased by 9 percent to €192.4 mil-
lion (2008: €177.1 million). however, the share of marketing and 
sales expenses in total revenue was once again reduced, from 24.6 
percent to 22.7 percent. the sales expenses in the etS and web-
Methods business division fell significantly as a result of the cost 
reduction measures: from €93.6 million to €90.5 million in web-
Methods, and from €75.9 million to €70.7 million in etS. there were 
also sales expenses of €22.4 million for enterprise Process Innovation. 

General administrative costs also rose by 9 percent from €65.1 million 
to €70.7 million. this increased at a significantly lower rate than the 
Group’s revenue growth of 18 percent. the share of total revenue is 
now at 8.3 percent, again below last year’s at nine percent.

4.4 neT incoMe anD aPProPriaTion oF ProFiTs
net income
In fiscal 2009, the net income of the Software AG Group improved 
from €115.9 million to €140.8 million, a growth of 22 percent. this is 
due to the significant expansion of business and reduced costs. 
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CONSOLIDateD StateMeNt OF CaSh FLOwS
in € million 

Operating cash flow

capEx*

free cash flow

% of revenue

free cash flow per share (in €)

average number of shares (in million) 

* Net cash used in investing activities adjusted for acquisitions

Q4  

2009

73.6

– 5.0

68.6

23.5

2.39

28.7

 

2008  

as a whole

140.1

– 6.6

133.4

18.5

4.66

28.6

Q4 

2008

43.8

– 1.6

42.2

19.9

1.48

28.6

Change  

in %

43

83

41

41

2009  

as a whole

200.5

– 12.1

188.4

22.2

6.57

28.7

 

In the fiscal year, basic earnings per share rose by €0.87 from €4.05 
to €4.92. the average number of (basic) shares outstanding amount-
ed to 28,681,849 (2008: 28,599,020). the increase in the number of 
shares was due to the exercising of options by the executive Board 
and managers.

appropriation of profits
In the past fiscal year, we were once again able to significantly im-
prove profit and cash flow. Based on our ongoing dividend policy  
and payout ratio to date, an increase to the dividend would be logical. 
however, we are operating in an uncertain economic environment in 
which a reduction in dependency on bank loans is advisable. At the 
same time, we want to take advantage of the acquisition opportuni-
ties in the software market. Our net debt must therefore be reduced. 
the executive Board and Supervisory Board of Software AG will again 
propose to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting a dividend of €1.15 per 
share (2008: €1.10). this results in total dividends of €32.6 million 
(2008: €31.5 million) and a payout ratio of 19.8 percent (2008: 25 
percent). 

4.5 soFTware aG FinanciaL sTaTeMenTs
the financial statements of Software AG (parent company of the 
Group) were prepared in accordance with the German Commercial 
Code (hGB). Software AG’s revenue amounting to €210.6 million 
(2008: €203.6 million) resulted primarily from royalty income and 
management fees from subsidiaries. €20.1 million in income (2008: 
€25.9 million) was due to profit transfers and €100.8 million (2008: 
€38.2 million) to dividends from affiliated companies. Net income  
totaled €200.3 million (2008: €77.1 million).

5 FinanciaL PosiTion

5.1 caPiTaL exPenDiTure
Capital expenditure for property, plant, and equipment normally  
plays a minor role at Software AG. these investments totaled  
€7.6 million in fiscal year 2009, compared to €3.6 million in 2008, 

and primarily comprised operating and office equipment in the  
sales branches and the administrative headquarters in Darmstadt 
and Saarbrücken. 

Capital expenditure for financial assets rose slightly from €1.0 million  
to €2.8 million. Net expenditure for acquisitions rose significantly, from 
€38.9 million to €320.4 million, due primarily to the acquisition of  
IDS Scheer AG. to finance the purchase price of €443 million, Software AG  
is using borrowed funds of €329 million, acquired in the form of bank 
loans, promissory notes (€284 million), and a subordinated loan from 
majority shareholder Software AG Foundation (€45 million) with favor-
able terms. At the end of 2009, Software AG’s equity of total revenue 
amounted to €218 million. Bank liabilities will be repaid from the 
operating cash flow by 2012 or 2013, the subordinated liabilities in 2013.

5.2 consoLiDaTeD sTaTeMenT oF cash FLows
Cash flow developed particularly well again in 2009. Free cash flow 
for 2009 as a whole was €188.4 million, which exceeded the 2008 
figure of €133.4 million by 41 percent, as well as 2009’s net income 
of €140.8 million. Free cash flow was 22.2 percent of total revenue 
(2008: 18.5 percent). Free cash flow per share rose from €4.66 to 
€6.57. this strong cash-flow trend over the long term enables us to  
foster our strategic business development through liquidity and rap-
idly reduce net liabilities.

operating cash flow
In fiscal 2009 Software AG achieved €200.5 million in operating cash 
flow compared to €140.1 million the previous year. this 43-percent 
increase is largely attributable to Software AG’s organic growth.  
Cash outflows from investing activities increased from €45.5 million 
to €332.5, mainly as a result of the acquisition of IDS Scheer AG. 
Cash inflows from financing activities amounted to €259.4 million, 
compared to outflows of €76.3 million in 2008. A repayment of fi-
nancial liabilities totaling €41.2 million was set against new acqui- 
sition-related borrowing of €330.6 million. 
In total, cash and cash equivalents decreased by €121.2 million in 
2009, compared with a decrease of €15.6 million in the previous year. 
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NON-DerIVatIVe FINaNCIaL LIaBILItIeS
in € thousands

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Liabilities to financial institutions and other financial liabilities

 repayment

 Interest

trade payables

Other financial liabilities

Liabilities from finance leasing

Other non-derivative liabilities

Derivative financial liabilities

 

total

488,515

33,792

62,290

1,127

283

72,564

1,903

 

up to 1 year

 

197,308

13,724

62,030

1,031

177

71,497

1,839

1 to 5 years

 

286,845

19,722

260

96

106

1,067

64

> 5 years

 

4,362

346

0

0

0

0

0

5.3 FinancinG
the financial management of Software AG ensures that all Group 
companies are continuously solvent. Based on the guidelines ad-
opted by the executive Board, financial policy and risk management 
are implemented by the central treasury department. Active working 
capital management controls the Group‘s liquidity position centrally. 
Financial investments are essentially oriented toward the short term. 
We minimize default risk by careful selection of transaction partners 
based on stringent criteria and broadly diversified investment. the 
focus on short-term investment means that Group funds are invested 
at near money-market rates. Our central treasury department monitors 
the current risks for all Group companies and hedges them using de-
rivative financial instruments. In doing so, we only hedge existing 
balance sheet items or expected cash flows. high equity-to-assets 
ratio and a robust free cash flow create the basis for the Group’s 
organic growth and M&A transactions.

Liquidity and financing
In 2009, cash and cash equivalents more than doubled, amounting 
to €218.1 million at the end of the year (2008: €96.9 million). equity 
rose from €549.1 million to €647.5 million. As a result, the equity-to-
assets ratio was 39 percent (2008: 52 percent). Because of acquisi-

tions, net debt rose from €70.0 million to €272.0 million. however, 
we were already able to repay approximately €50.0 million in the 
fourth quarter of 2009. At the end of the year, non-current liabilities 
were €419.3 million, compared to €162.3 million at the end of 2008.

Financing instruments 
Software AG uses bank loans, finance leasing, and free cash flow as 
financing instruments. A financing risk arises from the possibility that 
the Company may not be able to satisfy existing financial liabilities, 
for example, arising from loan agreements, lease agreements, or 
trade accounts payable. the risk is limited by active working capital 
management and Group-wide liquidity control and is, if necessary, 
balanced by available cash and bilateral lines of credit. the bank 
loans used are predominantly at variable interest rates and have 
terms to maturity of no later than 2021. Partial amounts are convert-
ed into synthetic fixed-interest rate loans using interest rate swaps. 
the table below shows the contractually fixed payments arising from 
recognized financial liabilities. the values listed here show the undis-
counted liabilities. variable interest payments are based on the level 
of interest at the reporting date. liabilities in foreign currency are 
measured at the exchange rate as of December 31, 2009.
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5.4 asseTs
Software AG‘s assets increased by 56 percent to €1652.5 million in 
fiscal 2009 (2008: €1,060.0 million). Both current and non-current 
assets rose significantly, primarily as a result of acquisitions. 

Current assets stood at €597.2 million, 61 percent higher than in 2008 
(€371.4 million). Bank deposits, trade receivables, other receivables, 
and other assets rose.

At year end, our non-current assets amounted to €1,055.3 million 
(2008: €688.6 million). this is an increase of 53 percent year on 
year. All items except non-current financial assets and trade receiv-
ables increased in the period under review. 

off-balance sheet assets and financial instruments
In addition to the assets reported in the consolidated balance sheet, 
Software AG has off-balance sheet assets. these relate primarily to 
rented office space, leased company cars, and hardware. Off-balance 
sheet assets also include the Software AG brand name, which is  
an important intangible asset. the brand image was continuously 
enhanced in the year under review.

5.5 BaLance sheeT sTrucTure anD Key FinanciaL inDicaTors
As a result of the acquisition of IDS Scheer AG, the balance sheet 
and its key financial indicators have undergone considerable changes. 
In the year under review, the total assets of the Software AG Group 
increased by 56 percent to €1,652.5 million, compared to €1,060.0 
million in the previous year. Since the time of acquisition, the IDS 
Scheer Group has contributed €126.5 million to Software AG’s con-
solidated earnings. these figures take account of the effects of  
amortizing the acquired intangible assets and the revaluation of 
deferred income. 

On the assets side, the items changed as follows: Current assets 
increased significantly from €371.4 million to €597.2 million. Cash 
and cash equivalents rose from €96.9 million to €218.1 million, an 
increase of 125 percent. trade receivables increased from €247.3 
million to €330.5 million as a result of business expansion. Other 
receivables and other assets also increased from €21.2 million to  
€38.2 million. Prepaid expenses increased from €5.9 million to €9.6 
million. 

Non-current assets also rose considerably, from €688.6 million to 
€1,055.3 million. Goodwill, in particular, increased from €442.7 mil-
lion to €682.5 million. this includes goodwill of €247.0 million for 
IDS Scheer. the value of goodwill is regularly tested in an impairment 
test and is ensured over the long term by the future cash flows of 
the acquired business units. In 2009, the impairment test once again 
identified no need for devaluation.

On the liabilities side, current liabilities rose from €348.6 million to 
€585.6 million. Of this, financial liabilities amounted to €198.5 million 
(2008: €61.4 million). Deferred income rose considerably from €100.5 
million to €117.3 million. this relates to future maintenance revenues, 
of which the proportion paid in advance by customers was deferred 
in the balance sheet. the non-current liabilities, which contain the 
largest portion of debt financing for the IDS Scheer acquisition, 
amounted to €419.3 million (2008: €162.3 million). Financial liabilities 
increased from €105.8 million to €291.4 million. Deferred tax liabilities 
increased from €22.7 million to €66.7 million. this increase is due to 
carrying deferred taxes as a liability as a result of the purchase of IDS 
Scheer AG. equity rose from €549.1 million to €647.5 million. As a 
result, our equity-to-assets ratio is 39 percent (2008: 52 percent).

6 aDDiTionaL earninGs-reLaTeD FacTors

6.1 research & DeveLoPMenT
Innovation is one of the pillars of our long-term growth strategy. We 
can continue to grow profitably only if we continuously develop prod-
uct innovations that meet our customers’ current needs. that is why 
Research and Development (R&D) is a key department for Software AG 
as a software company. In addition, we place great value on close 
cooperation between Sales and Marketing, Services, and Research 
and Development.

Software AG’s investments in research and development in 2009 
amounted to 14.2 percent of our product revenue (2008: 14.1 percent). 
Because of its major significance for our company, the R&D depart-
ment was not affected by cost-cutting measures. As of December 31, 
2009, we employed 854 people in R&D, 31 percent more than at the 
end of the previous year; 14.2 percent of all employees at Software 
AG work in R&D. 

the R&D work of the two business divisions, etS and webMethods,  
is now the direct responsibility of executive Board member Dr. Peter 
Kürpick. Both product lines are tied closely together from the start of 
the process chain, in research and development, and downstream 
in product management. various products still have different require-
ments, so we will continue to pursue specific R&D strategies for the 
two business segments. they are closely linked to one another, how-
ever. 

In the fiscal year under review, we strengthened our R&D with a 
majority interest of 51 percent in leipzig-based itCampus Software- 
und Systemhaus Gmbh (itCampus). (For further information, refer to 
the Summary of Business trends, p. 57.)
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weBMethODS: r&D LOCatIONS/StaFF 

Germany

USa (San Jose, Seattle, Denver, reston)

India (Bangalore, chennai)

Bulgaria (Sofia)

Israel

total

 

Dec. 2009

109

122

154

53

15

453

In January 2009, Germany’s three largest software companies—SAP AG, 
Software AG, and IDS Scheer AG—initiated the ADiWA research project 
(Alliance for the Digital Flow of Goods) in conjunction with addi- 
tional partners. the aim of the project is to use all process-relevant 
information from the Internet of things to make corporate processes 
more flexible and adapt them dynamically, thereby recording and 
analyzing all events in a structured fashion. this enables automated 
planning, monitoring, and optimization of the entire business process 
with the flow of products and information to be done from economical 
and environmental perspectives. the research project is supported 
by a €17.7 million grant from the Federal Ministry of education and 
Research (BMBF). 

eTs
R&D is conducted for etS at five locations in Germany, the uK, Israel, 
Bulgaria, and the united States, to develop our product portfolio.  
As a result of this global positioning, we can effectively exploit cost 
benefits and the specific expertise of the individual countries, as each 
location specializes in certain products or product groups. We typically 
develop products on the basis of our customers’ needs. We regularly 
conduct needs analyses to determine their specific needs and derive 
product-improvement and innovation processes from them. Our actual 
development work therefore starts with the customer—to our mutual 
advantage. Our development work in 2009 focused on integrating etS 
products with webMethods. 

eTs linked even more closely with webMethods 
We introduced Optimize for Infrastructure: Mainframe edition in De-
cember 2009. With this new product, our customers can monitor the 
performance of several products, such as Adabas, Natural, entireX, or 
ApplinX, at the same time with a single view. In addition, Optimize for 
Infrastructure analyzes previous performance data to create forecasts 
of potential problems, enabling customers to efficiently fine tune their 
system performance. thus, a company’s It decision-makers recognize 
system problems at an early stage and eliminate them to keep busi-
ness running smoothly. 

NaturalONe is a new tool to simplify the modernization of programs 
for our maintenance customers and develop new Web and service-
based programs in Natural. Furthermore, NaturalONe helps our  
customers secure their existing investments in their business-critical 
applications and integrate them into new business processes (web-
Methods). In so doing, the new platform brings Natural closer to the 
webMethods product world, such as enterprise service bus, CentraSite 
SOA governance, BPM, and Optimize. the launch took place in De-
cember 2009.

new innovations in development
Adabas Archiving will be an important development topic in the com-
ing fiscal year. the volume of business information is growing rapidly. 
Databases that hold terabytes of information are very difficult to 

manage. lengthy processes for backing up and archiving data have 
a significant negative effect on availability. Although the majority of 
the data is not relevant for day-to-day business, it cannot simply be 
deleted. this is where Adabas Archiving comes in: it defines, man-
ages, and initiates archiving, removing data from the production 
environment and storing it securely in an archive. this data can then 
be accessed and searched again whenever necessary. 

In 2010, as in previous years, we will continue to work hard to develop 
new products and continue to develop existing applications. this way, 
the R&D team will support the ongoing expansion of etS business. We 
will focus in particular on product enhancements that will provide even 
better integration between the etS and webMethods product portfolios 
in both directions. Furthermore, we will press ahead in 2010 with 
integrating etS products with the ARIS product family by IDS Scheer 
and foresee further product innovations for our customers in this realm. 
We will also concentrate on developing new products from the inte-
grated product portfolio. 

webMethods 
One of the focal points of our webMethods research and development  
in 2009 was the complete integration of Software AG and web-
Methods products. this has now been completed in all areas as of  
the fiscal year under review. In the course of integration with etS, we 
initiated many other process optimizations as well, for example, fully 
integrating CentraSite in all products.

the webMethods Research and Development team had four develop-
ment locations around the world with 453 employees as of the end 
of the year. Since April 2009, webMethods R&D ( just as etS R&D) has 
been overseen by the business division’s head of R&D, who reports 
directly to the Board.
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6.2 cusToMers & saLes
two members of the executive Board became responsible for the sales 
organizations of the two business divisions with different regional 
jurisdiction. Our aim was to increase sales efficiency and in particular 
accelerate the global revenue growth of the webMethods division. 
Both sales areas still function separately, preserving the sales special-
ization for the different products. At the same time, however, there is 
standard, customer-oriented market strategy, which enables landing 
major projects and stronger cross-selling effects. Software AG’s Sales 
and Marketing department accounted for 1,072 employees—nearly 
17.8 percent of all Software AG employees. 

expanded global market presence
the continued expansion of our market presence around the world 
is a major component of our long-term strategy. We are increasing 
our presence in new markets with high growth potential: Asia, the 
Middle east, eastern europe, and latin America. In recent years, we 
entered the important markets of Japan and Brazil. We established 
direct distribution in Brazil at the beginning of 2008 and have since 
gained many well-known new customers and major orders, especially 
in the etS business division. We had 178 customers under contract in 
the South American market at the end of 2009 and, combined with 
IDS Scheer, more than 80 employees. Revenues increased by 25 per-
cent over the previous year and, for the first time, we held events for 
major customers in Brasilia, Rio de Janeiro, and Sao Paulo, with more 
than 400 participants. 

More events for our customers
We continually conduct a multitude of sales-support measures to 
promote customer loyalty and awareness of other interesting products 
from our portfolio. For example, we publish our customer magazine, 
the Software AG Independent, three times per year and use it to 
feature reference projects and product innovations. Software AG’s 
Customer Briefing Center originated from our philosophy of customer 
orientation. We conduct customized events in a conference center 
outfitted with the latest in technology and give our customers a virtual 
look over our developers’ shoulders. through our customer success 
program, companies can demonstrate how using Software AG tech-
nologies helped them succeed. In addition, Software AG presents  
an annual Customer Innovation Award, recognizing customers who 
have created particularly innovative, exemplary solutions with our 
technologies.

We also offer numerous other customer events and training sessions, 
provide a great deal of information on our Website about our technol- 
ogies and application options, and organize business communities 
on the Internet. 

organizing and attending numerous events
trade shows, forums, and other events are a good opportunity for us 
to meet customers, prospective customers, and other stakeholders 
and to present our new technologies to them. Furthermore, countless 
one-on-one interviews gave us valuable feedback from the market 
which we were able to integrate into our product strategy. In addition, 

new products launched
In the second quarter of 2009, we introduced webMethods 8.0, the 
first completely integrated version of the software platform since 
the takeover of webMethods, Inc. With it, companies can better  
utilize both new, open architectures and investments in existing 
infrastructures. In addition, they lower the time and costs for process 
optimization and system integration and can significantly increase 
productivity thanks to close collaboration between It and depart-
ments. As with previous versions, webMethods 8.0 also focuses on 
the demands that globally operating companies place on infrastruc-
ture software for business processes. this version focuses in particular 
on harmonizing systems and departments, as well as on automating 
and optimizing processes that add value faster within the company. 
time and costs can be reduced by at least 25 percent on extensive 
projects, which can lead to savings in the millions, in particular for 
large-scale enterprises. the latest release includes CentraSite Active-
SOA, the first fully integrated business service repository for the 
unique link between BPM and SOA, providing It and business experts 
maximal transparency, reusability, and change management. the new 
webMethods 8.0 has been available since December 2009.

As announced in the last annual report, we have launched the first 
platform for social BPM. AlignSpace (formerly webMethods Align) is 
the largest social network for BPM experts and a platform for collabo-
ration between all parties involved in a BPM environment. the data, 
documents, and services generated in such an environment are avail-
able across company boundaries and can be reused in this manner. 
Other social networks can be integrated as well. the new product is 
available as a SaaS (software-as-a-service) offering. Within the scope 
of a social network, the functionality encompasses the identification 
and modeling of collaborative processes as well as a marketplace for 
systems integrators, consultants, and application developers. Over the 
course of the year, the product was developed sufficiently for the 
market and was released to all Software AG employees in the fourth 
quarter. It will be introduced to the public at CeBIt 2010, with access 
granted to external users. 

research and innovation in 2010
Among the focal points of our R&D work in 2010 was the integration 
of ARIS products from IDS Scheer into the webMethods product port-
folio. the two product groups have very little crossover, but they com-
plement each other very well. With an integrated product portfolio, we  
will be able to deliver interesting, one-of-a-kind new products that 
enhance and complement existing applications. We also see it as our 
duty to continue working on sustainably reducing our customers’ total 
cost of ownership. We will focus on a variety of areas, especially on 
simplifying operation of our software for users. Specific solutions that 
we want to develop this year include rules management and event 
processing. (For further information, refer to Special Section on IDS 
Scheer AG takeover, p. 14.)
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heaDCOuNt By FuNCtIONaL areaS
 

Sales & Marketing

consulting & Service & Support

research & Development

Management & administration

total

Dec. 31,   

2009

1,072

3,246

854

841

6,013

Dec. 31,   

2008

703

1,634

651

538

3,526

Change  

in %

 52

 99

 31

 56 

 71

events such as CeBIt provide us with extensive coverage in business 
and technology press. Our participation in CeBIt 2009 was another 
resounding success: We were able to increase the number of customer 
contacts and press reports. Other events during the fiscal year under 
review included the Business Innovation Forum (BIF) in France; the 
fourth BPM Day in vienna, Austria; the Business Innovation Forum  
in Darmstadt, Germany; and the “Process-Oriented It—the Digital 
Company of the Future” roundtable in Zurich, Switzerland. 

new major orders
We again gained a multitude of new orders in 2009, including both 
follow-up orders from existing customers and orders from new  
customers. Customer success stories and references can be found  
in the Customers section of our website as well. Moreover, we have 
succeeded in winning increasingly large orders. In the webMethods 
division, we concluded almost 200 agreements with values of  
more than €100,000 in 2009. the average order volume was about 
€500,000. 

Our increasing size has allowed us to take on increasingly large 
orders. Software AG has a customer base of 4,000 customers in  
70 countries. the volume of the orders from our top ten customers 
accounts for less than 10 percent of total revenues, which indicates 
relatively low dependence on individual customers. By taking over  
IDS Scheer AG, we have added 7,500 customers in 70 countries. 
through this merger, we are achieving critical mass in more european 
countries, among other things, which will allow us to win an even 
greater order volume.

6.3 ParTners
Distribution partners gaining importance
2009 was another good year for distribution partners at Software AG, 
building on the excellent results in fiscal year 2008. Our partner net-
work made up of systems integrators, OeMs, resellers, and indepen-
dent software vendors largely drives our business in the webMethods 
product line. In 2009, our partners again contributed significantly to 
Software AG’s webMethods licensing revenues. Our partnerships play 
an important role in our success in the economically challenging web-
Methods space. the webMethods licensing revenues achieved with 
our partners can mostly be accredited to new projects with new or 
existing customers. vertical industry expertise plays a major role in 
our success with our distribution partners. Our partners’ industry-
specific expertise is primarily focused on four sectors: government, 
financial services, telecommunications, and manufacturing. At the 
beginning of 2009, we identified our major global partners who 
accounted for a significant percentage of webMethods licensing  
revenues. Our partnership with Accenture continued to be the most 
productive. 

Further expanding the partner network
We will concentrate on a proactive partner program with our most im-
portant partners in 2010. We will further expand our partnerships with 
our 12 largest partners worldwide while starting initiatives with key 
regional partners. We will add new success factors to the partner pro-

gram, such as annual planning sessions, balanced scorecards, and a 
vertical industry focus. During the current fiscal year, we will continue 
to work with existing, tried-and-true methods by developing vertical 
process templates and solutions with our partners. 

6.4 eMPLoyees
number of employees grew significantly
In fiscal year 2009, the real number of employees increased (i.e., part-
time employees are counted on a pro-rata basis) by 71 percent over  
the previous year. this can, in large part, be traced to the takeover of 
IDS Scheer. As of December 31, 2009, our company employed 
6,013 persons worldwide, compared to 3,526 employees as of the 
2008 reporting date. Of that number, 2,149 persons were employed 
in Germany (2007: 772), and 742 in the u.S. (2007: 691). thus, 64 
percent of our employees worked outside of Germany at year end 
(2008: 78 percent). 

Focal points of human resources activities in 2009
Key focal points of human Resources activities in the year under 
review were the continued expansion of the It infrastructure for Global 
human Resources and the optimization of the central structures of the 
global hR organization. In addition, human Resources developed the 
international benefits structure, added to offerings, and implemented 
standardized incentive systems, primarily in Sales and Consulting.  
By using global benchmarks for remuneration and benefits, we ensure 
that our employees’ remuneration is highly attractive and in line with 
the market. Additional crucial focal points in 2009 were the further 
expansion of existing human Resources development and continuing 
education programs, and optimizing Software AG’s position on the 
employer market. 

We implemented additional initiatives in the realms of work/life bal-
ance and health management to benefit our employees. Developing 
an hR strategy in line with the corporate strategy completes the pic-
ture. the hR strategy allows us to align ourselves with corporate ob-
jectives, with a focus on winning, developing, motivating, and retain-
ing qualified employees in a constantly developing environment. 

the objective of Software AG’s human resources policies is to make 
available standardized services offerings that are oriented toward the 
corporate strategy and geared toward the labor market of the future, 
creating an innovative and productive working environment for our 
current and future employees as well as for management.
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Training and continuing education are consistently encouraged
Another constant focus of our human Resources activities is the con-
tinuing education and qualification of our employees. Our Corporate 
university, started in 2005, conveys the message that learning and 
training are of high, strategic importance to us. the Corporate uni-
versity’s qualification program is geared towards all employees 
around the world. Its core task is ensuring the qualifications of all 
target groups by customizing training to Software AG’s vision, values, 
and strategy.

More than 8,000 courses were completed via the globally-established 
learning management system in 2009, and more than 300 certifica-
tions were awarded. Along with traditional classroom instruction, new 
models of teaching are gaining importance, including e-learning and 
virtual classrooms, as well as interactive and collaborative forms of 
learning based on Web 2.0 technologies. 

Overall, we expanded the topics offered by the Corporate university 
significantly and published 160 new internal e-learning units. We in-
tegrated an e-learning library on business skills with more than 1,000 
individual topics into the system. 

Along with its core task of providing training and qualification for our 
employees, the Corporate university also bears responsibility for the 
development of training materials for customer training sessions and 
certifications, thereby contributing to stronger customer relationships.

human resources development programs expanded 
We successfully concluded the second international high Potentials 
Program in 2008/2009. It is geared toward Software AG employees 
from all departments with a diverse professional background who 
display outstanding performance and will actively support the Com- 
pany‘s growth in the coming years. In addition, various other pro-
grams were offered in the fields of management development and 
project management. A survey subsequent to the program showed 
that participating employees were very satisfied and almost half of 
them had already been entrusted with more duties. 
Currently, we are working on a new concept for the next high Poten-
tials Program for 2010, which will be geared toward three target 
groups: professional career, managerial level, and advanced manage-
rial level. the nomination process for the managerial level has begun 
already, and the other areas will follow. the new program will be  
carried out in conjunction with IDS Scheer.

We introduced an electronic method (an appraisal tool developed in- 
house) as a pilot project in numerous countries. As a result, the pro-
cess for conducting annual employee evaluations in our company is 
now standardized throughout the world. A single tool is used for data 
collection. After concluding the pilot phase, we will make some slight 
modifications and then implement the tool worldwide in the first 
quarter of 2010. 

Another new item was the introduction in 2009 of a Management 
Development toolbox for the DACh region (Germany, Austria, and 
Switzerland), which includes training sessions for managers regarding 
change and conflict management. At least one training unit per 
month is planned for 2010. 

two new components were developed for the Global Consulting Ser-
vices business unit in 2009: an orientation and development plan for 
junior consultants and a standardized development path for consul-
tants. A plan is to be developed in 2010 for determining the neces-
sary training sessions and certifications for every level. 

university relations implemented worldwide
the intense competition for new graduates in the It industry makes 
close contact with universities increasingly important. today‘s gradu-
ates are the It managers of the future and will therefore be our cus-
tomers of tomorrow. Particularly when there is a shortage of skilled 
labor, it is important to take suitable actions early to support young 
talent for our own needs and the needs of our customers. thus, it is 
of great strategic importance for any software company’s future suc-
cess to establish long-term and trusting relationships with colleges 
and universities. 

Since early 2007, Software AG has had a globally-oriented university 
Relations department. the crux of the university Relations program is 
to put all Software AG products into colleges and universities around 
the world free of charge for teaching and research purposes. In con-
nection with this, we offer It and business students an opportunity to 
get to know us through guest lectures, corporate visits, and events. 
We offer internships and jobs for students, as well as provide sup-
port for master’s and bachelor’s theses. During their university edu-
cation, interested students are given the opportunity to gain practical 
and real-world experience in fully equipped and predefined projects. 
the students work on topics covered by our product range, such as 
SOA, BPM, mainframe technology, and application modernization. 
the university Relations Program began very successfully in Germany 
and is now active on all continents. We foster trusting relationships 
with more than 300 computer-science and business departments at 
universities worldwide, including more than 200 in Germany. 

corporate culture conducive to long-term company management 
Our Corporate Culture Program, brought to life in 2006, was continued 
in 2009. Based on employees’ feedback from corporate culture work-
shops, we have determined that a good work/life balance promotes 
long-term development and motivation. that is why we have work/
life balance programs worldwide that are customized to country-
specific needs, including the following:

 Consultation on childcare and dependent care, addiction,  
and workplace bullying

 Sports offerings
 youth exchange programs
 health and fitness days
 laundry service
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Also in 2009, we conducted workshops communicating our common 
values of innovation, trust, responsibility, open communication, and a 
winning spirit. the foundation for our successful customer-oriented 
business is an understanding of cultural differences and promoting 
tolerance. We bring new teams and cultures together with the help 
of common values and an understanding of cultural differences. 

new employee survey planned
to investigate employee satisfaction at Software AG, the human 
Resources department conducted a second global employee survey 
in October 2008, through which we were able to draw clear conclu-
sions on our leadership culture and employee satisfaction. We were 
particularly pleased by the high level of attachment employees re- 
ported to the Company and their appreciation for their jobs within the 
Company. In 2009, we implemented the measures identified, and we 
are now preparing to conduct a new global employee survey to take 
place in 2010.

software aG—an attractive employer
Software AG conducted an analysis of its employer brand, which in-
volved both external feedback and interviews with employees around 
the world. the target groups for these interviews were high potentials, 
new hires, rehires, industry experts, and top managers. the purpose of 
the survey was to find out why people want to work for Software AG, 
what motivates them, and what makes them successful. the results 
will be used as a basis for human Resources marketing activities in 
2010. In addition, we continued to participate in employer surveys 
and were able to further improve our image in the united Kingdom 
and Germany. 

human resources strategy pursued in line with corporate goals
Our employees are our most valuable asset, which is why the Global 
human Resources department is continuing to work on providing the 
right environments, benefits, and programs to win, motivate, develop, 
and retain highly qualified employees. Our hR strategy is linked to the 
overall corporate strategy and its goals of growth, profitability, global 
market leadership, and innovation. Not only do we want to win and 
retain the best employees, but we also want to be a partner for our 
managers and employees within Software AG. We are achieving this 
by establishing a values-oriented culture consisting of trust, responsi-
bility, innovation, open communication, and a winning spirit. In addition, 
we have lean structures and use process-oriented infrastructures and 
processes. We will continue with our ongoing hR activities in 2010 
while improving our human Resources marketing strategy with the 
help of our analysis conducted in 2009. An additional goal is the 
seamless integration of new employees.

6.5 corPoraTe sociaL resPonsiBiLiTy
On the occasion of Software AG’s 40th anniversary, we published our 
first report entitled Corporate Social Responsibility—Sustainability and 
Responsibility in 2009. this report is not a traditional CSR report that 
conforms to the guidelines of recognized CSR standards. It is Software 
AG’s first report of this type and illustrates based on facts how we are 
exercising our corporate social responsibility. the report focuses on the 
last two years.
 
Sustainability means more than just environmental sustainability; rather, 
we see it as creating long-term values in a broader sense. Our customer 
relationships, technology, partnerships, investments in our company, 
and our knowledge capital through employees are values that endure 
for many years. these sustainable values benefit all stakeholders as 
well as society. 

For Software AG, sustainable and responsible action means being a 
successful company, whereby we have a special definition of success. 
For us, having a successful business means:

 making our customers globally successful 
 researching and developing our own solutions 
 setting standards, developing patents 
 being a convincing and reliable partner for our partners 
 developing employees with the Company 
 growing and being profitable 
 benefitting society 
 maintaining exemplary values and social standards in our  

day-to-day business operations 
 promoting education and innovation, globally and locally 

Our software solutions can serve as tools for transparency and trust, 
speed and control, flexibility and efficiency. these solutions are, 
among other things, our contribution to minimizing global crises. they 
support those who understand and are aware of their responsibility. 
We are aware of our responsibility.

More information about Corporate Social Responsibility, as well as the 
full report, can be found at www.softwareag.com/de/Press/csr/
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March 12, 2008 (section 5, paragraphs 1 and 3 of the Articles of In-
corporation); December 11, 2008 (section 5, paragraphs 1 and 3 of the 
Articles of Incorporation); March 13, 2009 (section 5, paragraphs 1 and 
3 of the Articles of Incorporation); and December 17, 2009 (section 5, 
paragraphs 1 and 3 of the Articles of Incorporation).

change of control
liabilities to banks in the amount of €399 million (2007: €152 million) 
could become due, in full or in part, in the case of a change of control 
on the part of the creditors.

A member of the executive Board who resigns due to a change of 
control within twelve months of such change and without good cause 
will receive a severance payment equal to three annual salaries based 
on the annual target remuneration most recently agreed and the av-
erage target performance ratio for the preceding three full fiscal years. 
In case of resignation the above mentioned regulation is not appli-
cable if the position of the executive Board member has only been 
altered marginally with the change of control. 

Other takeover-related disclosures not mentioned in this section do 
not apply to Software AG.

8 Main FeaTures oF The reMuneraTion sysTeM

the Remuneration Report is part of the Corporate Governance Report 
(refer to pp. 33–43), which is an integral component of the Manage-
ment Report. 

9 risK rePorT

9.1 risK anD oPPorTuniTy ManaGeMenT sysTeM 

9.1.1 oBJecTives oF The risK ManaGeMenT sysTeM
Software AG‘s primary goal is to generate long-term, profitable growth, 
accompanied by a steady increase in enterprise value. to that end, we 
combine established, stable business activities with an involvement 
in promising new market segments and regions. We strive for balance 
between opportunities and risks and take on risks only if the business 
activities associated with them have a high probability of enhancing 
the value of Software AG. It is always a prerequisite that we can evalu-
ate risks and that they remain manageable and controllable. 

In addition, we systematically observe risks from ongoing business, 
for example, by keeping a constant eye on product quality thorough 
evaluating support queries or managing exchange-rate risks. For de-
tails, please refer to the following information.

7 TaKeover-reLaTeD DiscLosures 

subscribed capital and voting rights
Software AG‘s share capital totaled €86,125,230 and is divided into 
28,708,410 bearer shares. each share represents €3.00 of the share 
capital and entitles the holder to one vote. Shareholders can exercise 
their rights at the Annual Shareholders‘ Meeting, when they exercise 
their voting rights in accordance with legal stipulations and the Com-
pany‘s Articles of Incorporation.

authorized capital and share repurchase 
Software AG has authorized non-issued capital pursuant to section 5 
(5) of the Company‘s Articles of Incorporation. the executive Board is 
authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to increase the 
Company‘s share capital on one or more occasions on or before May 
12, 2011 up to a total of €41,803,632 by issuing up to 13,934,544 
new bearer shares against cash contributions or contributions in kind 
(authorized capital). 

Furthermore, the Company is authorized to purchase own shares up to 
€8,600,861 par value on or before October 29, 2010 in order to realize 
benefits associated with the acquisition of own shares in the interest 
of the Company and its shareholders. Own shares may be purchased 
on the stock market or through a public purchase offer directed to all 
shareholders of the Company.

Please refer to the Notes for additional information on the conditional 
capital, authorized capital, and the acquisition of treasury stock.

significant shareholders
Software AG Foundation, Darmstadt, holds 29 percent of the out-
standing shares in Software AG. the foundation is a separate non-
profit legal entity and is devoted worldwide to the themes of thera-
peutic pedagogy, social therapy, education, services to youth and 
senior citizens, environment and research. No other shareholders hold 
more than 10 percent of the share capital.

appointment/dismissal of executive Board members and  
changes in the articles of incorporation
executive Board members are appointed and dismissed in accordance 
with section 84 et seqq. of the German Stock Corporation Act. 
Any changes in the Articles of Incorporation are resolved by the Annual 
Shareholders‘ Meeting by a majority of at least three-fourths of the 
share capital represented at the time of the resolution in accordance 
with section 179 of the German Stock Corporation Act. Changes in the 
wording of the Articles of Incorporation in connection with the utiliza-
tion of conditional and authorized capital were resolved by the Super-
visory Board in accordance with resolutions of the Annual Shareholders‘ 
Meeting of September 21, 1998 (section 5, paragraphs 1 and 2 of the 
Articles of Incorporation); April 27, 2001 (section 5, paragraphs 1 and 3 
of the Articles of Incorporation); May 13, 2005 (section 5, paragraphs 1 
and 4 of the Articles of Incorporation); May 12, 2006 (section 5, para-
graphs 1 and 5 of the Articles of Incorporation); April 2, 2007 (section 5, 
paragraphs 1, 2, and 3 of the Articles of Incorporation); December 14, 
2007 (section 5, paragraphs 1 and 3 of the Articles of Incorporation); 
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porate treasury team, which is directly below the CFO. the country 
subsidiaries are forbidden by a central treasury policy from engaging 
in any high-risk transactions with derivatives. Regular internal audits 
monitor compliance with this policy. 

3. Internal Audit
Software AG’s Internal Audit is an active component of the Company‘s 
risk management system. through a systematic and targeted approach, 
it ensures the effectiveness of risk management along with the 
evaluation and continual improvement of the internal control systems 
and the management and supervision processes. It is also geared to 
the creation of added value for Software AG by optimizing business 
processes. Internal Audit reports directly to the CeO and operates 
worldwide. 

4. Risk management in the financial reporting process
the risk of errors in the financial reporting process is largely eliminated 
by the following processes:

 Detailed, global, IFRS-compliant accounting standards must be 
used. Compliance with these standards is monitored regularly  
at all levels by both Corporate Finance and Internal Audit.

 the countries’ accounting departments are monitored by the local 
managers, who are in turn supervised by the regional Senior FC&A 
directors. Country subsidiaries report their figures to Corporate 
Accounting, which is part of the Corporate Finance team. there, 
the figures from the country subsidiaries are consolidated with the 
SAP/BCS tool. At the same time, the Business Intelligence team 
consolidates the countries’ profit and loss statements with the 
Office Plus System (management information system). this team 
is part of Corporate Controlling. Finally, the two consolidated Group 
profit and loss statements are compared with each other, any de-
viations are investigated, and discrepancies that arise are reported.

 Worldwide separation of functions in generating and reviewing 
accounting figures is guaranteed by splitting into two areas:  
Corporate Finance and Corporate Controlling. Both of them, with 
different managers, report to the CFO separately. 

 As part of monthly report generation, the Corporate Finance and 
Corporate Controlling departments analyze and review the figures 
from all reporting entities. Any differences that arise are corrected 
on a monthly basis.

 All internal Group supplier and service relationships are centrally 
administered through cooperation agreements and are legally 
regulated. Central departments in the areas of Corporate Finance 
and Corporate Controlling handle essential accounting for services 
in the divisions. In addition, the intercompany transactions policy 
standardizes internal Group coordination processes throughout 
the world. 

 the implementation process is strictly controlled by means of the 
Global Deal Desk in the commencement of contract negotiations 
phase. All customer contracts go through this approval process, in 
which Corporate Finance and Corporate Controlling are also involved.

9.1.2 orGaniZaTion oF The risK ManaGeMenT sysTeM 
Fundamental organization as risk and opportunity  
management system throughout the Group
Close collaboration between our Sales force and the Research and 
Development team (R&D) makes it possible for the development of 
new products to be market-driven and also market-relevant. By con-
tinuously monitoring risks, we can constantly evaluate the overall 
status systematically and in a timely manner and better assess the 
effectiveness of appropriate countermeasures. In doing so, we include 
operational risks as well as financial, economic, legal, and market risks. 
Opportunities are generally congruent to the operational and functional 
risk structure in all risk areas. 
Software AG uses various controlling tools for ongoing monitoring of 
the risk areas identified, including a key performance indicator system 
(KPI) that contains short, middle, and long-term KPIs. the executive 
Board is continuously informed of current and future risks and oppor-
tunities as well as the overall risk and opportunity situation via estab-
lished channels. Software AG updates and monitors the applicable 
specifications for preventing and reducing threats on an ongoing basis 
throughout the Group.

central responsibility for Group-wide processes
Risks and opportunities throughout the world are managed and 
controlled at corporate headquarters for both Software AG and the 
individual Group companies. Corporate headquarters compiles risk 
and opportunity reports, initiates further development of our risk 
management system, and elaborates risk-mitigating guidelines for 
the entire Group. We constantly review the functioning and reliability  
of the system as well as the reporting. 

Software AG’s internal control system has operationalized business 
risks by way of internal guidelines on business policies and practices. 
the defined policies regulate internal procedures and areas of respon-
sibility at the global and local levels. they are designed to provide 
information for management and to monitor the operating business 
risks of the Software AG Group. In order to enhance transparency, 
these policies are administered and published centrally. Another 
component of risk and opportunity management is the transfer 
of operating risks to insurance carriers. the General Services depart-
ment at corporate headquarters coordinates this function globally. 

structure of the risk management system
1. Controlling 
Controlling—which is under unified global leadership—monitors 
operating business risks in real time and reports operational figures 
monthly to the executive Board. In addition, both operational and 
strategic risks are analyzed by means of a key performance indicator 
system and reported quarterly to the executive Board. 

2. treasury
the Corporate treasury team creates daily cash reports for the execu-
tive Board, and all Group-wide risks from foreign-currency transactions 
are reported to the executive Board weekly. All high-risk foreign-cur-
rency and hedging transactions may be conducted only by the Cor-
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9.2.1 environMenT anD secTor risKs
Market risks
Among other things, market risks are related to the different eco-
nomic developments in individual countries or regions. the techno-
logical evolution of the individual sectors of the It industry can ad- 
versely impact the business potential of the mainframe market. Due 
to our increasing global expansion, Software AG is not particularly de-
pendent on individual regional markets. the three business divisions 
market a technology that is used in a large number of industries, rul-
ing out a concentration on individual industries or single customers. 
that way, there is no undue concentration on individual industries or 
customers. the subsequently strong business process innovation and 
integration business reduces our dependence on the development of 
a single It submarket. We take advantage of our technological inno-
vations and growing range of integration products, including the inte-
gration of mainframe-based applications, to promote the satisfaction 
of our customers and to secure our broad customer base over the 
long term. 

the global financial crisis that began in 2007 presents a particular 
risk for sales of our products. Our customers’ It budgets were cut in 
conjunction with this crisis, and Software AG was affected only in that  
it did not experience any further organic growth. the Group’s total 
revenues did not decline. By deploying integration and modernization 
products from both our product lines, our customers achieve consider- 
able cost reductions for their It infrastructure. the return-on-invest-
ment times are very short for our customers. hence, our products 
offer a way to cope with crisis-induced cost pressures. the over-
whelming majority of our customers use our software for business-
critical applications that cannot be shut down even in times of eco-
nomic crisis. therefore, our revenue flow is very stable, especially 
from maintenance services. In addition, we are continuing our expan-
sion, especially in Brazil and Japan. the company expects to see 
revenue growth in the future on the basis of the opportunities dis-
cussed here.

9.2.2 corPoraTe sTraTeGy risKs
Product risks
Close collaboration between our Sales force, Product Marketing and 
the Research and Development team (R&D) makes it possible for the 
development of new products to be market-driven and also market-
relevant. As is customary in the software industry, one of our greatest 
challenges is to optimally allocate our R&D resources. Development of 
the webMethods business division is particularly susceptible to being 
negatively affected by new competitor products. We reduce this risk 
by implementing our functional triangle (Sales—Marketing—R&D) and 
by close contact with customers in all industries and countries. More-
over, we maintain close contact with technology analysts so as to be 
continuously informed of new market and product developments. 

 After completing the quarterly reporting, Internal Audit reviews  
all key customer contracts worldwide with a view to their correct 
representation in accounting. 

 A global policy regulates access rules for the local and central 
accounting programs, which are monitored by the General Infor-
mation Services (GIS) and Internal Audit departments. 

 Only employees of Group accounting have access to the data 
from the SAP/BCS consolidation program. 

 All Group reports are reviewed by a second person in Corporate 
Finance in accordance with the dual control principle. 

 external experts are commissioned to evaluate such complex 
matters as pension provisions, legal risks, and purchase-price 
assignments within the framework of acquisitions. 

5. Strategic risk management (RCM)
the strategic risk management system is composed of a central 
Group team that reports to the CFO and the employees responsible 
for risk (“risk owners”). One risk owner, who is at the level just below 
the executive Board, is responsible for monitoring and managing each 
recognized strategic risk. Risks are evaluated according to a specially-
developed, standard point system. All Group managers are requested 
to report new strategic risks to the central Group team when they are 
discovered. the Group team then informs the executive Board for 
advice on the course of action. the central Group team reports to 
the executive Board regularly about the ongoing development of the 
recognized risks. 

9.1.3 ensurinG The eFFecTiveness oF The risK ManaGeMenT 
sysTeM anD The inTernaL conTroL sysTeM
Internal Audit regularly reviews the effectiveness of the risk manage-
ment system (RMS) and the internal control system (ICS) and develops 
suggestions for improvement, which are then introduced centrally or  
their introduction is monitored centrally. Furthermore, the auditors con- 
ducting the audit also review the risk management system and the 
internal control system and devise suggestions for improvement, which 
are then implemented in a timely manner. Corporate Finance and Cor- 
porate Controlling regularly conduct an internal review of accounting-
relevant control processes and modify them for new developments. 
teams of specialist auditors review the accounting systems in use 
specifically for shortcomings as part of annual It audits. the specialist 
auditors also review and approve newly implemented systems before 
they are put into service. 

9.2 PresenTaTion oF Key inDiviDuaL risKs
We explore key risk areas and individual risks discerned from the 
totality of risks identified through the risk and opportunity manage-
ment system. the related opportunities are detailed in the Forecast 
and in the Segment sections in the Management Report. 
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With newer development trends, Software AG’s products are also aug-
mented by acquisitions. For this reason, among others, IDS Scheer, 
itCampus, and teconomic were all acquired in the year under review. 
As technological leaders—a fact confirmed by independent analysts—
in the webMethods and ARIS product areas in particular we are often 
operating in unknown technological territory. this carries the risk of 
marketing products that are not completely technologically mature, 
which can then damage customer relationships. In order to manage 
this risk, we started our entire Readiness of Software AG for New 
technology/Release initiative during the previous year to prepare the 
whole Software AG Group optimally for launching new products. 
the Company’s Research and Development group uses open-source 
code in its product development to a lesser extent. In doing so, the 
self-developed source code absolutely must function separately 
from the open-source code components. In order to guarantee this,  
Software AG implemented R&D internal approval processes in 1998. 
Furthermore, we introduced measures to conduct a controlling analy-
sis for using open-source elements by reviewing the program code’s 
software technology. there is a risk that these processes could fail  
in isolated cases and the company would not be able to impose any 
licensing fees for products contaminated with open-source code rights.

risks in services 
Price is often a key factor in winning projects in the area of services. 
this results in the risk of accepting orders at prices below cost. Fur-
thermore, the actual costs can exceed budgeted costs. A standard, 
automated approval process across the Group (Global Deal Desk) mit-
igates this risk and places emphasis on adequate risk-adjusted profit 
margins, and it is continuously monitored. 

rights management
Our growth strategy for the etS business division is based in part on 
the possibility of extending customers’ existing licensing rights to 
generate new sales revenues. this option cannot be repeated arbi-
trarily after contracts have been adjusted. through this, the risk arises 
that revenue growth in individual core countries could fall, especially 
for the etS product line. We are reducing this risk by steadily adding 
to our etS product line.

acquisitions
through selective acquisitions, we are expanding our technological 
product range and continuing to build up our global presence. there is 
a risk that the companies acquired will not be integrated successfully. 
the challenges arising from this include the integration of the product 
portfolio, the processes, the organization, the human resources, and 
the different corporate cultures. In order to successfully integrate the 
acquired companies, we have defined safeguarding processes for the 
time prior to and after acquisition:

 Pre-acquisition phase: prior to a takeover, an intensive review is 
conducted to ascertain whether the technologies of the company 
in question effectively expand Software AG‘s product portfolio, 

how market access and market penetration will change, and what 
synergy potentials can be realized. every acquisition is preceded 
by a precise analysis of the financial condition of the target com-
pany. Moreover, the question of whether its corporate culture is 
compatible with ours is explored.

 Post-acquisition phase: We identify potential problem areas as 
quickly as possible using established control mechanisms with 
central responsibility for integration. We look at all key areas of 
the acquired company, including finance, legal affairs, research 
and development, sales, marketing, and internal communication. 

Risk assessment is currently focused on the 2009 acquisition of 
IDS Scheer. the integration of the IDS Scheer Group presents a major 
challenge in the coming years, offering many opportunities while 
also entailing many risks. this takeover makes us a global player in 
infrastructure software and business process management, with 
more than 6,000 employees and revenues of more than €1 billion, 
based on figures for fiscal year 2009. Software AG and IDS Scheer 
both have strong brands, excellent global images, and similar cultures. 
the integrated company’s success in terms of strategies for growth 
and adding value will depend significantly on whether current employ-
ees can be retained and new, highly qualified ones can be added.  
to this end, long-term prospects must be opened up for employees of 
the new Software AG. Planned structural changes associated with the 
takeover have created a certain amount of insecurity for the staff. 
this risk can be reduced by giving employees the opportunity to work 
for a larger, more attractive company that is a technology leader for 
infrastructure software and business process management and one 
that offers multifaceted, attractive, and long-term international career 
opportunities. the future development of financial performance will 
also depend on the successful integration of the IDS Scheer Group.

9.2.3 ProDucT DisTriBuTion risKs
sales risks
the complexity of our products requires a high level of experience 
and expertise on the part of our Sales force. In addition, the advanced 
technology of our products necessitates the provision of a consider-
able amount of information when selling them.

the establishment of user groups in connection with intensive training 
of our sales employees and of our customers significantly facilitates 
the sale of these products.

Partner risks
Due to the complexity of our products, undertaking sales via partner-
ships is a challenge. to ensure these conditions with indirect sales via 
partners, we are offering targeted training sessions and are focusing 
on select partners.
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9.2.4 FinanciaL risKs
exchange rate risks
Due to our global business activities, Software AG is exposed to 
exchange rate risks. Our sales organizations operate in the countries 
in which the sales are transacted. the sales-related expenses are 
in the same currency as the sales themselves. this natural hedging 
relationship is further strengthened in the uSA due to the fact that 
components of our Research and Development and Global Marketing 
are based in the uSA. We further utilize derivative financial instruments 
to mitigate the effects of exchange rate fluctuations. Our hedging 
instruments are used to cover existing foreign currency receivables 
and payables and anticipated cash flows. Income generated in foreign 
currencies from individual Group companies is also hedged against 
changes in value due to exchange rate fluctuations. All exchange rate 
risks are monitored centrally.

risks from financial instruments
the financial instruments open on the balance sheet date mean that 
a hypothetical increase in the market interest rate level by 100 basis 
points would reduce Group net income by €0.6 million. this presup-
poses that no future hedging transactions will take place. Provided 
that the Company did not finalize any additional hedging strategies 
and no negative effects were present on the balance sheet, a ten 
percent decrease in the euro’s value against the u.S. dollar would 
cause Group net income to decrease by €1.2 million and the remaining 
reserves by €0.4 million.

Constantly monitoring the creditworthiness of the affected banks helps 
us minimize the risk of losing our business partners with whom we 
conclude derivative financial instruments. liquidity and cash-flow risks 
concerning derivative financial instruments are eliminated by the fact 
that we secure existing balance sheet items or highly likely cash flows.

other financial risks
Other financial risks include predominantly the risk of bad debt losses. 
No cluster risks exist due to Software AG‘s diversified markets and cus-
tomer structure. Due to the long-range average, default risks are quite 
marginal as a result of the generally high level of creditworthiness 
on the part of our customers.

We have allowed for the global economic recession’s negative influ-
ence on our customers’ creditworthiness with additional allowances in 
accounts receivable. to reduce the impacts of this risk, we are using 
an automated approval process for customer contracts introduced in 
2008, the Global Deal Desk, based on our own technology.
to protect our cash holdings, we constantly monitor our partner banks’ 
creditworthiness and adjust our investment decisions accordingly. 

9.2.5 LeGaL risKs
Patent infringements
especially in the uSA, the large number of software patents granted as 
well as the peculiarities of American procedural law favor the bringing 
of patent lawsuits. this also affects Software AG. Such patent litiga-
tion in the uSA entails the risk of higher procedural costs to defend 
ourselves against claims without provision for reimbursement in 
American procedural law.

the Company has established an intellectual property rights team to 
counter patent law suits. this team handles our own patent applica-
tions and coordinates our defense against patent suits. Our own port-
folio of patents is the best protection against competitors’ claims, 
because it offers opportunities for cross-licensing agreements. Not 
least because of that, Software AG is constantly working to expand 
its patent portfolio. Software AG owns 51 patents from 24 patent 
families. In addition, 158 registrations from 72 patent families are 
pending. Of a total of 31 (2008: 65) filings in 2009, 13 (2008: 20) were 
for new inventions. these patents could contribute in the future to gen-
erating additional licensing revenues.

other litigation
Sporadically, we are faced with legal proceedings that are distribution 
oriented or relate to the extent of usage rights. Generally, however, 
the number of other legal disputes is very low.

9.3 risK siTuaTion For The iDs scheer suBGrouP
At the time of writing, the two companies’ risk management systems 
had not yet been integrated. the integration of the two systems 
is now in the implementation phase. therefore, a description of the 
IDS Scheer subgroup’s individual risks follows.

9.3.1 risK ThaT inTernaTionaL suBsiDiaries are noT  
LarGe enouGh
Many of IDS Scheer’s international subsidiaries do not have the  
critical mass to build up vertical industry expertise, in particular.  
this is reflected in insufficient profitability or losses for these sub- 
sidiaries. these risks will be reduced significantly in many countries by 
merging the country subsidiaries of Software AG and IDS Scheer AG, 
because the Software AG subsidiaries are often much larger. 
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9.3.2 accounTs receivaBLe risKs
the IDS Scheer subgroup is at increased risk for accounts receivables 
defaults due to the global economic crisis, as is Software AG. this risk 
will decrease in the future through the implementation of improved 
accounts receivables management, which is currently ongoing. 

9.3.3 risKs in services
the Corporate Risk Board currently administers selling price risks  
associated with services, as well as calculation risks, especially for 
fixed-price projects. All contracts for work to be concluded with 
customers are reviewed by the Corporate Risk Board. In addition, 
centralized project management was established to ensure quality 
and reduce costs. In the future, this system will be further strength-
ened by the introduction of the Deal Desk, further reducing risks 
from this area. 

9.3.4 eMPLoyee risKs
IDS Scheer AG has some key staff members who cannot be replaced 
easily. the takeover by Software AG has resulted in an increased 
fluctuation risk, which is significantly reduced by integration that is 
as rapid as possible and identifying the entire Group’s future strategy. 

9.3.5 inTernaL iT risKs
the current reorganization brings the risk that information is not 
available when needed and data could be accessed by unauthorized 
parties. this is counteracted by intensified It audits and the continued 
development of guidelines, organization, processes, and regulations. 

9.4. GeneraL sTaTeMenT on The GrouP‘s risK siTuaTion
An overall view indicates that risks in the Software AG Group are 
limited and manageable. No risks can be identified that are likely to 
jeopardize the going concern of the Company now or in the future.
 

10 evenTs aFTer The BaLance sheeT DaTe

the following are particularly significant events that occurred after the 
year under review ended.

Litigation
A software company from virginia, uSA sued Software AG uSA Inc., 
and Software AG along with other defendants, including IBM and SAP, 
in February 2010 for infringing on several of its software patents. 
the suit was brought before the court in virginia, uSA. the case is  

at a very early stage, and a date has not yet been set for the trial. 
As a result, its possible financial effects cannot be foreseen.

iDs scheer acquisition
the domination and profit transfer agreement between SAG Beteiligungs  
Gmbh and IDS Scheer AG was concluded on November 24, 2009, 
approved at the extraordinary general meeting on January 8, 2010, 
and registered with the Saarbrücken district court on February 11, 
2010, making it legally effective. the integration of the two companies’ 
operations began immediately. Both are now under common manage- 
ment and the expected synergies are being realized, thereby reinforc-
ing the increases in revenues and results forecast by Software AG for 
fiscal year 2010. 

Software AG now holds 91 percent of IDS Scheer shares. to accelerate 
the complete organizational integration of the two companies, a merger 
is planned. As part of this merger, the remaining minority shareholders 
will receive Software AG shares in exchange for their IDS Scheer AG 
shares. to do this, Software AG is presently buying back up to 400,000 
of its own shares. Software AG assumes that it will take until the end 
of this year to complete the takeover. 

11 ForecasT

11.1 overaLL econoMic ouTLooK
Most experts are expecting the global economy to improve slightly 
in fiscal year 2010. however, the return to growth is based largely 
on special developments, such as the stimulus packages put together 
by many countries and relaxed monetary policies. Initially, the growth 
will be accompanied by numerous risks, and there is a danger that 
private demand will remain weak in many industrialized nations. the  
timing of a reversal in monetary policy will play a major role in the 
further course of events: In light of low inflation rates, most industri-
alized nations are not expected to change course, while in many 
emerging markets, a change of course on monetary policy could  
happen more quickly. Overall, a slight increase in central bank interest 
rates is expected in 2010. 

A study by the Kiel Institute for the World economy (ifw), published in 
January 2010, assumes that there will be global growth of 2.0 percent 
in 2010. Growth of 2.5 percent is expected in the uSA. Much indicates 
that the u.S. economy will gradually return to the path of recovery; 
the strongest effects of the stimulus package will develop there in 
winter 2009/2010. 
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Growth of 0.9 percent is expected in the euro zone. Continued in-
creases in unemployment are expected to further strain domestic 
demand. Minimal growth is expected for Germany as well (about 
1.4 percent), primarily because German exports and domestic demand 
should rise gradually. 

the Asian economies are benefitting from China’s dynamic economy. 
Forecast growth of 5.2 percent overall is therefore based largely on 
China’s anticipated growth of 10.4 percent. Japan is more dependent 
on international developments. the GDP is anticipated to increase 
there by about 1.7 percent.

According to the Kiel Institute, the gross national product throughout 
latin America should grow again by 3.2 percent. Numerous measures 
introduced by most countries before the crisis are having a positive 
effect there. A gain of 4.8 percent is anticipated for Brazil, based on 
its strengthening industrial production.

the Kiel Institute’s forecasts for 2011 are even more optimistic:  
the overall global economy should expand by 3.6 percent, sustained 
largely by a major upswing in emerging markets and moderate 
growth rates in industrialized countries.

11.2 exPecTeD secTor TrenD
Industry association BItKOM believes that the european ICt market 
will stabilize in fiscal year 2010. this forecast is based on current 
data from the european Information technology Observatory (eItO). 
According to it, revenues in the european union’s ICt market will 
decline by 0.5 percent in 2010 to about €714 billion. An upswing  
in the overall economy will also lead to an acceleration in the high-
tech markets. enterprises are expected to increase their demand.  
In Germany, minimal growth of 0.2 percent is expected for the ICt 
market in 2010, reversing the downward trend. 

According to the eItO forecast, the eu’s It market is projected to grow 
by 0.6 percent, exceeding €300 billion. the slowdown in investment 
as a result of the economic crisis is expected to resolve itself within 
the next two years. Gartner market research firm predicts that the 
global It market will climb by more than 4.5 percent in 2009. In addi-
tion, a shift in investment is anticipated. According to Gartner, invest-
ments will be directed more at It services and less at new hardware 
in the future. BItKOM is certain that services will be the biggest 
growth driver in 2010. the latest BItKOM forecast has the German It 
market growing by one percent to €66 billion. BItKOM also believes 
that the German software market will improve by another 0.5 percent 
over the course of 2010, to €14.6 billion. 

11.3 corPoraTe sTraTeGy oPPorTuniTies
We have proven that we can hold our ground even in a difficult  
economic environment. In a comprehensive management system at 
all levels of the Group, we identify the opportunities presented to us. 
the details about our corporate strategy and our objectives can be 
found on pp. 52–53; the risk report describes the potential risks for 
Software AG on pp. 68–72.

Currently, we see opportunities for Software AG primarily in the fol-
lowing areas: 

1. increasing significance of software for business and society
Software has become a central component of the information society. 
Innovative products and services cannot be realized without reliable 
software. the German economy’s international competitiveness is 
characterized by the ability to develop top-quality software and It 
services quickly and economically. World-class corporate software 
is a prerequisite for Germany maintaining and expanding its position 
in the realm of engineering and building a corresponding position  
in new industries. the economic significance of software and It ser-
vices has grown and will continue to do so. (For further information, 
refer to 2.1. Overall economic Situation, p. 54.) At Germany’s 4th  
National It Summit in Stuttgart, the following was stated in regard to 
the importance of software: “Germany is already one of the world’s 
most important locations for software development. Software is 
plainly the key technology for innovation. An above-average number 
of premium jobs in Germany are in the software sector. to further 
build on these strengths, we will turn our attention to this area in partic- 
ular for the new ICt strategy. Some key objectives include strength-
ening Germany’s software skills, further promotion of cooperation be-
tween companies, clusters, and innovative business models for small 
and medium-sized enterprises, as well as greater consideration for 
software in the promotion of research and development.” 

the economic importance of software is gaining recognition at a euro-
pean level as well, as shown by the speech given by viviane Reding, 
former eu commissioner for Information Society and Media, on the 
occasion of the 2009 truffle 100 reports. She emphasized that the 
software industry is one of the most important strategically-significant 
growth drivers in a modern economy and it is a key element in digi-
talizing the economy.

2. The importance of software as an interdisciplinary technology 
for companies’ and institutions’ innovation processes
While software was previously an isolated component within an 
enterprise, because of increasing digitalization it will be an integrated 
—in some cases dominant—component for flexible and agile corporate 
processes in the future. the increasing digitalization of the economy 
and society, based in large part on software, is leading to crucial 
changes for companies in particular. tomorrow’s digital companies 
will automate routine work in order to dedicate themselves to strate-
gic issues. to that end, the exchange of information must first be digi-
talized. Secondly, high-performance, open-information systems must 
be integrated into business processes. Specifically, this means that 
employees will take responsibility for core processes and It will 
become an interdisciplinary technology in every department. Chief 
Information Officers are becoming Chief Process Officers, project man-
agers are process managers, and It is becoming efficiency technology 
on the basis of a flexible It infrastructure. Middleware will gain strate-
gic significance, because It infrastructure is the basis for business pro-
cess excellence. Business process excellence is especially important 
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for companies in times of economic crisis, in order to reduce operating 
costs and develop new business models. A trend is slowly emerging 
in which process innovations are becoming just as important as prod-
uct innovations. Business process excellence will therefore become 
a future market for It and a growth market for providers.

3. Business process excellence 
Software AG, a global leader in the field of business process excel-
lence, offers such solutions. We have been delivering innovations  
for more than 40 years: from Adabas, the first transactional high-
performance database, and webMethods, the SOA-based integration 
platform including the first B2B server, to ARIS, the platform for ana-
lyzing business processes. through the combination of ARIS and the 
webMethods platform, we are the first company to offer fully inte-
grated BPM solutions (business process management) throughout 
the value chain.

Our industry-leading brands—ARIS, webMethods, Adabas, Natural, and 
IDS Scheer Consulting—form a unique portfolio for all the process-
management requirements of modern enterprises: strategy, design, 
implementation, visibility, and control of processes; SOA-based inte-
gration and data management; process-oriented SAP implementations; 
and strategic consulting and services. (For further information, refer 
to Strategy, p. 8 and Software AG technology and Customer, p. 18).

11.4 FuTure earninGs siTuaTion anD FinanciaL PosiTion
We have set a course for Software AG’s continued profitable growth. 
By integrating IDS Scheer, we aim to meet our goal of exceeding  
€1 billion in revenue—originally set for 2011—in 2010. For fiscal year 
2010, Software AG is expecting overall revenues to grow by 25 to 30 
percent over 2009, taking into account currency translation effects. 
Product revenues will likely climb 12 to 15 percent, and we are as-
suming that profit after tax will increase by 8 to 12 percent. In addi-
tion, single-digit organic revenue growth is expected in the medium 
term. Moreover, we will continue to make acquisitions which, as a 
component of our strategy, promote company growth. 

continued attractive dividend policy
We plan to maintain our stable, continuity-focused dividend policy in 
the future as well. the economic environment and our current liquidity 
requirements must also be taken into account, however. 

11.5 GeneraL sTaTeMenT on The anTiciPaTeD  
DeveLoPMenT oF The GrouP
Based on Software AG’s proven robust business model and the 
measures introduced in past years, we are well positioned for the 
future. We aim to be an internationally leading software company on 
all levels: technology, growth, as an attractive employer, and in 
customer satisfaction. 

Our goal of achieving one billion euros in revenues is the beginning 
of a new, profitable growth phase for Software AG. For this reason, the 
upcoming phase of our corporate strategy is called “market leadership.” 
the focus is on qualitative growth and long-term added value for the 
Company. this includes the challenges of successfully integrating IDS 
Scheer in 2010. In addition, Software AG would like to position itself 
with more customers as a strategic technology partner for process 
solutions, and we want to expand our high level of expertise in suc-
cessful large-scale projects while achieving critical mass with signifi-
cant revenue contributions in more countries. Further optimization 
of our Sales force in the webMethods business division, combined 
with the consulting and services business, will be one of the growth 
drivers for new customers and new projects.

12 sTaTeMenT on corPoraTe Governance 

the Company submitted its Statement on Corporate Governance on 
February 26, 2010. It will be published in March 2010 on our home-
page at http://www.softwareag.com/de/ir/corpgovernance/default.asp.  
this statement includes the declaration of compliance with the German  
Corporate Governance Code pursuant to section 161 of the German Stock  
Corporation Act (AktG), which was issued separately and published on  
our homepage at http://www.softwareag.com/de/ir/corpgovernance/
default.asp on December 17, 2009. 

FOreCaSt FOr 2010 (IDS Scheer consolidated) 
IrFS 

in € million 

total revenue

Product revenue

 EtS

 webMethods/arIS

Net income

Earnings per share

 

Forecast for 2010 

in %

+ 25 - 30*

+ 12 - 15*

+ 2 - 4*

+ 25 - 30*

+ 8 - 12

+ 8 - 12

 

2009

847.4

580.5

327.7

244.0

140.8

4.92

* taking into account currency translation effects
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CONSOLIDateD INCOMe StateMeNt 
for fiscal years 2009 and 2008

in € thousands

Licenses

Maintenance

Professional Services

Other

total revenue

cost of sales

gross profit

research and development expenses

Sales, marketing and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

Operating result

Other operating income

Other operating expenses

earnings before interest and taxes 

financial income/expense net

earnings before taxes

Income taxes

Other taxes

Net income for the year

thereof attributable to shareholders of Software aG  

thereof attributable to minority interest  

  

Earnings per share (basic)

Earnings per share (diluted) 

weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic)

weighted average number of shares outstanding (diluted)

 

2009

269,862

310,604

262,456

4,454

847,376

– 300,300

547,076

– 82,166

– 192,396

– 70,683

201,831

78,747

– 62,417

218,161

– 8,885

209,276

– 65,540

– 2,941

140,795

140,978

– 183

4.92

4.91

28,681,849

28,689,540

2008

272,028

267,059

177,763

3,760

720,610

– 205,119

515,491

– 76,224

– 177,119

– 65,083

197,065

44,509

– 61,026

180,548

– 5,122

175,426

– 54,781

– 4,785

115,860

115,860

0

4.05

4.04

28,599,020

28,671,237

Note

[5]

[6]

[7]

[8]

[9]

[10]

[11]

[12]

[13]

[14]

[16]

[16]

Software AG Annual Report 2009

03_ cONSOLIDatED fINaNcIaL StatEMENtS  |  cONSOLIDatED INcOME StatEMENt 



 

79

StateMeNt OF COMPreheNSIVe INCOMe
for fiscal years 2009 and 2008

in € thousands

Net income for the year

currency translation differences

Net gain/loss marketable securities and derivatives 

Net gain/loss arising from translating net investments  

in foreign operations

Net actuarial gain/loss from defined benefit plans 

Other comprehensive income

total comprehensive income

thereof attributable to shareholders of Software aG

thereof attributable to minority interest

 

2009

140,795

– 1,385

6,809

 

– 35,603

– 4,990

– 35,169

105,626

105,798

– 172

 

2008

115,860

3,264

– 7,059

2,059

– 2,415

– 4,151

111,709

111,709

0

Note 

[32]

[27]

[29]
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 CONSOLIDateD BaLaNCe Sheet as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 

in € thousands

aSSetS

Current assets

cash and cash equivalents

Inventories

trade receivables

Other receivables and other assets

Prepaid expenses

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment

financial assets

trade receivables

Other receivables and other assets

Prepaid expenses

Deferred taxes

eQuIty aND LIaBILItIeS

Current liabilities

financial liabilities

trade payables

Other liabilities

Other provisions

Provisions for taxes

Deferred income

Non-current liabilities

financial liabilities

trade payables

Other liabilities

Provisions for pensions

Other provisions

Deferred taxes

Deferred income

equity

Share capital

capital reserve

retained earnings

Other reserves

Minority interest

 

2009

218,141

748

330,465

38,192

9,616

597,162

236,567

682,502

67,064

5,692

11,427

26,231

758

25,083

1,055,324

1,652,486

198,516

62,030

73,101

92,395

42,297

117,309

585,648

291,410

260

1,067

29,562

27,548

66,711

2,765

419,323

86,125

39,406

584,211

– 82,504

20,277

647,515

1,652,486

 

2008

96,925

85

247,251

21,187

5,945

371,393

150,931

442,676

46,988

6,456

17,208

8,563

47

15,693

688,562

1,059,955

61,360

35,824

45,151

69,011

36,688

100,528

348,562

105,841

68

378

16,650

13,959

22,735

2,623

162,254

85,917

35,810

474,735

– 47,323

0

549,139

1,059,955

 

2007

81,294

90

209,311

10,125

5,794

306,614

139,265

431,596

49,847

8,232

15,704

16,582

0

11,355

672,581

979,195

46,652

31,300

64,199

42,802

11,485

83,878

280,316

167,648

64

2,966

17,229

9,686

35,492

3,332

236,417

85,618

31,933

387,415

– 43,173

669

462,462

979,195

 

Note

[17]

[18]

[19]

[19]

[20]

[21]

[17]

[18]

[22]

[23]

[24]

[25]

[26]

[28]

[23]

[24]

[25]

[27]

[26]

[22]

[29]
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CONSOLIDateD StateMeNt OF CaSh FLOwS 
for fiscal years 2009 and 2008

in € thousands

Net income for the year

Income taxes

Net financial income/expense

amortization/depreciation of non-current assets

Other non-cash income/expense

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital

changes in inventories, receivables and other current assets

changes in payables and other liabilities

Income taxes paid

Interest paid

Interest received

Net cash provided by operating activities

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets

Proceeds from the sale of financial assets

Purchase of financial assets

Payments for acquisitions, net

Net cash used in investing activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital

Dividends paid

additions to financial liabilities

repayments of financial liabilities 

Payments for hedging instruments

Net cash provided by/used in financing activities

change in cash and cash equivalents from cash-relevant transactions

currency translation adjustment

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

 

2009

140,795

65,540

8,885

38,937

– 29,142

225,015

33,553

28,477

– 76,674

– 17,328

7,449

200,492

1,369

– 14,359

3,682

– 2,830

– 320,360

– 332,498

1,524

– 31,503

330,624

– 41,225

0

259,420

127,414

– 6,198

121,216

96,925

218,141

2008

115,860

54,781

5,122

25,538

4,967

206,268

– 56,611

40,713

– 45,168

– 10,528

5,408

140,082

2,553

– 11,278

3,097

– 1,009

– 38,854

– 45,491

1,809

– 28,539

0

– 46,203

– 3,361

– 76,294

18,297

– 2,666

15,631

81,294

96,925

Note [30] 
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Common shares 

 

 

 

 

28,539,455

 

 

99,387

28,638,842

Share capital

85,618

 

299

 

85,917

Capital reserve

31,933

1,510

2,367 

35,810

retained earnings

 

387,415

115,860

 

– 28,539

474,736

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28,638,842

 

 

69,568

28,708,410

85,917

 

 

208

86,125

35,810

 

 

1,316

2,280

39,406

474,736

140,978

 

– 31,503

584,211

StateMeNt OF ChaNgeS IN eQuIty  [29] 
for fiscal years 2009 and 2008 

 

in € thousands 

 

2008 

 

equity as of Jan. 1, 2008

total comprehensive income

transactions with shareholders

 Dividend payment

 New shares issued

 Stock options

transactions between shareholders

equity as of Dec. 31, 2008

 

in € thousands 

 

2009 

equity as of Jan. 1, 2009

total comprehensive income

transactions with shareholders

 Dividend payment

 New shares issued

 Stock options

transactions between shareholders

equity as of Dec. 31, 2009
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Currency translation 

differences 

 

– 80,008

3,264

 

– 76,744

 

Net gain/loss on  

marketable securities 

and derivative  

2,019

– 7,059

 

 

– 5,040

 

actuarial gains/ 

losses from defined 

benefit plans 

492

– 2,415

 

 

– 1,923

 

Currency translation 

gains/losses from net 

investments in foreign 

operations

34,324

2,059

 

 

 

36,383

attributable to share-

holders of Software ag

 

 

 

461,793

111,709

 

– 28,539

1,809 

2,367

0

549,139

total 

 

 

 

 

462,462

111,709

– 28,539

1,809

2,367

– 669

549,139

attributable to  

minority interest

 

 

 

669

 

 

– 669

0

Other reserves

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

– 76,744

– 1,386

 

 

– 78,130

– 5,040

6,809

 

 

1,769

– 1,923

– 5,000

 

 

– 6,923

36,383

– 35,603

 

 

 

780

549,139

105,798

 

– 31,503

1,524 

2,280

0

627,238

549,139

105,626

– 31,503

1,524

2,280

20,449

647,515

0

– 172

 

 

20,449

20,277

StateMeNt OF ChaNgeS IN eQuIty  [29] 
for fiscal years 2009 and 2008 

 

in € thousands 

 

2008 

 

equity as of Jan. 1, 2008

total comprehensive income

transactions with shareholders

 Dividend payment

 New shares issued

 Stock options

transactions between shareholders

equity as of Dec. 31, 2008

 

in € thousands 

 

2009 

equity as of Jan. 1, 2009

total comprehensive income

transactions with shareholders

 Dividend payment

 New shares issued

 Stock options

transactions between shareholders

equity as of Dec. 31, 2009
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NOteS tO the CONSOlIDAteD 
FINANCIAl StAteMeNtS

GeneraL

1_ Basis oF PresenTaTion 
Software AG's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as promulgated 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and as applicable in the eu and in accordance with the additional provisions required 
under German commercial law as set forth in Section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (hGB). the IFRSs applicable as of December 31, 
2009 were observed, as were the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC—formerly SIC).

Software AG is a registered stock corporation under German law with registered offices in Darmstadt. It is the parent company of a Group that 
is globally active in the fields of software development, licensing, and maintenance as well as It services. the functional currency of Software AG is 
the euro. 

Some of the previous year’s figures have been adjusted to conform to the current presentation.

the presentation of deferred taxes, which was adjusted to comply with IAS 12.71 given that the necessary information is now available (see 
Note 22).

In addition, the presentation of the consolidated income statement was changed in the third quarter of 2009. Since the third quarter, amortiza- 
tion of purchased intangible assets has been shown within functional costs, for which reason this is no longer reported separately in the consol- 
idated income statement. the previous year’s figures have been adjusted to conform to the new presentation. Please see the segment report 
(Note 31) for more information on the effects of this change.

to enhance comparability of the adjusted previous year's figures, these consolidated financial statements include two comparative periods.

the consolidated financial statements of Software AG are expressed in thousands of euros unless otherwise stated. 

2_ scoPe oF consoLiDaTion 
the consolidated financial statements include Software AG and all of the entities it controls. Control is generally considered to exist if Software AG  
directly or indirectly controls the majority of voting rights of an entity’s subscribed capital and/or is in a position to govern the financial and 
operating policies of a company.

the following affiliated entities are part of the Group of Software AG (parent company):
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a) Domestic entities 

Software financial holding Gmbh, Darmstadt

SaG East Gmbh - a Software company, Darmstadt

SaG Deutschland Gmbh, Darmstadt

SaG consulting Services Gmbh, Darmstadt

SaG Beteiligungs Gmbh, Darmstadt and its subsidiary

 IDS Scheer aktiengesellschaft, Saarbrücken and its domestic subsidiaries

  IDS Scheer EMEa Gmbh, Munich

  fact Unternehmensberatung Gmbh, frankfurt/Main

  fact Informationssysteme and consulting aG, Neuss

itcampus Software und Systemhaus Gmbh, Leipzig

b) Foreign entities 

Software aG (Uk) Limited, Derby/United kingdom and its subsidiary

 Software aG Belgium S.a., Brussels/Belgium,

 in which Software aG also has a direct stake

Software aG Development center Bulgaria EOOD, Sofia/Bulgaria

Software aG (Gulf SPc), Manama/kingdom of Bahrain

Software aG france S.a.S, courbevoie cedex/france

Software aG Italia S.p.a, Segrate (Ml)/ltaly

Software aG Nederland B.V., amsterdam/Netherlands

Software aG Nordic a/S, hvidovre/Denmark and its subsidiaries

 Software aG Norge a/S, Oslo/Norway

 Software aG Nordic aB (aktiebolag), kista/Sweden

 OY Software aG Nordic, Espoo/finland

Software Gmbh Österreich, Vienna/austria

Software aG Polska Sp. z o.o., warszawa/Poland

Software aG s.r.o., Praha/czech republic

Software aG Bilgi Sistemleri ticaret a.S., Istanbul/turkey

Software aG argentina S.r.L., Buenos aires/argentina

Softinterest holding aG, Zug/Switzerland and its subsidiary

 SaG Software Systems aG, Dietikon/Switzerland and its subsidiary

  teconomic aG, freienbach/Switzerland (merged with SaG Software Systems aG as of July 1, 2009)

Software aG España, S.a. Unipersonal, tres cantos, (Madrid)/Spain and its subsidiaries

 Software aG Portugal, alta tecnologia Informática, Lda., Lisboa/Portugal

 Software aG factoria S.a., Santiago/chile

 Software aG Brasil Informática e Serviços Ltda, São Paulo/Brazil

 Software aG de Puerto rico, Inc., San Juan/Puerto rico

 Software aG Venezuela, ca., chacao caracas/Venezuela

 a. Zancani & asociados, ca., chacao caracas/Venezuela

 Sinsa Móvil, S.a., clayton/Panama

 Software aG de Panamà, S.a., clayton/Panama and its subsidiary

  Software aG de costa rica, S.a., San José/costa rica 

Software aG, Inc., reston, Va/USa and its subsidiaries

 Software aG (canada) Inc., Ontario/canada

 Software aG, S.a. de c.V. (Mexico), Mexico, Distrito federal/Mexico

 Software aG, LLc, reston, Va/USa

 Software aG International, Inc., reston, Va/USa and its subsidiary

  Software aG USa, Inc., reston, Va/USa and its subsidiaries

   Infravio, Inc., reston, Va/USa and its subsidiary

    Infravio Software technologies Private Limited, chennai/India

   webMethods australia Pty Ltd., North Sydney/ australia

   webMethods Development center India Private Limited, Bangalore/India

   webMethods Software Development (Beijing) co. Ltd., Beijing/china (Prc)

   webMethods Germany Gmbh, Darmstadt/Germany

   webMethods hong kong Ltd., hong kong/china (Prc)

Shareholding 

in %

100

100

100

100

100

91

100

65

55

51*

Shareholding 

in %

100

 76

 24

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

 95

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

abbreviation 

SaG-Mk

SaG-ME

SaG-D

SaG-PS

SaG-BEt

 

  abbreviation 

SaG-Uk

SaG-B

SaG-BULG

SaG-GULf

SaG-f

SaG-I

SaG-NL

SaG-Dk

SaG-N

SaG-S

SaG-Sf

SaG-a

SaG-PL

SaG-cZ

SaG-tr

SaG-arG

SIh

SaG-ch

SaG-tEc

SaG-E

SaG-P

SaG-cL

SaG-BraS

SaG-PUEr

SaG-VEN

aZa

SINSa

SaG-PaN

SaG-cr

SaG-USa

SaG-caN

SaG-MEX

SaG-LLc

SaG-INt

wM-USa

wM-INfraV

wM-INfIND

wM-aUS

wM-IN

wM-chINa

wM-D

wM-hk

* the shareholding recognized for accounting purposes is 100 percent (see explanation in Note 4)
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Foreign entities (continued) Shareholding 

in %

abbreviation 

     Software aG Ltd. Japan, tokyo/Japan 

     Software aG korea, Ltd., Seoul/korea

     Software aG Operations Malaysia Sdn Bhd., kuala Lumpur/Malaysia

     webMethods Singapore Pte Limited, Singapore/Singapore

     webMethods Uk Limited, Derby/Uk

     webMethods Sweden aB, kista/Sweden

     Software aG australia (holdings) Pty Ltd., North Sydney/australia and its subsidiary

      Software aG australia Pty Ltd., North Sydney, australia

SGML technologies Limited, Derby/United kingdom

Software aG (hong kong) Limited, hong kong/china (Prc)

Software aG (Singapore) Pte Ltd, Singapore/Singapore and its subsidiary 

 Software aG (asia Pacific) Support centre Pte Ltd, Singapore/Singapore

Software aG (M) Sdn. Bhd., kuala Lumpur/Malaysia

Software aG (Philippines), Inc., Pasig city/Philippines

Software aG South africa (Pty) Ltd, Bryanston/South africa

Software aG (India) Private Limited, Maharashtra/India

Software aG (Shenzhen) co Ltd, Shenzhen/china (Prc)

Software a.G. (Israel) Ltd, Or-Yehuda/Israel and its subsidiary

 Sabratec technologies, Inc., Or-Yehuda/Israel

SaG Systems rUS Limited Liability company, Moscow/russia

Software aG Saudi arabia, LLc, riyadh/Saudi arabia 

in which SaG East Gmbh also has a direct stake

S.P.L. Software Ltd, Or-Yehuda/Israel and its subsidiaries 

 SPL Systems (1986) Ltd, Or-Yehuda/Israel and its subsidiaries

  SPL Idor Management Ltd, Or-Yehuda/Israel

  SPL Idor Business Solutions, Or-Yehuda/Israel

  SPL holding B.V., Or-Yehuda/Israel and its subsidiary

   SPL Systems B.V., Or-Yehuda/Israel

  SPL text Systems International Inc, washington, D.c./USa

 Foreign subsidiaries of IDS Scheer ag

 IDS Scheer canada Ltd, toronto, Ontario/canada

 IDS Scheer Sistemas de Processamento de Dados, São Paulo/Brazil

 IDS Scheer Japan co. Ltd., tokyo/Japan

 IDS Scheer china Ltd., Shanghai/china (Prc)

 IDS Scheer Uk Ltd., Birmingham/United kingdom

 IDS Scheer Sverige a.B., Bromma/Sweden

 IDS Scheer Nederland B.V., Den haag/Netherlands

 IDS Scheer finland Oy, Espoo/finland

 IDS Scheer SDc s.r.o., kosice/Slovakia

 IDS Scheer Belgium S.a., Brussels/Belgium

 IDS Scheer Schweiz aG, wallisellen/Zurich/Switzerland

 IDS Scheer Saudi arabia LLc., riyadh/Saudi arabia 

 in which IDS Schweiz aG also has a direct stake

 IDS Scheer Luxemburg S.a., capellen/Luxembourg

 IDS Scheer Slovakia, s.r.o., Bratislava/Slovakia

 IDS Scheer cr, s.r.o., Brno/czech republic

 IDS Scheer Polska Sp. z o.o., Poznan/Poland

 IDS Scheer hungaria kft., Budapest/hungary

 IDS Scheer austria Gmbh, Vienna/austria

 IDS Scheer Iberia S.L., Madrid/Spain

 IDS Scheer australia – New Zealand, North Sydney/australia

 IDS Scheer s.r.l (headquarters), rome/Italia

 IDS Scheer Ukraine LLc, Lviv city/Ukraine

 IDS Scheer cEE S.a., capellen/Luxembourg

 IDS Scheer, d.o.o., Ljubljana/Slovenia

 IDS Scheer d.o.o. croatia (headquarters), Split/croatia

 IDS Scheer russia, Moscow/russia

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

95

5

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

95

5

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

SaG-JaP

SaG-kOr

wM-MaL

wM-SIN

wM-Uk

wM-S

SaG-aUS (holding)

SaG-aUS (operat)

SGML

SaG-hk

SaG-SIN

SaG-aP

SaG-MaL

SaG-PhI

SaG-Za

SaG-IN

SaG-chINa

SaG-ISr

SaG-ISrUS

SaG-rUS

SaG-Sa

SPL-ISr

SPL-SYS86

SPL-IM

SPL-IBS

SPL-hOLD

SPL-SYS

SPL-tXt
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January 1, 2009

 additions

 Disposals (including mergers)

December 31, 2009

 

total

83

47

11

119

Foreign

78

41

11

108

 

Domestic

5

6

0

11

 

 Foreign subsidiaries of IDS Scheer ag (continued) Shareholding 

in %

abbreviation 

 IDS Scheer a.S. turkey, Istanbul/turkey

 IDS Scheer India PVt.LtD., Mumbai, India

 fact Unternehmensberatung Schweiz aG, Zurich/Switzerland

 IDS Scheer americas, Inc., Berwyn, Pa/USa and its subsidiary

  IDS Scheer canada, Inc., Montreal, canada 

 IDS Scheer france S.a., Saint-cloud cedex (Paris)/france

 IDS Scheer Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/Singapore 

 IDS Scheer Malaysia SDN BhD, kuala Lumpur/Malaysia

 Expert consulting S.a., Brussels, Belgium (in liquidation)

 Foreign subsidiaries of itCampus gmbh

 itcampus (Uk) Limited, Newcastle Upon tyne/United kingdom

 itcampus Schweiz aG, Sursee/Switzerland

 itcampus Italia s.r.l., Bozen/Italy

 

100

100

90

100

100

100

100

100

100

51

51

51

 

chanGes in The consoLiDaTeD GrouP
the number of consolidated entities changed from the level as of December 31, 2008 as follows: 

the additions resulted from the acquisitions of itCampus Gmbh, teconomic AG and IDS Scheer AG as described in Note 4. the disposal resulted 
from the merger and liquidation of consolidated enterprises.

3_ accounTinG PoLicies
use of estimates
In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, estimates and assumptions were made for certain items that have an impact on the 
recognition and measurement of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and contingent liabilities reported. Actual amounts may differ from 
these estimates.

Principles of consolidation
the separate financial statements of the entities included in the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with uniform 
accounting policies pursuant to IFRS as of the balance sheet date for the consolidated financial statements (December 31, 2009). 

the initial consolidation method applied to business combinations was based on the respective date of foundation in the case of companies 
founded by Software AG. For acquired companies, the date of acquisition was taken as the consolidation date.

the initial consolidation of the entities that were first consolidated prior to December 31, 2002 was performed on the basis of the book value 
method in accordance with Section 301 (1) Sentence 1 of the German Commercial Code (hGB). Accordingly, the acquisition and start-up costs were 
offset against the Group's share in equity of the consolidated subsidiaries. Initial consolidation after the transition to IFRS on January 1, 2003 was 
performed in accordance with IFRS 3. Subsequent consolidations were derived from the relevant initial consolidation.

Any reduction in ownership interest without a loss of control is recorded against the minority interest in the proportionate amount of the decrease 
and is deducted from goodwill. 

Goodwill arising from business combinations was offset against retained earnings for acquisitions prior to January 31, 2001 in accordance with 
Section 309 (1) of the Commercial Code. Goodwill arising after January 31, 2001 was recognized in accordance with previously applicable hGB 
(German Commercial Code) accounting principles and amortized over 10 years using the straight-line method. In accordance with the option set  
out in IFRS 1.14, the Company continued to account for business combinations and the resulting goodwill on the date of transition to IFRS in 
accordance with the German Commercial Code. 
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Closing rate  

(€ 1) 

U.S. dollar

Brazilian real

Pound sterling

Japanese yen

average rate   

(€ 1) 

U.S. dollar

Brazilian real

Pound sterling

Japanese yen

 

Dec. 31, 2009 

 

1.4405

2.5097

0.8900

133.06

 

2009 

 

1.3931

2.7705

0.8914

130.19

 

Dec. 31, 2008 

 

1.3976

3.2574

0.9589

126.40

2008 

 

1.4705

2.6714

0.7967

152.28

exchange  

rate change 

in %

– 3.1

23.0

7.2

– 5.3

exchange  

rate change 

in % 

5.3

– 3.7

– 11.9

14.5

Since the transition to IFRS on January 1, 2003, goodwill previously recognized in line with the Commercial Code has been measured in accor- 
dance with IAS 36. thus goodwill was frozen at the carrying amount stated on the date of transition from hGB to IFRS ( January 1, 2003) and 
only written down in the case of impairment. Goodwill reported on the balance sheet is tested annually for impairment.

Revenue, expenses and income, and receivables and payables arising between consolidated entities have been eliminated. Intercompany earnings 
are eliminated where they have not arisen from services to third parties. Group equity and net income attributable to minority interests are 
reported separately from equity and net income attributable to the shareholders in the parent company.

currency translation
Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated in accordance with the functional currency concept using the modified closing rate as 
set out in IAS 21. Since the subsidiaries operate independently from an organizational, financial, and business standpoint, the respective local 
currency is identical with the functional currency. 

Income and expenses are translated at the relevant monthly average rate, assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate, and the respective 
equity of the subsidiaries is translated at historical rates.

Currency translation differences arising from the equity consolidation are offset against equity and reported on a separate line in the statement 
of changes in equity. 

Currency translation differences resulting from the elimination of intragroup balances are recognized under “other operating income” and “other 
operating expenses” on the income statement.

In the fixed assets schedule, the balances at the beginning and the end of the fiscal year are translated at the applicable closing rates, and other 
items are translated at average rates. Any differences arising from exchange rate fluctuations are shown as currency translation differences on a 
separate line under both “cost” and “accumulated depreciation/amortization.” 
 
In the separate financial statements of the consolidated entities, foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at the closing rate. 
exchange rate gains and losses not yet realized as of the balance sheet date are included in profit or loss for the period, except for translation 
differences arising from long-term, intercompany monetary items that are part of a net investment in a foreign company. these differences are 
recognized directly in equity under “other reserves.”

the exchange rates used for the translation of the most important currencies changed as follows compared to the previous year:

Since the fourth quarter of 2009 we have used the parallel market rate rather than the official rate for translating the venezuelan bolivar, since 
Software AG is no longer able to transfer significant sums on the basis of the official rate. Moreover, starting January 1, 2010 Software AG will 
count venezuela as a hyperinflationary economy as defined in IAS 29. however, we do not expect this to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s figures. 

Total revenue
Software AG sales revenues primarily consist of revenue from granting software licenses (usually of indefinite duration, though in certain cases  
temporary software licenses), maintenance revenue, and revenue from Professional Services. Revenue from granting perpetual licenses is only recog- 
nized once a contract has been signed with the customer, any rights to return have expired, the software has been delivered in accordance with the 
contract, a price has been agreed or can be established, and there is sufficient probability that payment will be made. Revenue from granting temp- 
orary licenses is treated in accordance with the specific features of the license. If the transaction resembles a sale, i.e. involves immediate payment, 
and the other requirements mentioned above are fulfilled, the income is recognized immediately. however, if the transaction resembles a transfer of 
use, the income is recognized in installments.
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In the case of multiple element arrangements, revenue recognition is based on the individually identifiable elements of the transaction. Accor-
dingly, revenue is attributed to the individual elements on the basis of their respective market values.

If reliable market values cannot be determined for all elements, revenue recognition is based on the residual method. under the residual method, 
all determinable market values are deducted from the total transaction value. the residual amount is then attributed to the elements for which 
no reliable market values can be determined, using list prices.

Revenue from maintenance business is recognized proportionately over the period of service provision. 

Revenue resulting from contracts for Professional Services, which are invoiced on the basis of hours performed, is recognized in the period in 
which the services are rendered by the SAG entities. 

Pursuant to IAS 18 in conjunction with IAS 11, revenues and expenses from fixed-price service contracts are recognized in accordance with the 
percentage-of-completion (POC) method if the revenues can be reliably measured, there is sufficient probability that Software AG will receive 
the economic benefits from the transaction, and all costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the service can be reliably 
established. the stage of completion of a contract is calculated on the basis of the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed as  
of the balance sheet date to the estimated total contract costs. Some of the costs for making this calculation are estimated using the number  
of consulting hours/consulting days charged.

Revenues are reported net of discounts, price rebates, customer bonuses, and allowances.

cost of sales
Cost of sales includes all production-related full costs based on normal capacity utilization. In particular, the cost of sales includes the individual 
unit costs that can be directly allocated to the orders as well as fixed and variable overheads. No write-downs on inventories were necessary 
during the reporting period. 

research and development expenses
Research and development expenses are recognized in the income statement as incurred. 
New products are not technologically realizable until shortly prior to being ready for market launch. In the run-up to technological realizability, 
research and development processes are closely linked. Any research and development expenses incurred after technological realizability has 
been achieved are immaterial. 

sales, marketing and distribution expenses
Sales, marketing and distribution expenses include costs for personnel, materials, depreciation allocated to the sales cost center, and  
advertising costs.

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses include costs for personnel, materials, and depreciation allocated to the administration cost center.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of 
the asset. Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense. 

share-based payment 
In accordance with IFRS 2, share-based payment transactions are divided into cash-settled and equity-settled transactions. Both types of 
payment transactions are measured at the fair value as of the grant date and then amortized as personnel expenses over the period in 
which the employees acquire an unconditional right to the cash settlement or equity instrument. Rights granted under cash-settled share-
based payment transactions are remeasured at fair value on each reporting date until settlement.

If Software AG has a choice of settling either in cash or by providing equity instruments (shares), the right granted is accounted for as an 
equity-settled transaction, unless there is a present obligation to settle in cash.

the fair values are determined using either an option pricing model (Black-Scholes) or, if the rights granted are hedged with derivatives, by 
reference to the fair values of such derivatives.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balances, and term deposits with maturities of up to three months as well as short-term, 
highly liquid securities classified as current assets that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are only subject to negligible risk 
of changes in value.
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acquired software

acquired customer base

acquired order portfolio

 

amortization period

in years

5 – 7

5 – 17

–

amortization 

method

straight line

straight line

in accordance with 

order completion

Trade receivables
the carrying amount of trade receivables corresponds to their respective invoiced amount, less sales deductions and valuation allowances. If 
there is objective evidence that the receivables may be impaired, we recognize specific valuation allowances. In addition, certain classes of re-
ceivables are subject to portfolio-based valuation allowances based on past experience, taking into account the age of receivables. Non-interest 
bearing receivables with maturities of more than one year are discounted using an adequate interest rate.

this item also includes services performed under fixed-price contracts that have not yet been invoiced and that are recognized in accordance with 
the percentage-of-completion method.

other receivables and other assets
Other receivables and other assets are measured at cost and written down to the relevant market price, if applicable.

Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses are recognized for prepayments of expenses relating to future periods

intangible assets
Intangible assets for which a useful life can be established are measured at cost less any accumulated amortization and impairment losses.  
the amortization period and method of amortization for key intangible assets are as follows: 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortized. Instead, it is tested for impairment at least once per year (as of December 31) and written down to its recoverable 
amount in case of impairment.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. When items of property, plant 
and equipment are sold or scrapped, the corresponding cost and any accumulated depreciation are derecognized, and any gains or losses from 
disposal are recognized in the consolidated income statement. 

the cost of items of property, plant and equipment consists of the purchase price, including any import duties and non-refundable purchase 
taxes and any directly attributable costs required to prepare the asset for its intended use. 
 Any subsequent expenditure, such as service and maintenance charges arising once the asset is put into operation, is recognized as an expense 
in the period in which it is incurred. Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property, plant and equipment are only added to the carry-
ing amount of the asset if the expenditure improves the condition of the asset beyond its originally assessed standard of performance. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are generally depreciated using the straight-line method in accordance with their useful economic lives.

Buildings 40 – 50 years
Improvements to buildings/leasehold improvements  8 – 10 years
Operating and office equipment  3 – 13 years
Computer hardware and accessories  1 –  7 years

the terms of useful economic life and methods of depreciation are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are in accordance with the 
expected pattern of economic benefits of the asset in question. 

Assets under construction are recognized at cost. Depreciation on these items begins only after they have been put into operation.
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impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
As soon as there is any indication that an intangible asset or an item of property, plant and equipment might be impaired, an impairment test is 
carried out and, if an impairment loss is ascertained, the carrying amount of the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. the recoverable 
amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. the value in use is the present value of estimated future cash 
flows expected to arise from the continued use of the asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

Impairments losses are reported under costs of the relevant functional area or under other operating expenses.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts, interest rate swaps and stock options are recognized at fair value. 
Instruments for which hedge accounting is not applied are classified as held for trading. Changes in the fair value of the instruments are recog-
nized directly in profit or loss. 

If the criteria for hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39 are met, the derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedging instrument 
and accounted for pursuant to the hedge accounting provisions of IAS 39.

Accordingly, in the case of cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives is recognized directly in equity. 
the ineffective portion is recognized directly in profit or loss. Cumulative amounts previously recognized in equity are reclassified to the income 
statement for the fiscal years in which the hedged item affects profit or loss.

the Company did not have any derivative financial instruments to be accounted for as fair value hedges. 

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amounts in the tax accounts (tax base) and the 
carrying amounts in the consolidated balance sheet. Deferred tax assets also include claims for tax reductions resulting from the anticipated use 
of tax loss carryforwards in subsequent years, the realization of which is deemed highly probable. 

Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of tax rates anticipated to apply in the relevant countries in accordance with the legal situation pre-
vailing at the time of realization (reversal of tax deferrals).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. the carrying amounts of the recognized assets and liabilities are regularly examined and 
adjusted if necessary.

Liabilities
Current liabilities are recognized at their repayment amount.

Non-current liabilities are recorded at amortized cost. Amortized cost is determined using the effective interest rate.

Provisions
Provisions are reported when the Company has a current legal or constructive obligation towards a third party due to a past event that is likely 
to result in a future outflow of resources and for which the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. estimates are regularly reviewed 
and adjusted. 

If the effect of discounting is significant, the provision is recognized in the amount of the present value of the expected future cash flows.

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
Defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans exist with respect to company pensions. the pension provisions are calculated using actuarial 
principles in accordance with the projected unit credit method set out in IAS 19. this approach takes into account anticipated future increases in 
pensions and salaries in addition to the pensions known as of the balance sheet date.

employees do not receive illness-related allowances either in Germany or abroad.

Pension provisions are measured by recognizing actuarial gains and losses directly in equity. Accordingly, pension provisions are reported at the full 
present value of the defined obligation, less the fair value of the reinsurance cover taken out for defined benefit obligations or the fair value of the 
plan assets accumulated to cover pension entitlements. the changes in the actuarial gains/losses compared to the previous year are excluded from 
income and allocated directly to retained earnings.
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Company and Line of business 

 

itcampus Software- und Systemhaus Gmbh, Leipzig (itcampus) 

  Provider of software and communication solutions for call centers and the energy sector,  

health care sector, and public sector*

teconomic aG, freienbach/Switzerland (teconomic) 

 consulting and solutions business in the European financial market

SaG Beteiligungs Gmbh 

 acquisition, management, administration, and sale of companies 

IDS Scheer aG, Saarbrücken (IDS Scheer) 

 Software and consulting firm, development of solutions for business process analysis (BPa)

 

Date of  

acquisition/

initial  

consolidation

 

 

Mar. 2, 2009

 

Jul. 1, 2009

 

Jul. 9, 2009

 

aug. 20, 2009

 

Ownership interest  

recognized on the balance 

sheet as of Dec. 31, 2009 

in percent

100 

100 

100 

91

Software AG does not incur any obligations for defined contribution plans other than premium payments on life insurance policies and contribu-
tions to special-purpose funds. these payments are recognized in profit or loss for the period.

Deferred income
Deferred income consists of advance payments received from customers for maintenance services to be rendered in future periods. the deferred 
item is reversed and taken to income in the period in which the service is rendered.

new accounting standards not yet deputed 
the IASB has published the following standards, interpretations, and amendments to standards that are not yet required to be applied and with 
regard to which Software AG has not opted for early application to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009. 
For these IFRSs to be applied, they must first be endorsed by the eu.

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”:

Application of the acquisition method for business combinations has been revised to comply with IFRS 3 (2008), issued by the IASB in January 
2008, and IAS 27. the main changes relate to the measurement of non-controlling interests (NCI), the recognition of step acquisitions, and 
the treatment of contingent consideration and acquisition-related costs. under the new rules, non-controlling interests (minority interests) 
may be measured either at fair value (full goodwill method) or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the net identifiable 
assets of the entity acquired. Any changes to contingent consideration must be recognized in profit or loss. Acquisition-related costs are to be 
recognized as period expenses.

Once control is achieved, all other increases and decreases in ownership interests are treated as transactions among equity holders and reported 
within equity. In the event of a loss of control, any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognized at its fair value as of the date control is 
lost. the revised standard requires an entity to attribute its share of total comprehensive income to the NCI even if this results in the NCI having 
a deficit balance.

IAS 27 (revised) results in changes to IAS 21 pursuant to which the definition of disposals or partial disposals of foreign operations was narrowed. 
Only a sale or a loss of control may qualify as a disposal or partial disposal, while (partial) repayments of the net investment also qualified 
as a disposal under previous regulations. Accordingly, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences previously recognized in equity may no 
longer be reclassified to profit or loss upon repayment (see Note 10 for the effects arising from exchange difference recognized in profit or 
loss in fiscal 2009 due to repayments). As Software AG has not opted for early application of the amended versions of IFRS 3 and IAS 27, the 
resulting changes to IAS 21 are required to be applied for the first time for fiscal year 2010.

In addition, the IASB and the IFRIC have issued a number of other pronouncements that were not yet required to be applied as of December 31, 
2009. however, Software AG does not expect these changes to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

4_ Business coMBinaTions 
In fiscal 2009, Software AG achieved control over the following entities and their subsidiaries through the acquisition of equity interests:

*  Software AG held 51 percent of the shares in itCampus as of December 31, 2009. however, an ownership interest of 100 percent must be recognized on the balance sheet in accordance with the provisions of IAS 32 in 

conjunction with IFRS 3. 

Software AG Annual Report 2009

03_ NOtES tO thE cONSOLIDatED fINaNcIaL StatEMENtS  |  GENEraL



 
3 |

93

in € thousands 

cash and cash equivalents

Inventories

trade receivables

Other receivables and other assets

Prepaid expenses

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment

financial assets

Deferred tax assets

total assets

financial liabilities

trade payables

Other liabilities

Other provisions

Deferred income

Deferred tax liabilities

total equity and liabilities

acquired assets and assumed liabilities, net

Payments to shareholders

Payments to the company for the purpose of a capital increase

consideration not yet paid

total consideration paid

cash and cash equivalents acquired

Net cost of the business combination

 

Carrying amount 

prior to  

acquisition

1,755

431

1,516

406

79

97

76

436

195

0

4,991

2,241

801

1,975

282

26

0

5,325

– 334

0

-

-

remeasurement 

to fair  

value

0

0

0

0

0

3,059

9,429

0

0

51

12,539

0

0

0

231

0

856

1,087

11,452

0

-

-

Opening  

balance 

1,755

431

1,516

406

79

3,156

9,505

436

195

51

17,530

2,241

801

1,975

513

26

856

6,412

11,118

3,619

3,100

4,399

11,118

1,755

9,363

the earnings of the companies acquired have been included in the consolidated income statement as of the respective date of acquisition. 

As opposed to the acquisition of IDS Scheer, the acquisitions of itCampus and teconomic—both individually and taken together—had no material 
impact on the financial position, cash flows, or profit or loss of Software AG. 

information on non-material acquisitions effected by software aG
the consideration due for all non-material acquisitions (excluding the acquisition of IDS Scheer) amounted to €9,363 thousand, net of cash acquired, 
and was paid in cash, with the exception of contingent consideration not yet due (earn outs) in the amount of €480 thousand and liabilities 
arising from put options recognized on the balance sheet in the amount of €3,919 thousand. No significant directly allocable costs were incurred 
in connection with the acquisitions.
 
the following table shows the provisional allocation of the cost of the business combination to the net assets acquired. 

the goodwill capitalized in connection with these acquisitions was allocated in full to the webMethods segment. 

Due to intragroup mergers, it is not possible to compute the exact amount of the Group revenue and net income of Software AG attributable 
to these acquisitions since the date of acquisition. however, such amount is not of material significance for the financial position, cash flows or 
profit or loss of the Group as a whole.

acquisition of iDs scheer aG
the IDS Scheer Group is a globally operating software and consulting firm. It generates its revenues from the licensing and servicing of techno-
logically leading software solutions and by offering sector-specific, method-supported consulting.

the Company’s core business is the development of solutions for business process analysis (BPA) on the basis of its ARIS Platform for Process 
excellence. BPA is a part of business process management (BPM).
the IDS Scheer Group also offers sector-specific, method-supported consulting and system implementation, operation and maintenance of soft-
ware solutions. With its business process excellence approach, the IDS Scheer Group supports its customers along the entire process lifecycle, 
from strategic process consulting and design and implementation services to management of business processes in running operations.
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in € thousands 

cost of the 4,665,000 shares acquired outside of the takeover bid prior to august 20, 2009 

fair value of the liabilities to shareholders arising from put options in existence on august 20, 2009 

Directly allocable acquisition-related costs

total as of august 20, 2009 

Less cash acquired

acquisition cost net of cash acquired  

Effect of expiry of the takeover bid less the shares received in connection with the takeover bid

change in allocable transaction costs

cost of shares acquired outside of the takeover bid after august 20, 2009 

total as of December 31, 2009

Less cash funds acquired as of august 20, 2009

Less consideration paid to IDS Scheer for the shares held directly by IDS Scheer 

Less payment from employees to IDS Scheer for new shares created under employee 

stock option programs in the period between august 20 and December 31, 2009

acquisition cost net of cash acquired 

 

69,845

405,324

5,201

480,370

 

– 120,328

360,042

– 66,242

– 539

31,888

445,477

– 120,328

– 7,087 

– 440

317,622

As of December 31, 2009, Software AG had acquired a stake of 91.01 percent in IDS Scheer AG via SAG Beteiligungs Gmbh, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Software AG. A stake of 70.05 percent (22,605,445 shares) was acquired as part of a public takeover bid on August 17, 2009 to 
purchase the shares at a price of €15 per share. An additional stake of 20.96 percent (6,764,859 shares) was acquired by purchasing stock in  
the company outside of the takeover bid.

the takeover bid in existence on August 20, 2009 (the date of initial consolidation) represented a put option for the IDS Scheer shareholders to 
sell their shares at a price of €15 per share. Pursuant to IAS 32 in conjunction with IFRS 3, this led to recognition of a liability in the amount of 
€405.3 million (27,021,580 shares multiplied by €15 per share), which was accounted for as an increase in the consideration paid. the follow-
ing table shows the costs incurred in acquiring 100 percent of the shares as of August 20, 2009 and the change in the cost of the business 
combination between the date of initial consolidation and December 31, 2009:

the acquisition cost net of cash acquired includes €2,226 thousand in directly allocable acquisition-related costs that have not yet been paid.
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in € thousands  

cash and cash equivalents

Inventories

trade receivables

Other receivables and other assets

Prepaid expenses

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment

financial assets

Deferred tax assets

total assets

financial liabilities

trade payables

Other liabilities

Other provisions

Provisions for pensions

Provisions for taxes

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred income 

total equity and liabilities

acquired assets and assumed liabilities, net

thereof attributable to minority interest

total consideration paid

Less acquired cash and cash equivalents

acquisition cost net of cash acquired  

 

Carrying 

amount prior to 

acquisition 

 

 

 

120,328

138

93,735

16,012

6,241

2,398

78,098

21,839

52

8,557

347,398

33,001

22,532

23,443

19,185

720

4,742

10,352

15,358

129,333

218,065

remeasure-

ment to fair 

value 

 

 

 

0

0

0

0

0

110,524

191,219

875

0

– 2,868

299,750

0

0

1,851

1,900

1,574

0

36,576

– 5,670

36,231

263,519

Opening  

balance 

 

 

 

 

120,328

138

93,735

16,012

6,241

112,922

269,317

22,714

52

5,689

647,148

33,001

22,532

25,294

21,085

2,294

4,742

46,928

9,688

165,564

481,584

– 1,214

480,369

120,328

360,041

effects of 

changes in 

ownership 

interests and 

transactions of 

IDS Scheer with 

treasury shares

7,527

– 22,296

– 14,769

– 14,769

– 20,124

– 34,893

7,527

– 42,420

total 

 

 

 

 

 

127,855

138

93,735

16,012

6,241

112,922

247,021

22,714

52

5,689

632,379

33,001

22,532

25,294

21,085

2,294

4,742

46,928

9,688

165,564

466,815

– 21,338

445,477

127,855

317,622

 

allocation of the cost of the business combination 

as of august 20, 2009

Changes prior to  

December 31, 2009

the following table shows the (pursuant to IFRS 3.62 to) preliminary allocation of the cost of the business combination the net assets acquired 
along with the changes prior to December 31, 2009. the cost allocation was prepared using provisional values. the assumptions and estimates are 
not yet complete given that certain information is still lacking and some evidence is still outstanding.

Due to the exercise of employee stock options, a capital increase was implemented at IDS Scheer between the date of initial consolidation and 
December 31, 2009. the cost of the business combination therefore increased by €1,713 thousand compared to August 20, 2009, and goodwill 
increased by €1,273 thousand. the difference corresponds to the payments received from exercise of the employee stock options. Moreover, 
goodwill increased by €7,087 thousand on the basis of treasury shares tendered by IDS Scheer in connection with the takeover bid, and de- 
creased by €539 thousand due to the reduction in directly allocable acquisition-related costs compared to September 30, 2009.

Goodwill resulting from the acquisition of IDS Scheer accordingly amounted to €247,021 thousand as of December 31, 2009. the goodwill was  
allocated to the enterprise Process Innovation segment. the recognition of goodwill resulted from the fact that synergies and staff are not sep- 
arable intangible according to IAS 38.

Between the date of acquisition and the end of the year under review, the IDS Scheer Group contributed €126,463 thousand to Group revenue 
of Software AG and €– 2,642 thousand to net income of Software AG. these figures take into account the effects of amortization of the acquired 
intangible assets and the remeasurement of deferred income. 

If all acquisitions made during the year under review had taken effect as of January 1, 2009, revenue for fiscal 2009 would have increased 
by approximately €219.9 million and amounted to €1,067.3 million. Net income reported for the same period would have been €2.2 million 
lower and amounted to a total of €138.6 million.
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in € thousands

foreign exchange gains

Income from the reversal of provisions and deferred liabilities

Other income 

 

 

2009

60,456

15,643

2,648

78,747

2008

40,461

4,042

6

44,509

in € thousands

costs accumulated over the term of a (multi-year) project and not yet invoiced

recognized profit (+) / loss (–)

advance payments received

retentions

 

2009

74,403

22,501

71,189

0

 

2008

10,465

3,414

1,331

0

in € thousands 

 

Licenses

Maintenance

Product sales

 

enterprise Process 

Innovation

total

2009

19,862

13,025

32,887

2009

269,862

310,604

580,466

2008

0

0

0

2008

272,028

267,059

539,087

etS webMethods

2009

139,816

187,871

327,687

2009

110,184

109,708

219,892

2008

156,776

173,805

330,581

2008

115,252

93,254

208,506

noTes To The consoLiDaTeD incoMe sTaTeMenT

5_ ToTaL revenue
license and maintenance revenues can be broken down by business division as follows: 

revenues from Professional services
Professional Service revenues include sales of €57,995 thousand (2008: €26,757 thousand), recognized in accordance with the percentage-of-
completion method. the status of uncompleted projects recognized under the percentage-of-completion method as of December 31, 2009 was 
as follows:

As of December 31, 2009, the net amount due from customers for unfinished project work was €25,715 thousand (2008: €9,032 thousand), 
and the net amount due to customers was €2,885 thousand (2008: €212 thousand).

6_ cosT oF saLes 
the cost of sales amounted to €300,300 thousand (2008: €205,119 thousand) and primarily consisted of personnel expenses in customer 
support and Global Consulting Services as well as purchased services in the Professional Services business and amortization of technologies 
acquired in connection with acquisitions.

7_ research anD DeveLoPMenT exPenses 
the research and development expenses of €82,166 thousand (2008: €76,224 thousand) mainly contain personnel expenses for product 
development and related It expenses.

8_ saLes, MarKeTinG anD DisTriBuTion exPenses 
Sales, marketing and distribution expenses amounted to €192,396 thousand (2008: €177,119 thousand). In addition to personnel expenses  
and amortization/depreciation relating to the sales division, these costs mainly include marketing expenses. 

9_ GeneraL anD aDMinisTraTive exPenses 
General and administrative expenses amounted to €70,683 thousand (2008: €65,083 thousand). they include administrative expenses which 
are attributable neither to cost of sales nor to sales activities.

10_ oTher oPeraTinG incoMe 
Other operating income includes the following items:

Foreign exchange gains include exchange differences in the amount of €40,271 thousand taken to income that were previously recognized in  
equity. Foreign exchange losses recognized under “other operating expenses” (see Note 11) contain exchange differences in the amount of €5,618 
thousand taken to income that were previously recognized in equity. these exchange differences in a net amount of €34,653 thousand, which 
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in € thousands

current domestic taxes

current foreign taxes

Deferred domestic taxes

Deferred foreign taxes

 

2009

– 33,075

– 42,893

– 75,968

3,492

6,936

10,428

– 65,540

2008

– 22,398

– 48,007

– 70,405

4,713

10,911

15,624

– 54,781

in € thousands

financial income

financial expense

 

 

2009

7,291

– 16,176

– 8,885

2008

5,527

– 10,649

– 5,122

in € thousands

foreign exchange losses

restructuring costs

Legal fees

Bad debt allowances

Other expenses

 

 

2009

35,652

11,220

914

0

14,631

62,417

2008

29,192

0

4,788

8,854

18,192

61,026

were previously deferred in equity, were taken to profit or loss due to settlement of intercompany loans that qualified as a partial disposal under 
IAS 21.49, which was applicable for Software AG until December 31, 2009. 

11_ oTher oPeraTinG exPenses 
Other operating expenses consist of the following items:

Foreign exchange losses include approximately €6,800 thousand in foreign exchange losses of the venezuelan subsidiary. the losses resulted 
mainly from using the parallel market rate for translating foreign currency liabilities into the local currency (veB) in combination with using the 
parallel market rate for translating the financial statements of the subsidiary into the functional currency (euR). the transition from the official rate 
to the parallel market rate was effected in the fourth quarter of 2009. 

Other expenses include expenses in the amount of €10,567 thousand resulting from the reduction in goodwill due to subsequent recognition of 
deferred tax assets in connection with the acquisition of webMethods in 2007, which was recorded in profit or loss in fiscal 2009. this increase of 
deferred tax assets results from the larger-than-expected use of tax loss carryforwards of webMethods, which was acquired in 2007 (see Note 19). 
the adjustment was made in accordance with IFRS 3 as applied by Software AG until December 31, 2009. the revised IFRS 3, which Software AG is 
applying as of January 1, 2010, no longer allows goodwill to be adjusted in profit or loss to reflect subsequent changes in deferred tax assets after 
initial accounting for the combination has been completed.

12_ FinanciaL incoMe/exPense, neT
the acquisition of IDS Scheer AG resulted in an increase of liabilities to banks. As a result, the balance of financial income and financial expense 
declined by €3,763 thousand, broken down as follows:

13_ incoMe Taxes 
taxes on income are broken down into the following categories:

In Germany, a uniform corporate income tax of 15 percent applies. Based on the average municipal trade tax collection rate and a solidarity surcharge 
of 5.5 percent on corporate tax, the income tax rate for domestic companies will be 30.8 percent starting in 2009 (2008: 30.7 percent). tax rates 
abroad range between 10 and 41 percent (2008: between 15 and 42 percent).

the tax expense increased by approximately 20 percent due to our improved financial performance in 2009 compared to the prior year.
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in € thousands

earnings before income tax

Expected income tax (30.8 %; 30.7 %)

Difference vs. foreign tax rates and changes in tax rates 

tax refunds (+)/back tax payments (–) for previous years

tax decreases (+)/tax increases (–) due to tax-exempt income or non-tax deductible expenses

Use of tax loss carryforwards and valuation adjustments to deferred tax assets

Other adjustments

reported income tax expense

 

2009

206,335

– 63,551

– 2,695

129

– 6,908

9,245

– 1,760

– 65,540

2008

170,641

– 52,387

– 3,868

– 354

– 4,102

5,491

439

– 54,781

in € thousands

wages and salaries

Social security contributions

Pension expenses

 

2009

337,346

44,090

9,530

390,966

2008

271,878

26,988

6,777

305,643

Maintenance and service

Sales and marketing

research and development

administration

 

Dec. 31, 2009

2,232

867

734

651

4,484

Dec. 31, 2008

1,585

720

632

524

3,461

the income tax expense of €– 65,540 thousand in fiscal year 2009 (2008: €– 54,781 thousand) is €1,989 thousand higher than the expected 
income tax expense of €– 63,551 thousand (2008: €– 52,387 thousand) that would result from applying the domestic tax rate of 30.8 percent 
currently applicable (2008: 30.7 percent) at Group level. the effective tax rate for the Group is 31.76 percent (2008: 32.10 percent). the difference 
between the expected and current tax expense can be attributed to the following:

14_ oTher Taxes 
Other taxes mainly include property taxes, vehicle taxes, and other indirect taxes.

15_ PersonneL exPenses 
Personnel expenses in fiscal years 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

In fiscal 2009, the average number of employees (i.e., part-time employees are taken into account on a pro-rata basis only) by area of activity 
was as follows:

In absolute terms (i.e., part-time employees are counted in full), the Group employed 6,170 people (2008: 3,606) as of the reporting date.

16_ earninGs Per share 
earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income for the period attributable to Software AG's shareholders by the weighted average 
number of shares issued during the period under review. Software AG has only issued common shares. In fiscal year 2009, the average weighted 
number of shares was 28,681,849 (2008: 28,599,020).

A total of 69,568 stock options were exercised in 2009 (2008: 99,387). 

the number of shares increased correspondingly by 69,568. Another 7,691 stock options may be exercised from the second stock option plan in 
fiscal year 2010. Diluted earnings per share were therefore calculated for these potential shares using the treasury stock method for the period 
under review. Diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing net income for the period attributable to Software AG's shareholders by the 
weighted average number of shares issued to date plus the weighted average number of exercisable stock options.
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ChaNgeS IN INtaNgIBLe aSSetS aND gOODwILL  
in fiscal year 2009  

in € thousands 

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009

currency translation differences

additions from acquisitions

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

accumulated amortization/impairment

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009

currency translation differences

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

residual carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2009

residual carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2009

 

total 

631,274

– 11,966

372,621

5,853

– 13,218

984,564

– 37,667

2,097

– 30,930

1,005

– 65,495

593,607

919,069

 

Intangible 

 assets

186,702

– 5,836

116,094

5,853

– 2,651 

300,162

 

– 35,771

2,101

– 30,930 

1,005 

– 63,595

 

150,931

 

236,567

  goodwill

444,572

– 6,130

256,527

0

– 10,567 

684,402

 

– 1,896 

-4

0

0 

– 1,900

 

442,676

 

682,502

in € thousands

trade receivables due within 1 year

Uninvoiced services (<1 year)

trade receivables due in more than 1 year

Uninvoiced services (>1 year)

 

Dec. 31, 2007

169,471

39,840

209,311

10,406

5,298

225,015

Dec. 31, 2009

252,531

77,934

330,465

7,384

4,043

341,892

 

Dec. 31, 2008

196,816

50,435

247,251

12,744

4,464

264,459

in € thousands

Carrying amount

of which neither impaired nor past due as of the balance sheet date

of which past due in the following time bands

 1 to 3 months

 4 to 6 months

 7 to 12 months

 > 12 months

 

Dec. 31, 2007

225,015

166,159

41,078

11,419

6,359

0

Dec. 31, 2008

264,459

199,275

43,059

19,372

2,753

0

Dec. 31, 2009

341,892

244,626

60,176

26,111

10,440

539

 

noTes To The consoLiDaTeD BaLance sheeT

17_ TraDe receivaBLes 
trade receivables include:

the following trade receivables were not yet due or past due as of the reporting date: 

In a number of countries, bad debt allowances are deducted directly from the trade receivables.

18_ oTher receivaBLes anD oTher asseTs 
Other receivables and other assets mainly consist of derivative financial instruments designated to hedge the management incentive plan in the 
amount of €22,524 thousand (2008: €7,674 thousand). this item also contains receivables due from tax authorities as well as rent deposits.

19_ inTanGiBLe asseTs/GooDwiLL
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ChaNgeS IN INtaNgIBLe aSSetS aND gOODwILL  
in fiscal year 2008  

in € thousands 

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2008

currency translation differences

additions from acquisitions

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2008

accumulated amortization/impairment

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2008

currency translation differences

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2008

residual carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2008

residual carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2008

   total 

611,418

17,974

18,549

5,035

– 21,702

631,274

– 40,557

– 803

– 16,691

20,384

– 37,667

570,861

593,607

Intangible 

assets

177,926

6,818

18,549

4,694

– 21,285

186,702

– 38,661

– 803

– 16,691

20,384

– 35,771

139,265

150,931

  goodwill

433,492

11,156

0

341

– 417

444,572

– 1,896

0

0

0

– 1,896

431,596

442,676

ChaNgeS IN INtaNgIBLe aSSetS aND gOODwILL  
in fiscal year 2007  

in € thousands 

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2007

currency translation differences

additions from acquisitions

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2007

accumulated amortization/impairment

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2007

currency translation differences

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2007

residual carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2007

residual carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2007

 

total 

225,734

– 28,941

415,398

1,383

– 2,156

611,418

– 33,093

1,143

– 8,887

280

– 40,557

192,641

570,861

Intangible 

assets

 

35,891

– 13,232

154,260

1,283

– 276 

177,926

 

– 31,197

1,143

– 8,887

280 

– 38,661

 

4,694

 

139,265

  goodwill

189,843

– 15,709

261,138

100

– 1,880 

433,492

 

– 1,896

0

0

0 

– 1,896

 

187,947

 

431,596

Goodwill amounted to €682,502 thousand as of December 31, 2009, an increase of €239,826 thousand over December 31, 2008. the increase 
was primarily due to acquisition-related additions (see explanation in Note 4).

the goodwill disposals of €10,567 thousand in fiscal 2009 resulted from the capitalization of deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards and the 
use of tax loss carryforwards acquired by the Group in connection with the purchase of webMethods in 2007, which at that time were not 
considered to be recoverable. An analysis in 2009 determined that these loss carryforwards, which thus far had not been capitalized, would 
probably be able to be used in the near future, meaning that deferred taxes had to be capitalized accordingly. therefore, the carrying amount 
was adjusted by €10,567 thousand, pursuant to IFRS 3.65 in conjunction with IAS 12.68 (see Note 11 and Note 22).
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in € thousands 

 

 

customer base obtained through webMethods acquisition

Software (rights and licenses) obtained through webMethods acquisition

Software (rights and licenses) obtained through IDS acquisition

customer base obtained through IDS acquisition

 

remaining 

amortization 

period 

in years

10.0

4.4

5.7

7.7

Carrying 

amount as of 

Dec. 31, 2008  

 

53,257

38,922

–

–

Carrying 

amount as of 

Dec. 31, 2009  

46,973

30,790

43,504

24,918

 

in € thousands 

 

Brand name (“webMethods”)  

obtained through webMethods acquisition 

Segment: webMethods

Brand name (“aris”)  

obtained through IDS acquisition 

Segment: Enterprise Process Innovation

Brand name (“IDS Scheer”)  

obtained through IDS acquisition

Segment: Enterprise Process Innovation

 

reason for assuming  

indefinite useful life

 

we plan to continue using the name  

“webMethods” for an indefinite period  

of time and expand it in the future. 

we plan to continue using the name  

“aris” for an indefinite period of time  

and expand it in the future. 

we plan to continue using the name  

“IDS Scheer” for an indefinite period  

of time and expand it in the future.

Carrying 

amount as of 

Dec. 31, 2008  

17,888

 

 

–

 

–

Carrying 

amount as of 

Dec. 31, 2009

 

 

17,355

 

 

17,900

 

 

8,800

 

Goodwill as well as intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment on an annual basis by comparing the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill or the intangible asset is allocated with the recoverable amount. testing for impairment 
involves regularly checking the recoverable amount with regard to value in use.

value in use is calculated using discounted cash flows based on strategic budgets calculated and approved by management. the budgets are 
designed on the basis of past experience, information derived from current operating results, and management estimates on future develop-
ments. Revenue trends on country level, for instance, is one element of management estimates of future developments that is particularly 
prone to uncertainty. three-year plans have been developed for the etS and webMethods segments and a five-year plan for the IDS segment. 
the forecasts take into account historical values and estimates of future developments. 

the estimated future cash flows for the etS segment were discounted as of December 31, 2009 using a pre-tax weighted average cost of  
capital (WACC) before taxes of 11.1 percent. For webMethods, a pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 10.9 percent was calculated.

the calculated value in use for the etS and webMethods segments exceeds the carrying amounts, even if a growth rate of 0 percent is assumed. 
For this reason, we have opted to forego using realistic growth rates in the calculation. 

In the impairment test for the IDS segment, a pre-tax WACC of 11.4 percent and a long-term growth rate of 1 percent were assumed. this  
resulted in the estimate for recoverable value in use exceeding the carrying amounts.

If a pre-tax WACC of 11.8 percent (instead of 11.4 percent) had been assumed, with the growth rate unchanged at 1 percent, the value in use 
would have been equal to the carrying amount.

the value in use and the carrying amount would also have been equal if a long-term growth rate of 0.6 percent (instead of 1 percent) had  
been used, with the WACC remaining the same as for the impairment test (11.4 percent).

Intangible assets mainly include software, customer bases, and brand names obtained in connection with acquisitions.

the following intangible assets with limited useful lives are of particular significance for the financial statements:

In addition, the following intangible assets with indefinite useful lives existed as of December 31, 2009:
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ChaNgeS IN PrOPerty, PLaNt aND eQuIPMeNt in fiscal 2009

in € thousands 

 

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009

currency translation differences

additions from acquisitions

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

accumulated depreciation/impairment

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009

currency translation differences

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

residual carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2009

residual carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2009 

total 

 

96,459

– 974

23,117

7,597

– 13,537

112,662

 

– 49,471

558

– 8,221

11,536

– 45,598

46,988

67,064

  Operating  

and office

equipment

43,258

– 754

5,414

6,947

– 11,404

43,461

– 29,429

417

– 6,272

9,467

– 25,817

13,829

17,644

   Land  

and  

buildings

53,201

– 220

17,703

650

– 2,133

69,201

– 20,042

141

– 1,949

2,069

– 19,781

33,159

49,420

in € thousands

Segment

EtS

webMethods

Enterprise Process Innovation

 

Dec. 31, 2009

229,608

205,873

247,021

682,502

 

Dec. 31, 2008

231,674

211,002

0

442,676

Brand names are not subject to amortization. Any changes in the carrying amounts result from currency translation effects.

the carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the segments as follows: 

the segments represent the smallest cash-generating units in the Group.

20_ ProPerTy, PLanT anD equiPMenT
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ChaNgeS IN PrOPerty, PLaNt aND eQuIPMeNt in fiscal 2007

in € thousands 

 

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2007

currency translation differences

additions from acquisitions

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2007

 

accumulated depreciation/impairment

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2007

currency translation differences

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2007

residual carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2007

residual carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2007

 

total 

 

93,841

– 3,345

11,094

5,827

– 8,044

99,373

 

– 49,438

2,200

– 6,253

– 3,965

– 49,526

44,403

49,847

 

  Operating  

and office

equipment

42,589

– 2,227

5,283

4,475

– 4,099

46,021

– 31,457

1,837

– 5,260

3,518

– 31,362

11,132

14,659

   Land and 

buildings

51,252

– 1,118

5,811

1,352

– 3,945

53,352

– 17,981

363

– 993

447

– 18,164

33,271

35,188

ChaNgeS IN PrOPerty, PLaNt aND eQuIPMeNt in fiscal 2008

in € thousands 

 

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2008

currency translation differences

additions from acquisitions

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2008

accumulated depreciation/impairment

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2008

currency translation differences

additions

Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2008

residual carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2008

residual carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2008 

 

total 

 

99,373

– 598

0

3,641

– 5,957

96,459

– 49,526

509

– 8,847

8,393

– 49,471

49,847

46,988

 

Operating  

and office

equipment

46,021

– 531

0

2,455

– 4,687

43,258

 

– 31,362

379

– 5,211

6,765

– 29,429

14,659

 

13,829

   Land  

and  

buildings

 53,352

– 67

0

1,186

– 1,270

53,201

– 18,164

130

– 3,636

1,628

– 20,042

35,188

33,159

Most of the land and buildings are owned by the parent company, the Spanish subsidiary, or IDS Scheer in Saarbrücken. the properties pertain 
to the central administrative buildings of these entities. 

Operating and office equipment mainly includes office furniture and It equipment. the capital expenditure of €6,947 thousand primarily relates 
to expenses for the initial purchase of computer equipment. 
 

21_ FinanciaL asseTs 
Financial assets chiefly relate to the provision of collateral as part of long-term customer contracts as well as rent deposits and assets held to 
cover the value of long-term employee time accounts.
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in € thousands

Current financial liabilities  

Liabilities to banks

Other financial liabilities

Bills payable

Liabilities from finance leases

Other current financial liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities  

Liabilities to banks

Other financial liabilities

Liabilities from finance leases

Other non-current financial liabilities

 

Dec. 31, 2009

192,388

4,920

1,025

177

6

198,516

239,241

51,966

106

97

291,410

Dec. 31, 2008

59,782

0

1,569

9

0

61,360

105,771

0

0

70

105,841

Dec. 31, 2007

44,849

0

1,771

32

0

46,652

167,647

0

1

0

167,648

in € thousands 

Intangible assets

Other obligations

receivables and financial assets

Property, plant and equipment

Pension commitments

Prepaid expenses/deferred income

tax loss carryforwards

amount offset

Balance sheet in the previous year

amount offset

amount recognized in the balance sheet

 

Dec. 31, 2009

14,830

20,168

5,482

1,268

5,059

5,845

17,719

– 45,288

25,083

Dec. 31, 2009

72,296

5,173

22,468

4,646

253

7,163

-

– 45,288

66,711

Dec. 31, 2008

18,196

16,398

8,252

653

2,461

11,245

13,263

– 3,740

66,728

– 51,035

15,693

Dec. 31, 2008

47,228

1,754

11,363

2,984

433

13,749

-

– 3,740

73,771

– 51,035

22,736

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

22_ DeFerreD Taxes 
Deferred taxes were composed of the following as of the balance sheet date (before offsetting):

Due to the changed presentation of deferred taxes, the figures differ from the previous year. this resulted from the new procedure of setting off 
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities provided they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and a right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities exists. We have refrained from presenting the comparative figures for 2007 because the effort 
and expense required to adapt the 2007 figures to the current structure would not have been economically justifiable.

No current and non-current distinction is made in the presentation of deferred taxes in the consolidated balance sheet.

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards increased over the prior year by €4,456 thousand. the change resulted from having utilized the 
losses carried forward due to the good business trend, the takeover of the IDS Scheer Group, and above all, the subsequent capitalization and 
use of loss carryforwards in a total amount of €10,567 thousand that had been acquired in connection with acquisitions (see Note 19). 
 
As of December 31, 2009, the consolidated Group had unutilized tax loss carryforwards in the amount of €155,541 thousand (2008: €138,922 
thousand) for which no deferred tax assets have been recognized. Of the losses carried forward for which no deferred taxes were recognized, 
€34,757 thousand will expire in the period from 2010 to 2020, €95,838 thousand in the period from 2021 to 2030, and €24,946 can be utilized 
indefinitely. 

As of the reporting date, taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries existed in the amount of €2,600 thousand 
(2008: €1,331 thousand) on which no deferred tax liabilities had been recognized in accordance with IAS 12.39 given that no disposals or profit 
distributions are planned.

In fiscal year 2009, deferred taxes totaling €2,107 thousand (2008: €3,538 thousand) were recognized directly in equity. these amounts mainly 
resulted from actuarial gains/losses recognized directly in equity based on changes in the measurement of pension obligations as well as from 
financial instruments also recognized directly in equity.

23_ FinanciaL LiaBiLiTies 
Financial liabilities can be broken down as follows:
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in € thousands

Current liabilities 

Payables to suppliers

Payments received on account of orders

Non-current liabilities

Payables to suppliers

 

Dec. 31, 2009

59,145

2,885

62,030

260

 

Dec. 31, 2008

 

34,688

1,136 

35,824

68

Dec. 31, 2007

 

28,620

2,680 

31,300

64

in € thousands 

 

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2009

currency translation

additions from acquisitions

additions

Utilization

reversal

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

of which with a remaining term of more than 1 year 

 

total  

other  

provisions

82,970

396

21,290

70,971

– 44,936

– 10,748

119,943

27,548

Miscellaneous 

other  

provisions

47,666

240

6,180

40,543

– 23,784

– 8,620

62,225

26,082

restructuring 

provisions

678

0

976

1,500

– 625

– 641

1,888

14

Other provisions 

for personnel 

expenses

34,626

156

14,134

28,928

– 20,527

– 1,487

55,830

1,452

in € thousands

Other current liabilities  

tax liabilities

Liabilities due to employees

Liabilities for social security

Outstanding consideration (acquisitions)

Deferred lease payments

Miscellaneous other current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities  

Outstanding consideration (acquisitions)

Deferred lease payments

Liabilities due to employees 

Liabilities for social security

tax liabilities

Miscellaneous other non-current liabilities

 

Dec. 31, 2009

24,827

26,955

5,899

3,920

2,652

8,848

73,101

493

0

150

133

2

289

1,067

Dec. 31, 2007

15,520

15,684

6,590

21,191

2,419

2,795 

64,199

0

2,501

171

146

2

146

2,966

Dec. 31, 2008

20,084

14,112

3,306

0

2,962

4,687 

45,151

0

0

214

162

2

0

378

in € thousands

Loans with variable interest rates

Loans with fixed interest rates

 

up to 1 year

173,772

23,536

197,308

 > 1 year

191,783

99,424 

291,207

liabilities to banks and other financial liabilities had the following maturities as of the reporting date:

loans amounting to €4,428 thousand are secured by liens on real property. 

the fair values of the liabilities to banks with variable interest rates are equal to their carrying amounts. the fair values of the liabilities with 
fixed interest rates amounted to €123,291 thousand. the fair values were calculated by discounting the future cash flows using current market rates.

24_ TraDe PayaBLes 
trade payables can be broken down as follows 

25_ oTher LiaBiLiTies 
Other liabilities relate to the following items:

26_ oTher Provisions
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in € thousands

Provisions for pensions (foreign)

Provisions for pensions (domestic)

Provisions for insignificant pension obligations from defined benefit plans and similar obligations

 

Dec. 31, 

2009

16,185

12,632

745

29,562

Dec. 31, 

2008

8,351

7,511

788

16,650

Dec. 31, 

2007

8,912

8,317

0

17,229

in € thousands

Benefit obligation, fully funded

Benefit obligation, partially funded

Benefit obligation, unfunded

Present value of plan assets

Net carrying amounts

 of which provisions for pensions

 of which plan assets

 

Dec. 31, 

2009

4,932

59,741

2,888

67,561

– 39,166

28,395

28,817

423

 

Dec. 31,

2008

3,887

34,557

1,483

39,927

– 24,087

15,840

15,862

22

Dec. 31,

2007

40,675

8,366

1,556

50,597

– 33,368

17,229

17,229

0

actuarial assumptions in % 

Discount rate

Expected salary increases

Expected pension increases 

Expected return on plan assets

 

Domestic pension plans Foreign pension plans

2009

5.3

2.0

2.0

4.4

 

2009

5.1

4.9

3.0

5.6

 

2008

6.0

0.0

1.9

4.5

2007

5.3

0.0

1.7

4.5 

2008

5.7

4.4

2.2

5.8

2007

 5.6

4.9

2.9

6.4

in € thousands 

Bonuses

Obligations from stock price-based remuneration plans

Lease payment obligations

Impending losses for GcS projects

Other taxes

asset retirement obligations

remaining miscellaneous other provisions 

 

 

Dec. 31, 

2009

24,863

10,874

7,242

3,858

1,897

1,156

12,335

62,225

Dec. 31, 

2008

14,372

2,062

7,829

1,593

1,129

979

19,702

47,666

Dec. 31, 

2007

11,151

1,471

5,152

1,984

603

746

2,261

23,368

Miscellaneous other provisions
Miscellaneous other provisions include:

the consolidated balance sheet includes the following items relating to significant defined benefit plans as of December 31, 2009, December 
31, 2008 and December 31, 2007:

Pension commitments in Germany consist of fixed commitments to a select group of people. these commitments are partially covered by life 
reinsurance policies. 

the major part of these foreign pension commitments result from a defined benefit plan of Software AG (uK) limited, united Kingdom. the 
commitments comprise post-employment benefits for employees as well as benefits payable to their surviving dependents on the employee's 
death during their active service period. Both the pension commitments from the plan of Software AG (uK) limited and the pension commit-
ments of the other foreign subsidiaries are partially funded through plan assets.

the actuarial calculations of the defined benefit obligations are based on the following assumptions (weighted averages):

Remaining miscellaneous other provisions primarily include provisions related to pending litigation and the audit of financial statements.

27_ Provisions For Pensions

the discount rates used have been derived from available interest rates of high-quality bonds with comparable maturities.
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in € thousands 

Change in defined benefit obligations (DBO)

DBO as of January 1

additions related to business combinations

Service cost 

Interest expense

Employee contributions

actuarial gains (–) / losses (+)

Pension payments

Past service cost

Plan curtailments

Exchange differences

DBO as of December 31

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets as of January 1

additions related to business combinations

Expected return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Employee contributions

actuarial gains (+) / losses (–)

Pension payments

Exchange differences

Fair value of plan assets as of December 31

 

2009

9,554

2,220

287

598

0

1,087

– 594

2,822

25

0

15,999

2,043

1,031

108

443

10

– 246

0

0

3,389

 

2009

30,373

6,850

1,941

1,919

249

8,519

– 228

1,939

51,562

22,044

5,512

1,392

2,770

249

2,894

– 361

1,277

35,777

 

2008

9,922

0

248

512

0

– 396

– 732

0

0

0

9,554

1,605

0

72

523

0

– 157

0

0

2,043

2007

11,649

0

336

457

0

– 2,082

– 438

0

0

0

9,922

1,138

0

48

169

0

250

0

0

1,605

2008

40,675

0

1,964

2,147

315

– 5,696

– 1,717

– 7,315

30,373

31,763

0

2,106

2,792

315

– 9,580

– 1,678

– 3,674

22,044

2007

41,519

5,674

2,426

2,135

149

– 5,621

– 2,110

– 3,497

40,675

27,421

4,862

2,021

3,132

149

– 1,180

– 2,007

– 2,635

31,763

Domestic pensions plans Foreign pensions plans

in € thousands

Service cost

Interest expense

Expected return on plan assets

repayment of expenses/income from retroactive plan amendments (past service cost/benefits)

Losses/gains from plan termination and plan curtailment 

Net periodic pension cost

 

2009

2,228

2,517

– 1,437

2,822

25

6,155

2008

2,212

2,659

– 2,179

0

0

2,692

in € thousands

actuarial gains (+) / losses (–) recognized in the period

Net actuarial gains (+) / losses (–) recognized in the period from insignificant plans

accumulated actuarial gains (+) / losses (–) recognized in the period as of December 31

 

2009

– 4,939

– 52

– 6,913

 

2008

– 2,316

– 99

– 1,922

Pension commitments in foreign countries are calculated in accordance with country-specific calculation principles and parameters.

Due to the fact that pension commitments in Germany are exclusively invested in life insurance policies, the expected return on plan assets 
corresponds to the minimum return stated by the insurance company.

the expected return on plan assets for foreign plans was calculated as an expected weighted average of the individual asset classes. the  
expected returns on such asset classes were determined on the basis of the relevant local capital market conditions.

the changes in the defined benefit obligations and plan assets are as follows: 

Net periodic pension cost can be broken down as follows:

Service cost, repayment of expenses from retroactive plan amendments (past service cost), and losses from plan termination and plan curtailment 
were recognized as personnel expenses under operating expenses. Interest expense, less the expected return on plan assets, was included in net 
financial income/expense. 

taking into account deferred taxes, actuarial gains and losses recognized in equity have changed as follows:
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in € thousands

DBO 

Present value of plan assets

Net carrying amounts

Experience adjustments to DBO in %

Experience adjustments to plan assets in %

 

Dec. 31, 

2009

67,561

– 39,166

28,395

1.5

6.8

 

Dec. 31, 

2005

49,337

– 24,229

25,108

1.6

1.8

Dec. 31, 

2006

53,168

– 28,559

24,609

1.2

– 9.3

Dec. 31, 

2007

50,597

– 33,368

17,229

– 6.1

7.4

Dec. 31, 

2008

39,927

– 24,087

15,840

– 17.7

– 36.0

in € thousands

Balance as of January 1  

currency translation

additions to the group of consolidated companies

additions

Utilization

reversal

Balance as of December 31  

 

2009

36,688

504

4,717

39,273

– 29,214

– 9,671

42,297

 

2008

11,485

– 1,291

0

35,671

– 8,983

– 194

36,688

2007

14,726

– 383

1,561

10,344

– 14,496

– 267

11,485

in € thousands

Equities

Life insurance policies

Bonds

Other

 

Dec. 31, 

2009

11,128

13,883

11,525

2,630

39,166

 

Dec. 31, 

2005

17,760

5,141

861

467

24,229

Dec. 31, 

2006

22,296

4,407

1,138

718

28,559

Dec. 31, 

2007

21,497

6,289

3,821

1,761

33,368

Dec. 31, 

2008

9,259

7,996

6,386

446

24,087

the plan assets used to fund the pension obligations can be broken down as follows:

Defined contribution plans
In addition to the defined benefit plans, the Group also maintains defined contribution plans. these plans resulted in expenses of €3,628 thousand 
in fiscal 2009.

28_ Provisions For Taxes

29_ equiTy
share capital 
As of December 31, 2009, Software AG's share capital totaled €86,125 thousand, divided into 28,708,410 bearer shares. each share entitles its 
holder to one vote.

conditional capital
the following conditional capital existed as of December 31, 2009:

1.)  up to €6,840 thousand divided into up to 2,280,000 bearer shares to service subscription rights under the third stock option plan (Manage-
ment Incentive Plan III, or MIP III) for members of the executive Board and Group officers. the requirements of this plan and the status of 
allocations and options exercised are presented in Notes 37 and 38. 
 
the executive Board did not make use of this authorization in fiscal year 2009.

the actual return on plan assets amounted to €4,080 thousand in fiscal 2009. 

Contributions from the Software AG Group to plan assets for fiscal year 2010 are expected to amount to €3,479 thousand.

the defined benefit obligations, present values of plan assets, net carrying amounts, and experience adjustments for significant plans for the 
current and the four preceding reporting periods are as follows:
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2.)  up to €1,233 thousand divided into a maximum of 411,055 bearer shares to service subscription rights under the second stock option plan 
(Management Incentive Plan II, or MIP II) for members of the executive Board and officers of the Software AG Group. the requirements of 
this plan and the status of allocations and options exercised are presented in Notes 37 and 38. Based on the options exercised during 2009 
by officers and executive Board members, the executive Board made partial use of its option to increase conditional capital in the amount of 
€209 thousand, divided into 69,568 bearer shares.

3.)  up to €33,000 thousand divided into a maximum of 11,000,000 bearer shares, each with a notional interest in the share capital of €3.00, for 
the purpose of granting option rights and agreeing on option obligations arising from bonds with warrants or granting conversion rights to  
and agreeing on conversion obligations with bearers of convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of up to €500,000 thousand and 
a term not to exceed 15 years in accordance with the terms and conditions of the bonds, as resolved by the Annual Shareholders' Meeting 
on May 13, 2005. Pursuant to this authorization, the executive Board may, subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board, resolve on or  
before May 12, 2011 that the rights described be issued by Software AG or a directly or indirectly held wholly owned affiliate of Software AG.

 
    In this respect, the shareholders are to be granted subscription rights except in the following cases: 

 
the executive Board is authorized to exclude fractional amounts from shareholders' subscription rights. 
 
 Subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board, the executive Board is authorized to exclude the shareholders' subscription rights in full, 
provided it has come to the conclusion that the issue price of the bonds with warrants or convertible bonds is not significantly lower than their 
hypothetical market value arrived at by using accepted methods, in particular financial calculation methods, after having conducted a review 
in accordance with its professional duties. however, this authorization to exclude subscription rights only applies to bonds with warrants and 
convertible bonds with option or conversion rights or with share-based option or conversion obligations with a share in the issued share capital 
not to exceed €8,180 thousand, or—if lower—10 percent of the issued share capital in existence at the time the authorization is acted upon. 
 
As of December 31, 2009, the executive Board had not made use of this authorization.

authorized capital
As of December 31, 2009, the executive Board is also authorized, subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board, to increase the Company's 
share capital on one or more occasions on or before May 12, 2011 by up to a total of €41,804 thousand by issuing up to 13,934,544 new 
bearer shares against cash contributions and/or contributions in kind (authorized capital). In this respect, the shareholders are to be granted 
subscription rights except in the following cases:

  the executive Board is authorized to exclude fractional amounts from shareholders' subscription rights.
  the executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board, to exclude subscription rights in an amount not to 

exceed €89 thousand of the par value of the new shares issued in order to allow the Company to offer new shares to the employees of 
the Company and its affiliated entities as defined in sections 15 et seq. of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) as part of an emplo-
yee stock ownership plan. the new shares may also be transferred to a bank, provided they will be held exclusively for the purpose of 
acquisition by entitled employees in accordance with the Company's instructions.

  Subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board, the executive Board is authorized to exclude subscription rights in the event of capital 
increases against contributions in kind, provided the contribution in kind is for the purpose of acquiring companies, parts of companies,  
or equity interests in companies.

  Subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board, the executive Board is authorized to exclude subscription rights in the event of capital 
increases against cash contributions, provided the capital increases resolved on the basis of this authorization do not, in total, exceed 10 
percent of the issued share capital at the time the authorization is first acted upon and provided the issue price is not significantly lower 
than the stock market price. the upper limit of 10 percent of the issued share capital will be reduced by the pro rata amount of the share 
capital attributable to those treasury shares of the Company that are sold during the term of the authorized capital, subject to exclusion 
of shareholders' subscription rights pursuant to section 71 (1) no. 8, sentence 5 and section 186 (3) sentence 4 of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act. Furthermore, the upper limit will be reduced by the pro rata amount of the share capital attributable to those shares issued 
to service warrants and convertible bonds with option or conversion rights or conversion obligations, provided the bonds were issued 
during the term of the authorized capital subject to the exclusion of subscription rights as set forth in section 186 (3) sentence 4 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act.

the executive Board did not make use of this authorization in fiscal year 2009.
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acquisition of treasury shares
Pursuant to the Annual Shareholders' Meeting resolution dated April 30, 2009, the Company is authorized to purchase on or before October 29, 2010:
 
a) treasury shares having a notional interest in the issued share capital of up to €8,601 thousand. 

b)  the treasury shares may be purchased on the stock market or through a public purchase offer addressed to all shareholders of the Company. 
 If the shares are purchased via the stock exchange, the consideration paid for the shares (not including transaction costs) may be up to 5 
 percent higher or lower than the average listed price—the unweighted average of the closing rates in Xetra trading on the Frankfurt Stock  
 exchange or a successor system—of the Company shares during the five days preceding the purchase. the date of acquisition is the date  
 upon which the transaction is concluded. 

  If the shares are purchased via a public purchase offer, the consideration paid for the shares (not including transaction costs) may be up to 
10 percent higher or lower than the average listed price—the unweighted average of the closing rates in Xetra trading on the Frankfurt Stock 
exchange or a successor system—of the Company shares between the ninth and the fifth trading days prior to publication of the offer. If the 
purchase offer is oversubscribed, bids will be accepted in proportion to the number of shares on offer. the offer may stipulate a preferential 
acceptance of a smaller number of shares of up to 100 units per shareholder.

c)  the executive Board is authorized to sell the Company shares purchased on the basis of the authorization pursuant to letter “a” above or an 
authorization granted at an earlier time via the stock exchange or in another manner the fulfills the requirement to treat all shareholders 
equally, such as through an offer addressed to all of the Company’s shareholders. 

d)  the executive Board is also authorized, subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board and the exclusion of shareholder subscription rights, 
to sell the treasury shares purchased, provided the shares are sold for cash at a price that is not significantly lower than the listed prices of 
Company shares that have the same terms and features at the time of the sale. this authorization is limited to shares with a notional interest in 
the share capital not to exceed a total of €8,600,861.00, or, if lower, 10 percent of the issued share capital in existence at the time the author- 
ization is acted upon. the upper limit will be reduced by the pro rata amount of the share capital attributable to those shares issued during 
the term of this authorization as part of a capital increase subject to the exclusion of subscription rights pursuant to section 186 (3), sentence 
4 of the German Stock Corporation Act. Furthermore, the upper limit will be reduced by the pro rata amount of the share capital attributable 
to those shares issued to service warrants and convertible bonds with option or conversion rights or option or conversion obligations, provided 
the bonds were issued during the term of the authorized capital subject to the exclusion of subscription rights as set forth in section 186 (3) 
sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act. the average listed price of the Company shares—the unweighted average closing price in Xetra 
trading on the Frankfurt Stock exchange or a successor system—during the five trading days preceding the sale will be considered the applicable 
listed price within the meaning of this paragraph. the date of acquisition is the date upon which the transaction is concluded. 

e)  the executive Board is also authorized, subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board and the exclusion of shareholders' subscription rights, 
to dispose of the treasury shares as follows:  
 
i)  to sell the shares to third parties, provided such sale is for the purpose of acquiring companies, parts of companies, and/or equity interests 

in companies or within the context of business combinations; 
 ii)  In compliance with the terms and conditions of the bonds, the executive Board may deliver the shares to the holders of warrants or con-

vertible bonds issued by the Company or by a wholly owned direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company. 

f)  In the event of a sale of treasury shares via an offer to all shareholders, the executive Board is furthermore authorized, subject to the consent of 
the Supervisory Board, to grant subscription rights to the holders of warrants or convertible bonds issued by the Company or by a wholly owned 
direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company equivalent to that to which the warrant holders or bondholders would be entitled upon exercising 
their option or conversion rights or fulfilling their option or conversion obligations and in the scope necessary to exclude shareholder subscription 
rights. 

g)  Furthermore, the executive Board is authorized to recall all or part of the treasury shares in one or several steps without any additional 
authorization from the Annual Shareholders' Meeting. the shares may also be recalled without a capital decrease by adjusting the pro rata 
amount in the Company’s share capital of the remaining shares. In such case, the executive Board is authorized to adjust the specification of 
the number of shares in the Articles of Incorporation.

h)  the authorization to purchase or use the Company's treasury shares may be exercised either in whole or in part, and in the latter case on 
more than one occasion. treasury shares may be purchased for one or more of the aforementioned purposes. 

i)  the currently existing authorization to purchase treasury shares on or before October 28, 2009 as resolved by the Annual Shareholders' 
Meeting of April 29, 2008, Agenda Item 7 (“authorization to acquire treasury shares”) will be rescinded as of the effective date of the new 
authorization. 
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in € thousands 

 

currency translation differences

Net gain/loss on remeasuring financial assets

Net gain/loss arising from translating net investments in foreign operations

Net actuarial gain/loss on pension obligations

Other comprehensive income

 

20082009

Pre-tax 

amount

– 1,385

9,828

– 35,603

– 6,578

– 33,738

 

Pre-tax 

amount

3,264

– 10,268

2,059

– 3,243

– 8,188

tax  

effect

-

– 3,019

-

1,588

– 1,431

 

tax  

effect

-

3,209

-

828

4,037

Net 

amount

– 1,385

6,809

– 35,603

– 4,990

– 35,169

 

    Net 

amount

3,264

– 7,059

2,059

– 2,415

– 4,151

As of December 31, 2009, the executive Board had not made use of its authorization to acquire treasury shares.

equity management
the Software AG Group has an obligation to achieve long-term, profitable growth. For this reason, net income for the year is the key indicator with 
regard to corporate management. As a result of the low capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment—a common feature for software 
companies—equity is not in the focus of corporate management. Dividends are calculated as the average of net income for the year and free cash 
flow. this resulted in total dividends of €32,555 thousand (2008: €31,503 thousand) and a payout ratio of 19.8 percent (2008: 25.3 percent).

Dividend payment
Pursuant to the proposal of the executive Board and the Supervisory Board, the Annual Shareholders' Meeting resolved on April 30, 2009 to 
transfer €150 thousand to retained earnings, to appropriate €31,503 thousand for a dividend payout, and to carry forward €121,407 thousand 
from the 2008 net retained profits of €153,060 thousand reported by Software AG, the controlling Group company. this corresponded to a 
dividend of €1.10 per share.

the executive Board and the Supervisory Board will propose to the Annual Shareholders' Meeting to distribute the net retained profits of €321,719 
thousand for 2009 of Software AG, the controlling Group company, as follows: to transfer €104 thousand to other retained earnings, to use 
€32,555 thousand for the payment of dividends—corresponding to a dividend of €1.15 per share—and to carry forward €289,060 thousand.

other reserves
Other reserves changed as follows, taking into account tax effects: 

Of the unrealized income and expense from the fair value measurement of derivatives recorded in other reserves as of December 31, 2008, a 
net expense of €3,453 thousand (2008: net income of €65 thousand) was recognized in profit or loss in fiscal year 2009.

Of the unrealized income and expense arising from translating net investments in foreign operations recorded in other reserves as of December 
31, 2008, a net gain of €34,852 thousand was recognized in profit or loss for fiscal year 2009 (for more information, see Notes 10 and 11).

oTher DiscLosures

30_ noTes To The sTaTeMenT oF cash FLows
Cash funds amounting to €218,141 thousand (2008: €96,925 thousand) comprise both cash and cash equivalents. 

Net payments for acquisitions amounted to €320,360 thousand in 2009 and resulted from €449,970 thousand in consideration paid less 
€129,610 thousand in cash and cash equivalents received.

Software AG defines free cash flow as cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing activities, not including net cash out-
flows for acquisitions. Accordingly, free cash flow amounted to €188,354 thousand (2008: €133,445 thousand).

31_ seGMenT rePorTinG
the segment report is prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments.” Segmentation is in accordance with internal control and report-
ing lines in the Group (management approach).
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geOgraPhIC DIStrIButION OF reVeNueS 

in € thousands 

Licenses

Maintenance

Professional Services

Other

total

 

germany uSa Spain Other countries group total

2009

40,859

38,400

62,726

1,098

143,083

2009

66,085

106,088

29,058

19

201,250

2009

5,842

16,780

56,766

1,879

81,267

2009

157,076

149,336

113,906

1,458

421,776

2009

269,862

310,604

262,456

4,454

847,376

2008

32,113

30,783

17,517

864

81,277

 

2008

75,446

94,665

35,348

283

205,742

 

2008

5,041

15,665

56,153

2,116

78,975

 

2008

159,428

125,946

68,745

497

354,616

 

2008

272,028

267,059

177,763

3,760

720,610

 

SegMeNt rePOrt aS OF DeCeMBer 31, 2009
(January 1 to December 31, 2009 and January 1 to December 31, 2008)
 IFrS 

in € thousands 

 

Licenses

Maintenance

Product sales

Professional Services

Other

total revenue

cost of sales

gross profit

Sales, marketing and distribution expenses

Business line contribution

research and development expenses

General and administrative expenses

Other operating income/expenses, net

earnings before interest and taxes

Net financial income/expense

earnings before taxes

taxes

Net income for the year

 

etS reconciliation total

2009

139,816

187,871

327,687

67,577

785

396,049

– 81,729

314,320

– 70,670

243,650

2009

0

0

0

0

0

0

– 18,865

– 18,865

– 8,906

– 27,771

2009

269,862

310,604

580,466

262,456

4,454

847,376

– 300,300

547,076

– 192,396

354,680

– 82,166

– 70,683

16,330

218,161

– 8,885

209,276

– 68,481

140,795

2008

156,776

173,805

330,581

72,777

1,549

404,907

– 83,229

321,678

– 75,941

245,737

 

2008

0

0

– 6,859

– 6,859

– 7,624

– 14,483

 

2008

272,028

267,059

539,087

177,763

3,760

720,610

– 205,119

515,491

–177,119

338,372

– 76,224

– 65,083

– 16,517

180,548

– 5,122

175,426

– 59,566

115,860

 

webMethods enterprise Process 

Innovation

2009

110,184

109,708

219,892

101,783

3,189

324,864

– 116,407

208,457

– 90,465

117,992

2009

19,862

13,025

32,887

93,096

480

126,463

– 83,299

43,164

– 22,355

20,809

2008

115,252

93,254

208,506

104,986

2,211

315,703

– 115,031

200,672

– 93,554

107,118

 

2008

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

 

in € thousands

USa

Other countries

Germany

group total

 

2009

448,210

151,192

392,423

991,825

2008

479,490

136,495

31,067

647,052

 

Countries included in “other countries” are presented separately once the revenue generated in the country in question reaches a significant 
level. Revenues with external customers in the u.S. (and Spain in the previous year) contributed more than 10 percent to Group revenue and are 
therefore listed separately.

non-current assets
the non-current assets are comprised of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, financial assets (not including financial instruments), 
and goodwill. 

the business line contribution does not include the amortization expense associated with acquisitions of intangible assets. these charges 
are therefore shown separately under “reconciliation.” this presentation corresponds with internal control and reporting lines (management 
approach).

information on geographic regions
Revenues by location of customers can be broken down into geographic regions as follows:
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in € thousands 

 

FINaNCIaL aSSetS

Financial assets *

cash and cash equivalents

trade receivables and other receivables

Other non-derivative financial assets

Derivatives

Derivatives without qualifying hedging relationship

Derivatives with qualifying hedging relationship (cash flow hedge)

 

FINaNCIaL LIaBILItIeS

Financial liabilities *

Liabilities to banks and other financial liabilities

trade payables

Other non-derivative financial liabilities

Derivatives

Derivatives without qualifying hedging relationship

Derivatives with qualifying hedging relationship (cash flow hedge)

 

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Fair value 

218,141

301,173

5,424

5,009

22,532

490,015

62,291

72,564

1,630

45

 

Fair value 

96,925

230,602

6,259

3

8,705

167,392

35,892

69,066

1,596

2,904

Fair value 

81,294

197,294

8,120

623

14,924

214,260

31,364

64,518

65

316

Carrying 

amount

218,141

301,173

5,424

5,009

22,532

489,926

62,291

72,564

1,630

45 

 

Carrying 

amount

96,925

230,602

6,259

3

8,705

167,201

35,892

69,066

1,596

2,904

Carrying 

amount

81,294

197,294

8,101

623

14,924

214,300

31,364

64,518

65

316

32_ aDDiTionaL inForMaTion on FinanciaL insTruMenTs anD risK ManaGeMenT
the table below shows the carrying amounts and the fair values of loans and receivables, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, and 
derivatives, with derivatives with and without hedging relationships shown separately.

the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, current receivables, trade payables, other current financial liabilities, and other financial liabilities 
correspond approximately with their carrying amounts, primarily due to the short terms of such instruments.

the Company uses various parameters to measure non-current receivables, mainly interest rates and the customers' individual credit rating. 
Software AG calculates bad debt allowances to reflect expected defaults based on the measurement results.

Accordingly, the carrying amounts of these receivables corresponded approximately with their fair values as of December 31, 2009 and 
December 31, 2008.

the fair values of exchange-listed securities were based on their quoted prices as of the reporting date.

Software AG calculates the fair values of liabilities to banks and other financial liabilities as well as other non-current financial liabilities by dis-
counting the estimated future cash flows using the interest rates applicable to similar financial liabilities with comparable maturities. 

With the exception of the aforementioned derivatives, no financial assets or liabilities were measured at fair value through profit or loss in the 
reporting period. there were also no financial assets classified as available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments.

Apart from currency translation effects, only the bad debt allowances described in Note 11 had a significant influence on the net gain/loss from 
loans and receivables. the net gain from derivatives without qualifying hedging relationships amounted to €247 thousand in fiscal 2009. the 
net gain from derivatives designated as cash flow hedges was included in the income statement and amounted to €4,918 thousand in 2009.

Market risk and the use of derivative financial instruments
As a result of its international operating activities as well as its investing and financing activities, Software AG is exposed to various financial 
risks. Management continuously monitors these risks. Derivative financial instruments are used in accordance with internal guidelines in order 
to reduce risks arising from changes in interest rates, exchange rates, cash flows, or the value of cash investments. Derivatives are generally 
entered into to hedge existing balance sheet exposure and highly probable forecast transactions.

* measured at cost or amortized cost.
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a) Interest rate risk
the Company is subject to interest rate fluctuations that affect both assets and equity and liabilities on the balance sheet.

On the assets side, income from investing cash and cash equivalents and future interest income resulting from discounting non-current re-
ceivables are particularly subject to interest rate risk. On the equity and liabilities side, interest expenses for current and non-current financial 
liabilities as well as pension provisions and other items related to long-term borrowings are especially exposed to interest rate risk.

this risk is reduced due to the fact that both cash investments and existing financing carry variable interest rates for the most part. Moreover, 
interest rate swaps are used to hedge a part of the borrowings bearing variable interest rates against changes in market interest rates.

the sensitivity analysis required by IFRS 7 relates to interest rate risk arising from monetary financial instruments bearing variable interest rates.

Based on the current structure of the interest-bearing financial instruments, a hypothetical increase in the market interest level of 100 basis 
points would reduce earnings by €625 thousand.

b) exchange rate risk
In order to hedge the risk of future fluctuations in exchange rates, the Company enters into cross-currency swaps, currency forwards and 
currency option transactions. In addition to simple euro call options, combinations of euro call options purchased and euro put options sold are 
also utilized. the premium payments generally offset each other. Foreign currency receivables and liabilities are offset if possible, and only the 
remaining net exposure is hedged. estimated cash flows are also hedged in accordance with internal guidelines.

hedging transactions are measured at their fair value. the amounts are reported in the balance sheet under other assets or current liabilities.  
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges are reported under other reserves until the hedged 
item is required to be recognized in income. the ineffective portions of cash flow hedges as well as changes in the value of hedging instruments 
that do not meet the requirements of hedge accounting are recognized immediately in profit or loss for the year in which they are incurred.

the sensitivity analysis required by IFRS 7 relates to exchange rate risk arising from monetary financial instruments that are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. exchange differences arising from the translation of financial statements 
into the Group currency (translation risk) and non-monetary items are not taken into account. Most significant monetary financial instruments 
are denominated in the functional currency. For Software AG, significant effects on earnings result only from the relationship of the euro to the 
u.S. dollar. hedging transactions are based on existing hedges or estimated cash flows and thus reduce any potential effects on earnings. In the 
case of designated cash flow hedges, exchange rate changes affect other reserves included in equity.

Based on the monetary financial instruments available as of the reporting date, a devaluation of the euro in amount of 10 percent against the 
u.S. dollar would have reduced earnings by €1,175 thousand and other reserves by €416 thousand. this amount only represents a theoretical 
risk for us as these instruments are hedges of recognized transactions, rather than open trading positions. 

c) Market risk
In line with Group policy, assets are controlled in terms of maturity, interest type, and rating such that the Company does not expect any 
significant fluctuations in value.

d) Credit risk
Software AG is exposed to default risk in its operating business and in connection with certain financial transactions if contracting parties fail to 
meet their obligations. All cash investments have terms of up to three months. Both cash investments as well as derivative financial instruments 
are entered into with banks having good credit ratings. the theoretical maximum default risk exposure is indicated by the carrying amounts. the 
guidelines defined by the management ensure that the credit risk from financial instruments is spread across various banks.

In the operating business, our receivables are continuously monitored and default risk is taken into account via specific and portfolio-based bad 
debt allowances. As of December 31, 2009, there was no indication of the existence of any risk beyond that taken into account through bad debt 
allowances. We see no concentration of credit risks with respect to single customers as a result of the size of our customer base or due to the distri-
bution of our revenues across various sectors and countries. the theoretical maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of 
the receivables, without taking any collateral into account.
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in € thousands 

 

Derivatives with positive fair value

Derivatives (without qualifying hedging relationship) 

 forward currency contracts 

 Stock options (phantom shares) 

 cross-currency swaps

Derivatives (cash flow hedges)

 forward currency contracts

 Stock options

Derivatives with negative fair value

Derivatives (without qualifying hedging relationship)

 forward currency contracts

 Stock options (phantom shares)

 Interest rate swaps

 cross-currency swaps

Derivatives (cash flow hedges)

 forward currency contracts

 Interest rate swaps

 

2009 2008

Fair value 

5,009

598

4,373

37

22,532

4

22,527

– 1,630

– 27

0

– 1,427

– 177

– 45

– 45

0

 

Fair value 

3

3

0

0

8,705

1,031

7,674

– 1,596

0

– 1,596

0

0

– 2,904

– 451

– 2,453

Nominal 

amount

–

8,101

9,103

408

–

694

79,596

–

1,834

–

103,471

1,299

–

3,471

–

 

Nominal 

amount

–

811

–

–

–

16,944

79,596

-

–

6,361

–

–

–

13,923

180,000

Carrying 

amount

5,009

598

4,373

37

22,532

4

22,527

– 1,630

– 27

0

– 1,427

– 177

– 45

– 45

0

 

Carrying 

amount 

3

3

0

0

8,705

1,031

7,674

– 1,596

0

– 1,596

0

0

– 2,904

– 451

– 2,453

in € thousands

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Liabilities to banks and other financial liabilities

 repayments

 Interest

trade payables

Other financial liabilities

finance lease liabilities

Other non-derivative liabilities

Derivative financial liabilities 

 

total

 

488,515

33,792

62,290

1,127

283

72,564

1,903

up to 1 year

197,308

13,724

62,030

1,031

177

71,497

1,839

1–5 years

286,845

19,722

260

96

106

1,067

64

> 5 years

4,362

346

0

0

0

0

0

e) liquidity risk
liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations arising from credit agreements, leases, trade payables,  
or the like. Risk is limited by pursuing active working capital management and Group-wide liquidity management and, if necessary, covered  
by available cash funds or bilateral credit lines. 

under credit agreements having a total volume of €399 million, the Company is required to limit net debt within the Group to a maximum of 
2.75-times eBItDA. As of year-end 2009, the net debt was well under this figure.

the table below shows the contractually agreed payments arising from recognized financial liabilities. the figures represent the undiscounted 
liabilities. In the case of variable interest payments, the interest rate applicable on the reporting date is used for the calculation. liabilities in 
foreign currency are measured at the exchange rate as of December 31, 2009.

volume and measurement of derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used only to hedge existing or estimated currency risk, interest rate risk, or other market risk.

the table below shows the notional amounts, the carrying amounts, and the fair values of derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2009  
and December 31, 2008. the fair values of forward currency contracts are determined on the basis of forward foreign exchange rates. the fair values 
of stock options used to hedge stock appreciation rights as well as the fair values of interest rate hedges are based on market values, which reflect 
the current market situation and are equivalent to the replacement costs as of the balance sheet date.
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in € thousands

Guarantees

Other

 

2009

0

1,368

1,368

2008

1,311

1,252

2,563

 

in € thousands

contractually agreed payments 

Estimated income from subleases

 

total

78,193

– 11,293

 

up to 1 year

20,624

– 1,444

1–5 years

46,869

– 7,511

> 5 years

10,700

– 2,338

in € thousands 

total revenue 

 in % of annual revenue

Earnings before taxes

 in % of net income for the year

 

 

2009

847,376

100

209,276

100

Q4 

2009

292,124 

34 

72,412

35

Q3 

2009

213,585

25

54,773

26

Q2 

2009

176,377 

21 

43,571 

21

Q1 

2009

165,290

20

38,520

18

the derivative financial instruments presented in the table above are designated to hedge the fair value of recognized assets or liabilities. Changes 
in the fair value of the hedging instruments are recognized in profit or loss. In addition, the Company has entered into cash flow hedges for 
forecast transactions. Changes in the fair value of such financial instruments are reported under other reserves. 

Forward currency contracts and currency option transactions are entered into for the purpose of hedging foreign exchange risks related to future 
cash flows.
 
the interest rate swaps hedge against interest rate risk arising from borrowings bearing variable interest rates. 

the stock options serve to hedge against future changes in the fair values of stock appreciation right commitments.

In order to hedge the risks arising from changes in value of the phantom share program, the Company has entered into hedging instruments on 
Software AG stock with banks. 

the financial instruments for hedging currency and interest rate risk have remaining maturities of less than one year. the stock options used for 
hedging the commitments from the third stock price-based remuneration plan fall due in 2012. the individual maturities correspond to the time 
periods over which the expected cash flows are likely to affect profit or loss.

cash investment policy
Software AG takes a very conservative approach with regard to its cash investments. the Company invests primarily in short-term time deposits 
and short-term fixed-income securities with a credit rating of at least “investment grade.” Software AG has introduced a monitoring process in 
order to monitor the creditworthiness of the banks with which we maintain relationships. Accordingly, the performance of the relevant credit 
default swaps (CDS) is monitored on a weekly basis. the interest rates for term deposit investments were between 0.05 and 2.0 percent p.a. in 
Germany and between 0.0 and 8.0 percent p.a. abroad in fiscal 2009.

33_ DiscLosures on Leases
the Group’s rental agreements and operating leases relate chiefly to office space, vehicles, and It equipment. lease payments under operating 
leases are recognized as an expense over the term of the lease.

34_ conTinGenT LiaBiLiTies
As of December 31, 2009, no provisions were recognized for the following contingent liabilities, expressed at nominal value, since it appeared 
unlikely that claims would be asserted:

35_ seasonaL inFLuences
Revenues and pre-tax earnings were distributed over fiscal year 2009 as follows: 

Due to the acquisition of IDS Scheer as described in Note 4, the revenue and earnings trend for 2009 does not have any great significance for 
predicting the trend in 2010.
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Balance as of Dec. 31, 2008

Granted

Exercised

forfeited/expired

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

thereof exercisable as of Dec. 31, 2009

 

aggregated 

intrinsic value 

(€ thousands)

 

 

1,391

406

weighted  

average  

remaining  

term  

(years)

2.6

1.9

weighted  

average  

exercise  

price per  

option  

(€)

22.09

23.57

Number  

of options 

outstanding 

 

 

77,707

–

69,568

448 

7,691

7,691

36_ LiTiGaTion
the two legal disputes reported on in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for fiscal 2008 (one vs. a former Brazilian distributor 
and one vs. a Canadian software firm) were both decided in favor of Software AG and resolved via settlement during the course of 2009.

No other reportable legal disputes (disputes of material significance) are pending.

37_ sTocK oPTion PLans
Software AG has various stock option plans for members of the executive Board, officers, and other Group employees. these involve equity-
settled plans and plans where the Company has the choice of settling either in cash or by providing equity instruments. 

the total expense for share-based payment transactions amounted to €11,437 thousand in fiscal 2009 (2008: €9,146 thousand). this includes 
income of €5,587 thousand (2008: expense of €1,791 thousand) from hedging the commitments from the Management Incentive Plan 2007.

expenses for stock options accounted for as equity-settled plans pursuant to IFRS 2 amounted to €2,280 thousand in fiscal 2009  
(2008: €2,368 thousand). 

No expenses for share-based payment transactions were capitalized as inventories or non-current assets.

Management incentive Plan ii (MiP ii)
the Management Incentive Plan II is a stock option plan for executive Board members and officers that was launched in the second quarter 
of 2001.

the subscription price per share upon exercise of the options corresponds to the average price in the XetRA closing auction on the Frankfurt 
Stock exchange over the last five trading days prior to the date of the offer to grant the subscription rights.

In order for the options to be exercised, the following two conditions must be met:

1.)  In the fiscal year preceding exercise of the options, the Group's revenue must have increased by at least 10 percent over the previous year.

2.)  the Group's profit from ordinary activities must be equivalent to at least 10 percent of the revenue in the fiscal year prior to exercise of 
the option.

the Management Incentive Plan has a term of seven years for each individual tranche. Options may be exercised and acquired shares may be 
sold no earlier than 24 months after the start of the respective term. this restriction applies separately to each tranche. Options may only be 
exercised on a quarterly basis within a defined period of time after publication of the annual results or the quarterly results.

the stock option plan led to personnel expenses of €73 thousand in fiscal year 2009 (2008: €120 thousand). this amount was transferred to 
the capital reserve. 

the options granted under the Management Incentive Plan II (MIP II) changed as follows in fiscal 2009:
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Expected average term until exercise of the options (in years)

risk-free interest rate

assumed volatility 

Share price on December 31, 2009

Expected dividend yield

 

   2.4

2.11 %

42 %

€76.40

1.75 %

the exercise prices of the options outstanding as of December 31, 2009 range between €23.89 and €26.47. the average share price for the options 
exercised during 2009 at the date of exercise amounted to €53.12.

Management incentive Plan 2007 (MiP iii)
In the third quarter of 2007, a share-based incentive plan for members of the executive Board and officers was launched. to date, 2,230,500 
participation rights have been issued to executive Board members and officers under the plan, 2,049,000 of that amount in 2007.

upon achievement of certain performance targets, participants are entitled to payment of the difference between the price of Software AG 
shares and the strike price of €72.36 by June 30, 2016. however, the Company is entitled to elect to issue shares in lieu of a cash payment at 
its discretion. the defined performance target involves reaching the €1,000,000 thousand mark for Group revenues by no later than fiscal year 
2011, while at the same time doubling after-tax earnings compared to fiscal year 2006. 

In order to hedge the cash flow risks from the MIP III, Software AG purchased 1,100,000 stock options, which were designated as cash flow 
hedges as part of a hedging relationship. As a result of this hedge, 1,100,000 of the participation rights are accounted for as cash-settled share-
based payment transactions in accordance with IFRS 2. Accordingly, Software AG recognizes a provision on a pro rata temporis basis based on 
the fair values of the rights granted as of the grant date. 

the fair value of these participation rights was determined on the basis of the Black-Scholes option pricing model and corresponds to the market 
value of the purchased stock options as of the grant date. the fair value, which was calculated on the basis of the following parameters, 
amounted to €20.48 per right as of December 31, 2009.

the valuation was based on the following parameters:

the calculation of the average term until exercise of the options was based on experience with previously exercised options. this calculation 
took into account the previous average holding periods of the employee options as well as expected future share price performance. 

the assumed volatility is based on the average expected volatility of various independent financial institutions.

the resulting personnel expenses are amortized over the period of service and amounted to €8,812 thousand in fiscal year 2009 (2008: €971 
thousand). In addition, income of €5,587 thousand was generated from hedging the rights granted in fiscal year 2009 (2008: expense of €1,791 
thousand). 

the liability for the participation rights, which are accounted for as cash-settled share-based payments, amounted to €10,874 thousand  
(2008: €2,062 thousand) as of December 31, 2009.

the amount of the personnel expenses for non-vested rights not yet recognized in profit or loss depends on the rights' intrinsic value as of the 
exercise date and, therefore, cannot be forecasted. the final amount of payment is expected to be recognized in profit or loss over the next  
2.4 years. the unrealized price losses of the stock options will be recognized over the same period.

If the exercise behavior and the actual term prove to be in line with current assumptions, the accumulated personnel expenses will be limited 
to the purchase price of the hedge (€14.6 million). 

the remaining 781,854 participation rights are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions. the fair value was determined 
as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. the weighted average of the fair values of the rights granted during the re-
porting period amounted to €11.25 as of the grant date (2008: €6.12). the valuation of the rights allocated in 2009 was based on the following 
parameters:
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Balance as of Dec. 31, 2008

Granted

Exercised

forfeited/expired

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2009

thereof exercisable as of Dec. 31, 2009

 

aggregated 

intrinsic value 

(€ thousands) 

 

 

0

7,603

weighted  

average  

remaining  

term  

(years)  

7.5

6.5

weighted  

average  

exercise price  

per right  

(€)

72.36

72.36

Number  

of rights  

outstanding 

 

 

1,919,000

204,000

–

241,146 

1,881,854

0

Expected average term until exercise of the options (in years)

risk-free interest rate

assumed volatility

Expected dividend yield

weighted average share price upon exercise

 

         3.2

2.2 %

50 %

2.2 %

€50.95 

the calculation of the average term until exercise of the options was based on experience with previously exercised options. this calculation 
took into account the previous average holding periods of the employee options as well as expected future share price performance. 

the assumed volatility is based on the average market expectations. 

No additional parameters were used for the calculation of fair value other than the market conditions described above.

In fiscal 2009, the personnel expenses resulting from these 781,854 participation rights, taking into account the expected staff turnover, amounted 
to €2,207 thousand (2008: €2,248 thousand). this amount was transferred to the capital reserve.

the options granted under the Management Incentive Plan 2007 (MIP III) changed as follows in fiscal year 2009: 

Performance phantom share plan
A portion of the variable remuneration for executive Board members is paid out as a medium-term component on the basis of a phantom share 
plan. As in the previous year, the portion accruing for fiscal year 2009 will be converted into virtual (phantom) shares on the basis of the 
average share price of Software AG stock in February 2010, less 10 percent. the resulting number of shares will become due in three identical 
tranches with terms of one, two, and three years. On the due dates in March 2010 to 2012, the number of phantom shares will be multiplied 
by the then-applicable share price for February. this amount will be adjusted to reflect the amount (measured in percent) by which the shares 
outperform or underperform the tecDAX index and then paid to the members of the executive Board. the members of the executive Board will 
receive an amount per phantom share equal to the dividends paid to Software AG shareholders prior to payment of a phantom share tranche.

For the phantom shares due in 2010, executive Board members may elect to extend the shares due for a period of six years, rather than receiving 
a payment. During the extension period, Board members have the opportunity four times per year (each time the Company's financial results 
are announced) to demand payment of extended shares. the number of phantom shares is adjusted over the extended term by the amount 
(measured in percent) by which Software AG shares outperform or underperform the tecDAX index. the adjustment for this out- or underperform-
ance is limited to 50 percent. 

At the time of payment, the number of shares is multiplied by the average price of Software AG stock on the sixth to tenth trading day after 
publication of the financial results. the members of the executive Board receive an amount per phantom share equal to the dividends paid to 
Software AG shareholders prior to payment of the phantom shares.

this plan led to personnel expenses of €5,932 thousand in fiscal year 2009 (2008: €3,995 thousand). 

the provision for the rights outstanding under the phantom share plan amounted to €12,902 thousand (2008: €6,814 thousand) as of  
December 31, 2009.

the intrinsic value of the rights exercisable under the phantom share plan amounted to €2,231 thousand as of December 31, 2009  
(2008: €0 thousand).
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38_ corPoraTe BoDies
Members of the supervisory Board:

Frank F. Beelitz
Chairman (until April 30, 2009)
Independent investment banker (Beelitz & Cie., Frankfurt/Main)
Resident of: Bad homburg v.d.h
Supervisory Board seats:
  Member of the Supervisory Board of Südwestbank AG, Stuttgart 
  Member of the Supervisory Board of IvG Immobilien AG, Bonn 

willi Berchtold
Graduate in economics
Chief Financial Officer, Controlling and Informatics at ZF Friedrichshafen AG
Resident of: Überlingen
Supervisory Board seats:: 
  Member of the Supervisory Board of lufthansa Systems AG, Kelsterbach
  Chairman of the Supervisory Board of ZF Böge elastmetall Gmbh, Bonn
  Member of the Supervisory Board of ZF Sachs AG, Schweinfurt
  Member of the Supervisory Board of ZF lemförder Gmbh, lemförde
  Member of the Supervisory Board of ZF Passau Gmbh, Passau
   Member of the Supervisory Board of ZF Getriebe Gmbh, Saarbrücken
   Member of the Supervisory Board of ZF lenksysteme Gmbh, Schwäbisch Gmünd
  Member of the Supervisory Board of SupplyOn AG, hallbergmoos (since June 19, 2009)
  Member of the Supervisory Board of Bundesdruckerei Gmbh, Berlin (since July 17, 2009)
  Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Bundesdruckerei Gmbh, Berlin (since December 14, 2009)

 
Dr. andreas Bereczky
Deputy Chairman (until April 30, 2009)
Chairman (since April 30, 2009)
Director of Production of ZDF, Mainz 
Resident of: eschweiler
Supervisory Board seats:
  Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Alfabet AG, Berlin 

 
rainer Burckhardt
employee representative
employee of SAG Deutschland Gmbh
Chairman of the Works Council at the Darmstadt location
Resident of: Darmstadt
Supervisory Board seats:
  none

heinz otto Geidt
Graduate in business administration
Member (since April 30, 2009)
Director of Asset Management at Software AG Foundation
Resident of: Kelkheim/ts.
Supervisory Board seats:
  Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Bingenheimer Saatgut AG, echzell
  Chairman of the Advisory Board of AMC Advanced Medical Communication holding Gmbh, hamburg
  Member of the Advisory Board of Birken Gmbh, Niefern-Öschelbronn

Monika neumann
employee representative
employee of SAG Deutschland Gmbh 
Chairwoman of the General Works Council
Resident of: Schliersee
Supervisory Board seats:
  none
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alf henryk wulf
Graduate in engineering
Deputy Chairman (since April 30, 2009)
Chairman of the Management Board of Alcatel-lucent Deutschland AG, Stuttgart
Resident of: Stuttgart
Supervisory Board seats:
  Member of the Supervisory Board of Alcatel-lucent Network Services Gmbh, Düsseldorf

Members of the executive Board:

Karl-heinz streibich
Graduate in communications engineering 
Chief executive Officer
Strategic Marketing, human Resources, Internal Audit/Processes & Quality, legal Affairs, Corporate Communication
Resident of: Radolfzell

David Broadbent
Businessman
Member of the executive Board
Chief Operating Officer
Region east (Asia/Pacific, Nordic, Central europe, South Africa)
Resident of: Frilsham, hermitage/thatcham, Berkshire, uK

Mark edwards
Businessman 
Member of the executive Board
Chief Operating Officer
Region West (North America, latin America, Northern, Western and Southern europe)
Resident of: Ascot, Berkshire, uK

holger Friedrich
It specialist 
Member of the executive Board (until March 13, 2009) 
Global Professional Services
Resident of: Berlin

Dr. Peter Kürpick
Physicist 
Member of the executive Board,
Chief Product Officer
Resident of: Darmstadt

ivo Totev
Graduate in electrical engineering 
Member of the executive Board (since March 13, 2009) 
Chief Services Officer
Global Consulting Services
Resident of: Giessen

arnd Zinnhardt
Graduate in business administration 
Member of the executive Board
Chief Financial Officer
Finance, treasury, Controlling, Business Operations, taxes, Global Procurement, M&A, Investor Relations, Global It,  
Support and Administration
Resident of: Kelkheim/ts.
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total remuneration for the executive Board members in fiscal 2009 amounted to €14,794 thousand (2008: €9,066 thousand). 

the comparative amounts of the previous year were adjusted based on the amendment to section 4.25 of the Corporate Governance Code.

In fiscal 2009, 150,000 stock option rights were granted to one executive Board member from the Management Incentive Plan III (MIP III) 
(2008:150,000), and 150,000 stock option rights were cancelled (2008: 125,000). the stock option rights granted had a fair value as of the grant 
date of €11.00 per right (2008: €6.22).

the executive Board members received a total of 50,728 phantom shares under the phantom share plan (2008: 71,962). the phantom shares 
granted had a fair value as of the grant date of €83.08 per phantom share (2008: €49.82).

Remuneration for former executive Board members totaled €190 thousand (2008: €291 thousand). 

Pension provisions for former executive Board members amounted to €2,143 thousand (2008: €1,765 thousand). 

Software AG did not grant any advances or loans to executive Board members in fiscal 2009 or in fiscal 2008.

Detailed disclosures on the remuneration paid to executive Board members are made in the Remuneration Report of the Corporate Governance 
Report, which forms part of the Management Report.

supervisory Board remuneration
total remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board amounted to €285 thousand in the year under review (2008: €519 thousand). 

Software AG did not grant any advances or loans to Supervisory Board members in fiscal 2009 or in fiscal 2008.

Detailed disclosures on the remuneration paid to Supervisory Board members are made in the Remuneration Report of the Corporate Gover-
nance Report, which forms part of the Management Report.

39_ reLaTeD ParTy TransacTions
Software AG Foundation provided Software AG with funds in the amount of €45 million to finance the IDS Scheer acquisition. the funding was 
made available in the form of a subordinated promissory note loan from a special fund (Spezialfonds) in which Software AG Foundation has  
a 100-percent stake. the interest rate on the promissory note loan is in line with market rates. the promissory note loan is a bullet loan with  
a term running until August 2013. 

Software AG Foundation holds 29.0 percent of the Software AG shares in issue. 

40_ auDiTors' Fees
General and administrative expenses include expenses for auditors' fees for BDO Deutsche Warentreuhand AG, the Group auditor, totaling 
€1,039 thousand (2008: €384 thousand). Of this amount, €938 thousand relates to the audit of the domestic entities' and the Group's financial 
statements (2008: €286 thousand), €27 thousand to tax advisory services (2008: €8 thousand), and €74 thousand to other audit services  
(2008: €90 thousand).

41_ evenTs aFTer The BaLance sheeT DaTe
In February 2010, a software company in virginia, uSA sued Software AG uSA Inc. together with Software AG and 11 additional defendants, 
including IBM and SAP, for infringement of several of its software patents. the lawsuit was filed with a court in virginia. the proceedings are still 
in a very early stage. No date for the main proceedings has been set.

On February 11, 2010, the control and profit transfer agreement concluded on November 24, 2009 between SAG Beteiligungs Gmbh and IDS 
Scheer AG was entered in the commercial register of the district court of Saarbrücken, upon which it became legally enforceable. the two com-
panies are now under uniform management. Software AG now holds approximately 91 percent of the shares in IDS Scheer. As announced on 
February 4, 2010, Software AG plans to merge the two companies. the merger will entail the remaining minority shareholders receiving shares 
in Software AG in exchange for their shares in IDS Scheer AG. to this end, Software AG will buy back up to 400,000 Company shares via the 
stock exchange. Software AG expects to complete the takeover in full by the end of 2010. 
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42_ sTaTeMenT on corPoraTe Governance
the Company submitted its Statement on Corporate Governance on February 26, 2010. It will be published in March 2010 on our homepage at 
http://www.softwareag.com/de/ir/corpgovernance/default.asp.

this statement includes the declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code pursuant to section 161 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG), which was issued separately and published on our homepage at http://www.softwareag.com/de/ir/corpgovernance/default.
asp on December 17, 2009.

43_ exeMPTion For DoMesTic GrouP coMPanies PursuanT To secTion 264 (3) oF The GerMan coMMerciaL coDe (hGB)
With the approval of the relevant shareholders' meetings, SAG Deutschland Gmbh, Darmstadt; SAG east Gmbh - A Software Company, Darmstadt; 
SAG Consulting Services Gmbh, Darmstadt; and Software Financial holding Gmbh, Darmstadt, which are included in the consolidated financial  
statements of Software AG, have been exempted from the duty to prepare and publish annual financial statements, and from the duty to have 
them audited, in compliance with provisions applicable to corporations in accordance with section 264 (3) of the German Commercial Code.

Date and authorization for issue
Software AG's executive Board approved the consolidated financial statements on February 26, 2010. 

Darmstadt, February 26, 2010

Software AG

K.-h. Streibich D. Broadbent

M. edwards Dr. P. Kürpick

I. totev A. Zinnhardt
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responsibility statement
to the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group, and the Group Management Report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks 
associated with the expected development of the Group.

Darmstadt, February 26, 2010

Software AG

......................................   ......................................
K.-h. Streibich    D. Broadbent

......................................   ......................................
M. edwards    Dr. P. Kürpick

......................................    ...................................... 
I. totev     A. Zinnhardt
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auditors´ report
We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Software Aktiengesellschaft, Darmstadt, comprising the income statement, 
the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of cash flows, the statement of changes in equity and the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements together with the group management report for the business year from January 1, 2009 to December 
31, 2009. the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the eu and the additional requirements of the German commercial law pursuant to sec. 315a para 1 hGB are the responsibility of the parent 
company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the group management based 
on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with sec. 317 hGB and German generally accepted standards 
for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and 
in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal 
environment of the group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. the 
effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. the audit includes assessing 
the annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the 
accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the eu and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to sec. 315a para 1 hGB. the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the group in accordance with these requirements. the group management report is 
consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the group’s position and suitably presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development.

Frankfurt am Main, February 28, 2010

BDO Deutsche Warentreuhand
Aktiengesellschaft

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

 gez. Schulz gez. Sartori
 Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüferin
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